
Children, Young People & Education 
Committee
Date: Thursday, 11 March 2021
Time: 6.00 p.m.

Venue: Microsoft Teams

Contact Officer: Dan Sharples
e-mail: danielsharples@wirral.gov.uk
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

2. APOLOGIES 

3. MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 

4. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held 28 
January 2021. 

5. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

5a. Public Questions

Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 noon, 
Monday 8 March 2021 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt with in accordance 
with Standing Order 10

5b. Statements and Petitions

Public Document Pack



Statements
Notice of representations to be given in writing or by email by 12 noon, 
Monday 8 March 2021 to the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
(committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt with in accordance 
with Standing Order 11. 

Petitions
Petitions may be presented to the Committee. The person presenting 
the petition will be allowed to address the meeting briefly (not 
exceeding one minute) to outline the aims of the petition. The Chair will 
refer the matter to another appropriate body of the Council within 
whose terms of reference it falls without discussion, unless a relevant 
item appears elsewhere on the Agenda. Please give notice of petitions 
to committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk in advance of the meeting.

5c.Member Questions

Questions by Members to dealt with in accordance with Standing 
Orders 12.3 to 12.8.

SECTION A - DECISIONS

6. WSCP SAFER ADOLESCENCE STRATEGY (Pages 11 - 48)

7. WIRRAL PUPIL PLACE PLANNING STRATEGY 2021-2026 (Pages 
49 - 84)

8. EARLY YEARS SUFFICIENCY AND COVID19 RESPONSE (Pages 
85 - 124)

9. TRANSFORMING CARE THERAPEUTIC SHORT BREAKS (Pages 
125 - 132)

SECTION B - BUDGET REPORTS

10. REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING QUARTER 3 (Pages 133 - 142)

SECTION C - REVIEWS/ REPORTS FOR INFORMATION

11. WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 143 - 150)

12. APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE INDEPENDENT SCHOOL 
APPEAL PANEL (Pages 151 - 158)



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE & EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE

Thursday, 28 January 2021
6:00pm

Present: Councillor W Clements (Chair)

Councillors K Cannon
C Carubia
M McLaughlin
Cherry Povall
J Robinson

S Spoor
P Stuart
T Usher
A Wright

21 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

The Chair welcomed Members of the Children’s, Young People and 
Education Committee, Officers and viewing members of the public to the 
online, virtual meeting.

22 APOLOGIES 

A roll call of Councillors was undertaken by the Head of Legal Services. No 
apologies for absence were received. 

23 MEMBERS CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

Members were asked to consider whether they had any disclosable pecuniary 
interests in connection with any item(s) on the agenda and, if so, declare and 
state what they were.

The following declarations were made:

Councillor Sarah Spoor Personal interest by virtue of her 
parent representative on PCPW, a 
parent support group and her 
employment in a Liverpool City 
Region school.

Councillor Moira McLaughlin Personal interest in respect of item 
13 , working group update: The 
provision of food and activities 
during the covid 19 pandemic by 
virtue of her role as a Trustee of the 
charity ‘ Feeding Birkenhead’

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Councillor Jean Robinson Personal interest by virtue of her role 
in ‘ Early Years’

24 MINUTES FROM THE PREVIOUS COMMITTEE 

A minor amendment was proposed to the minutes with regards to the 
incorrect Christian name of one Councillor being mentioned.

Resolved – That the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 1 
December 2021 be agreed subject to a minor amendment.

25 PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

A question received in advance of the meeting was read out and responded to 
as follows. 

Q: My son has autism and along with most children on the Borough are at 
home due to the national lockdown. His school have set the children work to 
be done online which is great but my son with having autism finds this very 
difficult and causes him great anxiety. I have spoken with the school and they 
said this is all they will be doing there is no alternative to online lessons.
 
I find this an indirect discrimination on the grounds of accessibility. What 
would my council propose as a solution as my son who is 15 is missing vital 
education and will possibly fail some of his exams next year if this continues?

A: Members of the committee share your concern about the impact of COVID-
19 on your sons education. We are very well aware that your concerns are 
shared by many parents, carers  and young people not just in Wirral but 
 across this country particularly in relation to children with additional 

learning needs.

To minimise the impact of missed education it is absolutely vital that every 
member of our community complies with the lockdown rules so that we can 
reduce the spread of the virus as soon as possible. This will enable all 
our children and young people to go back to school and provide them and our 
teachers with the opportunity to make up for lost time and return to some form 
of normality.  During this crisis we have seen countless examples of the 
excellent work in our schools to minimise the impact COVID-19 including for 
children with additional learning needs to keep children and young people 
engaged in learning. We have seen some of the highest attendance rates and 
lowest self-isolation rates in the region. We have seen how the infection 
control measures in our schools have kept school based outbreaks to the 

absolute minimum.  The new variant of the COVID-19 has brought 
additional challenges but all the evidence suggests that schools are safer 

Page 2



places for children, young people and school based staff than the wider 
community. Remote learning is being provided as is face to face learning for 
a larger number of children and young people than in the first lockdown. 

However, none of this compensates for the loss of learning in school. This is 
why as a council we will continue to do all we can to drive down the infection 
rates in our borough and work with schools in every way we can to keep them 
safe, and to provide support to help with the catch up on lost learning.

26 ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS FOR COMMUNITY AND VOLUNTARY 
CONTROLLED PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOLS AND THE CO-
ORDINATED ADMISSION SCHEMES FOR 2022-2023 

A report by the Director of Children, Families and Education invited the 
Children, Young People and Education Committee to determine the 
Authority’s admission arrangements for community and voluntary controlled 
primary and secondary schools and the co-ordinated schemes for 2022-2021. 
Members were informed how this is a statutory requirement. 

The report informed Members that some amendments had been made to the 
existing co-ordinated scheme in order to take into account Department for 
Education guidance issues July 2020, “ Coronavirus (COVID-19); assessment 
processes for selective school admissions”. Members were advised that the 
amendments included expanding the number of preferences from three to 
five.

Members heard how the changes to the scheme were consulted upon with 
the four non – Catholic selective schools, all other local schools, neighbouring 
authorities and the Diocesan bodies under paragraph 1.44 of the School 
Admissions Code, and submitted as per the DfE guidance of the Office of the 
Schools Adjudicator ( OSA), although the variations proposed did not require 
formal OSA approval. 

In response to questions by Members, the Committee heard how prospective 
parents had partaken in virtual tours of schools and there hadn’t  been a 
significant difference in rates of applications in light of the current Covid 19 
global pandemic. 

Members then heard how last year 96.5% of primary applicants got their first 
or second preference whilst 96% of secondary applicants got their first or 
second preference. 

On a motion by Councillor W Clements and seconded by Councillor T Usher it 
was:

Page 3



Resolved - That the proposed admission arrangements for community 
and voluntary controlled schools and the Wirral co-ordinated schemes 
for 2022-2023 as set out in the appendices to the report be approved.

27 SECTION B  - BUDGET REPORTS 

28 BUDGET CONSULTATION 

Vicki Shaw, Head of Legal Services, reminded the Committee that due to the 
current governance arrangements having only been in place since October 
2020, there had been insufficient time to enable the usual full budget 
consultation process, and therefore the complete public consultation response 
nor the final Local Government finance settlement figure were yet available. 
However, the item before the Committee was its opportunity to make public 
comments on the budget proposals, and those comments would be referred 
to the Policy and Resources Committee, who would then recommend a final 
budget proposal to Council.

Paul Boyce OBE, Director for Children, Families and Education then 
introduced the report, which formed part of the budget setting process and 
included two savings proposals in appendix 1 for consideration. It was 
reported that the options were arrived at following a review of all council 
statutory and discretionary services to support children and young people in 
the borough, and had been put out to public consultation in the context of the 
significant budget reductions the council was facing.

Members discussed the £200,000 potential saving in youth provision and 
noted that there had been public interest in this proposal, particularly in 
relation to The Hive, and queried whether the proposal was a reduction on 
any previously committed funding. It was confirmed that Wirral Council had 
provided 3 non-contractual grants of £400,000 per year to The Hive up to 
2019/20, in order to give the provider an opportunity to increase income 
streams with a view to becoming self-sustainable. A further £400,000 grant 
had been agreed for the 2020/21 financial year to continue to support The 
Hive in its efforts to become self-sustainable. Paul Boyce confirmed that the 
figure of £200,000 within the report had been derived from a service-wide 
review of youth services funding, and that given the current situation and 
overall youth provision budget, it was felt that The Hive was the most logical 
place for the £200,000 savings to be taken from. It was confirmed that there 
had been no prior commitment to funding for The Hive in the 2021/22 budget.

The Committee further discussed the overall allocation of funding for youth 
services across the borough and noted that the proposed allocation of funding 
to The Hive was still greater than all of the three Council providers. It was 
queried whether a Service Level Agreement had been agreed with The Hive 
and if so, whether those contractual agreements had been met in 2020/21. 
Members acknowledged the ongoing pressure of Covid-19 on such services, 

Page 4



and reinforced the view that The Hive delivered a much valued service to the 
children within the borough.

RESOLVED – That both the comments made at the Children, Young 
People and Education Committee budget workshop and during this 
Committee meeting be considered by Policy & Resources Committee as 
part of the budget consultation.

29 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 

A report by the Director of Children’s Services set out the financial monitoring 
information for the Children, Young People & Education Committee. The 
report provided Members with an overview of budget performance for the area 
of activity which falls under the remit of the Committee. The financial 
information detailed the projected year end revenue position, as reported at 
quarter 2 ( April – Sept) 2020/21.

Members heard how the Covid 19 pandemic had resulted in a recognised risk 
of significant placement demand pressures transpiring later in 2020/21; as the 
full impact of Covid 19 emerges, the current estimate of this is a 5% increase 
in placements, which amounts to £0.6m forecast for the full financial year. 
Members were then informed that a forecast overspend on In House Foster 
Care Skills payments, which is a 5% contingency of £0.19m for additional 
Covid-19 pressure for the rest of the year.

In response to questions by Members the Committee heard how Tranche 
funding will be utilised going forward and that some costs can be reclaimed 
through Covid funding. The Department are active in reclaiming any costs that 
can be claimed through Tranche funding. 

On a motion by Councillor W Clements and seconded by Councillor C 
Carubia it was: 

Resolved – That the Children, Young People & Education Committee are 
requested to note the projected year-end revenue forecast position of 
£2.058m adverse, as reported at quarter 2 ( Apr- Sep)

30 UPDATE ON SEND IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

A report by the Director for Children, Families and Education provided 
Members with an update on the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities ( 
SEND) Improvement Plan. Members were informed how the Improvement 
Plan underpins the SEND Strategy 2020-2024 that was agreed by the 
Committee in December 2020. 

Page 5



The report provided detailed activity to be undertaken to support delivery of 
the Strategy and set out its four main strategic priorities:

1. Provide high quality provision and support focussed on achieving 
outcomes

2. Ensure early identification of special educational needs and high- 
quality intervention particularly for children and young people exhibiting 
social, emotional and mental health issues.

3. Further develop effective transition from one education phase/ setting 
including preparing for adulthood pathway; and

4. To develop participation, engagement and coproduction with children, 
young people, parents and carers. 

Members were reminded that at its meeting on 1 December 2020, the 
Children, Young People and Education Committee agreed the SEND Strategy 
2020-2024. Members were advised how the Strategy sets out the local area’s 
priorities over the next four years for improving services, support and 
outcomes for children and young people with SEND.

The update presented to Members was set out in appendix 1 of the report and 
was based on the review of the current action plan and target dates. Members 
heard how the original improvement plan set out challenging timescales, 
particularly in the context of delivery within the COVID-19 pandemic and that 
the refreshed improvement plan reflects a more realistic picture in terms of 
key milestones and timescale. Progress of priorities were set out within the 
report. 

A Member made comment regarding transitional planning for young people 
and resources available for moving into suitable employment and asked that a 
training session be arranged or workshop so that awareness of personal 
budgets can be raised. In response to a question, Members heard how at 
present there hasn’t been a substantial uptake in the utilisation of personal 
finance and that work is being undertaken with parents and carers in order to 
raise awareness. 

On a motion by Councillor W Clements and seconded by Councillor S Spoor it 
was:

Resolved – That the Children  Young People and Education Committee 
agreed to:

(1) endorse the progress made to date and on achieving the actions 
set out within the SEND Improvement Plan; and

(2)  receive a further update on progress towards achievement and 
evidence of impact in six months

31 WIRRAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN PARTNERSHIP ANNUAL REPORT 

Page 6



A report by the Statutory Safeguarding Partners provided the annual report 
setting out activity undertaken by the Wirral Safeguarding Children 
Partnership (WSCP) and relevant agencies to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and young people in Wirral. 

Members heard how the report was designed to provide a transparent 
assessment of multi- agency safeguarding arrangements that came into force 
in September 2019, replacing the previous Local Safeguarding Children 
Board arrangements.

Members were informed how the annual report is presented on behalf of the 
three statutory safeguarding partners – the Local Authority, Merseyside Police 
and Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group, who are jointly responsible for the 
new safeguarding arrangements. 

In response to a comment by a Member it was suggested that Members of the 
Committee would benefit from training on Safeguarding and the Business 
Manager for the Local Safeguarding Board specified that he could offer this

On a motion by Councillor W Clements and seconded by Councillor J 
Robinson it was:

Resolved – That the Children, Young People and Education Committee 
notes the Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report. 

32 CHILD POVERTY NOTICE OF MOTION 

A notice of motion referred to the Children, Young People and Education 
Committee by Council on 7 December 2020 ( minute 49 refers), asked that 
the Committee considers the motion and requested that is begins to lead on 
compiling a comprehensive child poverty strategy for the borough. 

On a motion by Councillor W Clements and seconded by Councillor M 
McLaughlin it was:

Resolved – That a working group on child poverty be established 
responsible for compiling a comprehensive child poverty strategy for 
the borough. 

33 WORKING GROUP UPDATE: THE PROVISION OF FOOD & ACTIVITIES 
FOR CHILDREN IN SCHOOL HOLIDAYS DURING THE COVID 19 
PANDEMIC 

Page 7



A report by the Director for Children, Families and Education provided an 
update to the progress of the working group of the provision of food and 
activities for children in school holidays during the COVID 19 pandemic. 

Members were reminded that a report presented to the Children, Young 
People and Education Committee on 1 December 2020 provided an update 
following the proposal agreed by the Policy and Resources Committee in 
respect of the provision of free school meals in the school holidays during the 
COVID 19 pandemic. The report explained that the Policy and Resources 
Committee agreed a proposal for a project co-ordinated on behalf of the 
Council by local charity Neo Community, working in partnership with schools 
and local community- based feeing groups and organisations, to provide food 
and activities to children eligible for Free School Meals over the Christmas 
2020, February half term 2021 and Easter 2021 holidays. This built upon 
learning from the operation of the Edsential Holiday Activity Fund over the 
summer, providing an adaptation of a successful model of delivery. 

Members heard how the Working Group had met on 21 December 2020 and 
18 January 2021 to be informed of progress and to agree next steps. 
Members were then advised that during the Christmas holiday period, 23 
organisations were involved in the distribution of 8071 hampers and 9961 
activity packs that were delivered to those eligible children.

Members were informed that the overall budget of the DWP Covid Winter 
Grant Scheme (£385,790) ad the Budget Tranche 4 (£200,000) is £585,790. 
The actual spend for Christmas 2020 was £439, 621 with an additional 
projected spend of £243, 205 for February half term. The total projected 
spend was £682,287. It was reported that the estimated contingency for the 
project is up to £97,037. The way in which the budget was allocated was 
detailed within the report. 

It was reported that individual hampers were costed at £20 each per week, 
with an enhancement for larger families. Members were advised that the 
budget attributed to the programme was aimed at a 56% take up rate, based 
upon delivery of the programme in the summer, but with additional 
contingency set aside anticipating increased demand over Christmas.  In 
practice, there had been a 66% take up rate from eligible children, and 45% 
take up rate from early years settings and additionally two colleges requested 
support. Members were further advised that contingency had been built into 
the projects costing in order to support this. 

Members were advised that the next steps are to continue working alongside 
organisations to deliver hampers and activity packs during the February half – 
term and for the Working Group to continue to meet on a monthly basis. 

On a motion by Councillor W Clements and seconded by Councillor M 
McLaughlin it was:

Page 8



Resolved – That the Children, Young People and Education Committee 
note the progress of the Working Group for the Provision of Food and 
Activities in School Holidays during the COVID-19 Pandemic. 

34 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

Members gave consideration to the report of the Director of Law and 
Governance that set out the proposed Children, Young People and Education 
Committee Work Programme 2020/21 as detailed in the appendix to the 
report.

The report informed that the Children, Young People and Education 
Committee, in co-operation with the other Policy and Service Committees, 
was responsible for proposing and delivering an annual committee work 
programme. This work programme should align with the corporate priorities of 
the Council, in particular the delivery of the key decisions which are within the 
remit of the Committee.
   
It was envisaged that the work programme will be formed from a combination 
of key decisions, standing items and requested officer reports. The report 
provided the Committee with an opportunity to plan and regularly review its 
work across the municipal year. The work programme for the Children, Young 
People and Education Committee was attached as Appendix 1 to the report.

Moved by the Chair, seconded by Councillor Tom Usher, it was:

RESOLVED - That the proposed Children, Young People and Education 
Committee work programme for the remainder of the 2020/21 municipal 
year be noted.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



 

 

 

  

 

CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE & EDUCATION COMMITTEE 

Date 
 

REPORT TITLE: SAFER ADOLESCENCE STRATEGY 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR FOR CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND 

EDUCATION 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report provides the Children, Young People and Education Committee with an 
introduction to the Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership (WSCP) Safer Adolescence 
Strategy 2021-23.  
 
The report and strategy are aligned to priorities of Wirral Council’s Plan 2025:  
 

- Brighter Futures: For our children, young people and their families. 
 
- Safe and Pleasant Communities: Protecting our most vulnerable residents.  

 
This matter affects residents across the borough. 
 
This report does not relate to a key decision. 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
The Children, Young People and Education Committee is requested to:  
 
1. Support the WSCP’s Safer Adolescence Strategy. 
 
2. Note the approach and ongoing development work within the WSCP.  

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
1.1 The Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership (WSCP) is a statutory agency 

established by the Children and Social Work Act (2017).  
 

1.2 WSCP is a multi-agency partnership of organisations who agree how to work 
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The WSCP is led by the 
three statutory safeguarding partners of the Local Authority, Merseyside Police and 
Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 

1.3 As a statutory safeguarding partner, Wirral Local Authority has key role to play in the 
WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy. The endorsement of the Children, Young 
People and Education Committee will support the delivery of this strategy and 
therefore the linked aspects of the 2025 Wirral Council Plan.  
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

2.1 Not supporting the WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy may result in less clearly 
aligned and coordinated partnership activity to help vulnerable young people.  
 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

3.1 The aims of the WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy are set out in Section 1, Page 4. 
Namely. 

 
o Promote a more strategic preventative approach to adolescent safety by 

raising awareness of associated vulnerabilities.  
o Enhance our collective understanding of what is meant ‘extra-familial harm’, 

or ‘risk outside the home’.  
o Embed a shared set of partnership principles and values for working with 

adolescents.  
o Develop a Wirral contextual safeguarding framework. 

 
 
3.2 Adolescence can be a challenging time for many young people. Due to experiences 

or circumstances beyond their control some young people may be more vulnerable 
than others.  

 
3.3  There can be several factors that can contribute to young people’s vulnerability; and 

so increase the risk to them. Recognising and managing vulnerability will help us to 
prevent harm.  
 

3.4  A proactive and collective safeguarding approach adolescent safety will help our 
young people stay as safe as possible as they develop into adulthood. This means 
understanding those factors that may increase vulnerability and risk; and working 
across partnerships to support our young people.  
 

Page 12



 

 

3.5  Traditionally, safeguarding services were developed and structured to address 
familial risk. Young people’s needs and experiences are very different as they get 
older. Risks outside the home or family (Extra familial risks) become more relevant. 
These are sometimes referred to as ‘contextual’ risks.  
 

3.6  Understanding contexts relevant to the daily lived experience of our children and 
young people is key to reducing risk and improving outcomes. As such, Wirral will 
adopt a contextual safeguarding framework approach to adolescent safety.  
 

3.7  It is important to recognise from the outset that we cannot tackle adolescent 
vulnerability, risk, and harm with child-based work only. The disruption and pursuit of 
those thought to be a risk to our children; and the mechanisms by which we identify 
risk and coordinate are critical.  

 
3.8  Section 8 of the strategy sets out the Four P’s approach – Prepare, Prevent, Protect 

and Pursue. Our collective effort must span these areas to ensure we secure the 
best outcomes for our children and young people. 
 

3.9  Themes impacting on children and young people have changed over time, as we 
identify different types of harm our collective responses as partners develop and 
evolve. This strategy seeks to develop our framework through which we can identify 
such themes and respond in partnership.  

 
3.10  Section 1, pages 4-6 set out the harm specific harm themes associated with older 

children and adolescence, identified through the relevant inspectorates and national 
guidance.  
 

3.11  In view of the broad range of issues contributing to vulnerability and the changing 
nature of harm impacting on young people in different contexts it is beyond the 
scope of the strategy to set out each approach in detail. This strategy seeks to 
ensure partners are aware of the potential relationships between vulnerability and 
harm, understand the importance of reducing vulnerability in the context of 
preventing harm; and develop the framework by which Wirral partners can 
collectively tackle harm that impacts on our young people.  
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 The strategy does not propose structural or resources changes such as to have 
financial implications in the context of this committee report. The aims of the strategy 
are primarily to raise awareness of the types of harm relevant in adolescence; and 
highlight the opportunity to reduce the likelihood of significant harm by galvanising 
and coordinating partnership effort around associated vulnerabilities and priority 
themes.  

 
4.2   The current financial pressures are noted as a relevant risk within section 7 of this 

report.  
 
 
5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
 

Page 13



 

 

5.1 There is a statutory duty under the Children Act 2004 and Children and Social Work 
Act 2017 for safeguarding partners to work together to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children.  

 
5.2 There are commissioned services linked to missing children and exploitation, which 

will be reviewed as part of the existing commissioning cycle. This will take place 
within the existing timeframes for contract renewal and use the existing Council 
Procurement processes. 

 
6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS 
 
6.1 The WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy references a broad range of vulnerabilities 

and areas of partnership activity. The categories of harm, associated vulnerabilities; 
and linked strategy and activity is wide and varied. As part of the Wirral multi-agency 
safeguarding arrangements, the WSCP Contextual Safeguarding Committee will 
retain an overview of any changes to partnership structures, assets and activities 
that may impact on service delivery around those categories of harm highlighted 
within the strategy.  

 
 
7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  
 
7.1 Failing to deliver the strategy will be mitigated through management oversight and 

scrutiny arrangements. Oversight of the strategy and delivery will be provided by the 
partnership’s Contextual Safeguarding Committee, reporting to the WSCP Executive.  

 
7.2  The current financial pressures facing the Council and its partners represents a risk. 

Considerations on future funding will include cost-benefit analysis, including invest to 
save considerations. 

 
7.4  For most professionals and the community, the physical and psychological impact 

caused by being subjected to any type of abuse or neglect is impossible to 
comprehend. It is clear there is significant emotional impact for victims, which will 
have a deep personal cost to them in terms of their own health and wellbeing. 
Preventing such harm happening in the first instance is of primary importance for 
safeguarding professionals.  

 
7.5  The prevalence of such harm will also impact upon those organisations and services 

designed to tackle it. In encouraging a more strategic preventative approach to 
protecting vulnerable adolescents it is important to understand and note the cost to 
services when significant harm does occur. This can help inform future service 
design decisions.  

 
7.6  The exploitation of children is one of the categories of harm set out in the strategy. 

The Home Office’s economic and social costs of modern slavery report (July 2018) 
set out to estimate the wider cost of modern slavery in the UK.  

 
7.7  The July 2018 report was intended to inform the policy and operational response; 

and better understand the value of preventative work. This report identified that the 
cost per victim of sexual exploitation in the United Kingdom was just short of 
£320,000. This total considers the costs linked to treating or responding to physical 

Page 14



 

 

and emotional harm, health services, victim services; and law enforcement 
(excluding the criminal justice system).  

 
7.8  Of note is the cost incurred ‘In anticipation’ (expenditure on protective and 

preventative measures). This was just £210 per victim in 2016/17. The cost of 
preventative expenditure was therefore found to be 0.065% of the total economic 
cost.  

 
7.9  Whilst criminal exploitation is not drawn out as a specific category in the report, the 

cost of ‘Labour Exploitation’ was similarly just under £320,000. 
 
7.10  The WSCP Contextual Safeguarding Committee recognises that there will be links 

between the Safer Adolescence Strategy and the developing Prevention Strategy. 
Coordination will be established between the two areas to compliment and support 
mutual development.  
 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION  
 
8.1 Consultation has taken place with over 2000 young people in Wirral, to help shape 

the contextual safeguarding committee work. In developing the strategy, cognisance 
has been taken of consultation and feedback gathered as part of the youth offer 
consultation. 

 
8.2  Feedback on the approach has been gathered through the partnership’s participation 

and engagement network. This comprised. 
• Involve – Health Economy Engagement Network 
• Youth Voice Group 
• SEND Youth Voice Group,  
• Children Looked After Juniors,  
• Junior and Youth Arts Groups,  
• Care Leavers Council 
• Children in Care Council 

 
8.3  Members of the Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership (WSCP) and wider 

governance stakeholders have engaged and supported the development of the 
workplan, contextual safeguarding framework and safer adolescence strategy. This 
includes feedback from The Children’s Society regional prevention officer and the 
Community and Education lead for the National Working Group for Child Exploitation 
(NWG).  
 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
9.1 A full Equality Impact Assessment has been completed for the strategy and delivery 

plan and can be found via the following link:  
 

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments 
  
 

10.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 15

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments


 

 

10.1 There are no environmental and climate implications arising from this report. It is 
anticipated that the WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy will have no impact on the 
emission of greenhouse gases. 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: Anthony Kirk  
  Head of Service, Contextual Safeguarding 
  Children, Families and Education  
  Anthonykirk1@wirral.gov.uk 
 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Consultation feedback from young people.  
Contextual Safeguarding Survey. 
Youth Offer: Consultation and Care More About Us report.  
Working Together 2018. Department for Education (DfE) Guidance.  
Ofsted. Inspection and Joint Targeted Area Inspections guidance.  
Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership Committee Reports/Minutes.  
Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership Annual Report/Business Plan and Website.  
Children’s Services: Performance and improvement collated data sets.  
Research in Practice/ADCS report. ‘That Difficult Age: Developing a more effective 

response to risks in adolescence (2014)’ by Dr Elly Hanson and Dez Holmes. 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 16



1 
 

 

 

Wirral Safer Adolescence Strategy 

2021-2023 
 

 

Photograph of a young person in an arcade. 

 
“this plan is focusing on children as their own person - and how 
each child has their own journey and path they have been on, 

which makes them unique”. 
Consultation feedback from young person  

Page 17



2 
 

Contents 

Our Adolescence 3 

1. Introduction, aims and scope 4 

2. Our principles and values 7 

3. Consultation  8 

4. Contextual safeguarding  8 

5. Associated vulnerabilities 10 

6. What do we know about our area? 15 

7. WSCP 4P’s approach  17 

8.  WSCP governance 20 

9.  Wider governance 21 

10.  Operational delivery in Wirral – Specific harm themes 22 

11.  Evaluation and monitoring  26 

Appendices   

Appendix A: Delivery of strategic aims  28 

Appendix B: WSCP Contextual Safeguarding Committee 30 

Appendix C: Services aligned to vulnerability and harm  31 

 

 

Photograph of a young person on a bicycle. 

Photographs are included courtesy of our young people, working with Wirral’s Creative Youth 

Development Team on the ‘In our hands’ project. The images are not linked to Our Adolescence 

narrators (Page 3) or intended to indicate concern or risk at specific locations or circumstances.  

Photographs are included to help connect the reader to the most important aspect of this 

document – our young people.  

“each young person has individual needs and the 
plan needs to be adapted to that,  

I understand this will take longer; and you will need 
to speak to a lot of different young people to find 
those needs out - but I do think it’s important that 
we do that”. 

Consultation feedback from young person 

 

Page 18



3 
 

Our Adolescence 

Adolescence starts when we are around 10 – 12, through to our mid-twenties. This is when we go through 
huge changes - psychologically, emotionally, physically, and socially.   

It is an impressionable time - when we take risks. We enjoy the feelings of taking risks, but we struggle to 
manage the aftermath or the consequence.  

At this stage, our brains are still developing particularly in the way in which we manage consequential 
thinking. This along with a lack of life experience means that at this stage in life we tend to be more 
motivated by short term gains as opposed to long term goals.  

We experience a wealth of emotions that can be both liberating and conflicting. It can be exciting - but 
also scary.  

Around this time, we get a strong desire to do our own thing. We want to make our own decisions and 
take responsibility for our own actions whilst we find out who we are - and begin to navigate the world 
around us.  

How well we deal with this period depends on so many different things  - our world up to that point, who 
we have around us; at home and outside, and what support we get when we need it most.  

We wanted to walk through the strategy with you, to share our experiences and help you see how much 
your work means to us. We hope you enjoy our photographs - and they help remind you that this is 
about the young people of Wirral.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Hi I’m Holly. 

I’m 16 and I live in a busy 
house where there is 
always a lot happening.  

I love makeup, clothes, 
trainers, and pyjamas. I 
love listening to music. 

I love being around people 
and I don’t really like to be 
on my own, I don’t like 
quiet because there is too 
much time for thinking.  

I’m good at standing up for 
myself and I’m not afraid 
to say what I think.  

My name’s Dom.  

I’m 17 and live with my foster mum 
right now.  

I miss my family – but they don’t really 
want anything to do with me. I used to 
live with my dad, but he moved, and I 
don’t know where to.  

I don’t have many hobbies – I’ve never 
really tried stuff when I was little to be 
honest. My Dad didn’t go to footy with 
me or anything like that. I do like 
spending time with my girlfriend. She 
understands how things have been.  

It isn’t nice knowing that your mum, 
dad, brother’s, and grandparents don’t 
even want to know how I am doing, or 
even where I am. It makes me very 
sad, and often makes me angry with 
myself.   

I’m Lauren. 

I’m nearly 15. I live with my 
Mum and Sister.  

I don’t go to school, I 
struggled with the lessons, I 
get really angry and can’t 
be in with the others.  

Growing up was really 
hard. 

Page 19



4 
 

1. Introduction 

Adolescence can be a challenging time for many young people. Due to experiences or circumstances 

beyond their control some young people may be more vulnerable than others.  

There are several factors that can contribute to young people’s vulnerability; and may increase the risk of 

them being harmed. Recognising and managing vulnerability will help us to prevent harm.  

A proactive safeguarding approach to adolescent safety will help our young people stay as safe as possible 

as they develop into adulthood. This means understanding those factors that may increase vulnerability 

and risk; and working across partnerships to support our young people.  

Traditionally, safeguarding services were developed and structured to address familial risk. Young people’s 

needs and experiences are very different as they get older. Risks outside the home or family (Extra familial 

risks) become more relevant. These are sometimes referred to as ‘contextual’ risks.  

Understanding contexts relevant to the daily lived experience of our children and young people is key to 

reducing risk and improving outcomes. As such, Wirral will adopt a contextual safeguarding framework 

approach to adolescent safety. Section4, pages 8 & 9 set out how this can operate at different levels. This 

includes ensuring child level plans take account of the contexts in which young people live and socialise.  

It is important to recognise from the outset that we cannot tackle adolescent vulnerability, risk, and harm 

with child-based work only. The disruption and pursuit of those people and places thought to be a risk to 

our children; and the mechanisms by which we identify risk and coordinate are critical. Section 8 sets out 

the Four P’s approach – Prepare, Prevent, Protect and Pursue. Our collective effort must span these areas 

to ensure we secure the best outcomes for our children and young people - and not work in isolation.  

Themes impacting on children and young people have changed over time. As we identify different types of 

harm our collective responses as partners develop and evolve. This strategy seeks to introduce a 

framework through which we can identify such themes and respond in partnership.  

In view of the broad range of issues contributing to vulnerability, and the changing nature of harm 

impacting on young people in different contexts, it is beyond the scope of the strategy to set out each 

approach in detail. It is also acknowledged that associated vulnerabilities are not necessarily ‘predictors’ of 

harm for individual young people. Similarly, any young person can become a victim and we must 

collectively remain vigilant to the warning signs.  

This strategy seeks to ensure partners are aware of the potential relationships between vulnerability and 

harm, understand the importance of reducing vulnerability in the context of preventing harm, and provide 

the framework by which Wirral partners can collectively tackle harm when it is recognised.  

Where young people are moving into adulthood, partners will seek to identify transition support to ensure 

those who remain vulnerable have access to services and networks that can continue to engage and 

support them on their individual development journey.  

Where the strategy refers to work with, or in support of, young people there is a recognition that 

consideration will be given to how parents and guardians are supported as part of any plan or approach. 

The impact of Covid 19 is not to be overlooked when considering vulnerability. Our young people are 

spending more time online than ever before. Safeguarding partners have adapted the way in which they 

work to maintain contact and support children through this period.  

In delivering this strategy, partners will ensure the challenges presented by the pandemic are considered.  

Page 20



5 
 

Aims 

In delivering this strategy we aim to. 

• Promote a more strategic preventative approach to adolescent safety by raising awareness of 

associated vulnerabilities.  

• Enhance our collective understanding of what is meant ‘extra-familial harm’, or ‘risk outside the 

home’.  

• Embed a shared set of partnership principles and values for working with adolescents.  

• Develop a Wirral contextual safeguarding framework.  

The Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership will oversee the delivery of these aims as set out at Appendix 

A.  

Scope 

What do we mean by vulnerable adolescents? Adolescence is a transitional stage of physical and 

psychological development that generally occurs during the period from puberty to legal adulthood and is 

often referred to as the teenage years.   

Adolescence however can last into a young person’s mid-twenties and will vary across individuals. There 

may be some young people who require additional support past the legal age of adulthood.  

Vulnerability can be defined in many ways; the more commonly associated vulnerabilities would include:  

• Domestic Abuse.  

• Mental Health and Wellbeing. 

• Neglect. 

• Not being in education.  

Section 5 of this strategy considers vulnerability in more detail.  

What type of ‘Harm’ are we talking about? 

Ofsted 

The Ofsted framework calls for professionals to recognise factors that make some children more 

vulnerable; and tailor interventions to take this into account.  

The framework refers to ‘vulnerable adolescents and children at risk of radicalisation or exploitation or 

becoming involved in gangs. Children and young people who are missing from home, care or full-time 

school education (including those who are excluded from school) and those at risk of exploitation and 

trafficking’.  

The inspectorate also cites what would be included in reviewing arrangements for the Protection of 

vulnerable children from ‘extra-familial’ risk.  

This may cover: 

• Child sexual/criminal exploitation. 

• Missing from home, care, or education. 

• Risks associated with gangs (also referred to as Organised Crime Groups – OCGs). 

• Risks associated with radicalisation. 

• Trafficking and modern slavery. 

Page 21



6 
 

Joint Inspectorates (JTAI)  

The wider partnership inspectorate framework relevant to this area is set out under the Joint Targeted 

Area Inspection (JTAI) arrangements. In December 2018, Ofsted announced that one of the future themes 

for joint inspectorate activity would be ‘older children in need of help and protection, and contextual 

safeguarding, including exploitation’. 

Working Together 2018 (DfE) – (Revised December 2020): Risk outside the home 

This Working Together guidance applies to all organisations and agencies who have functions relating to 

children. Specifically, this guidance applies to all local authorities, clinical commissioning groups, police and 

other relevant organisations and agencies.  

As well as threats to the welfare of children from within their families, children may be vulnerable to abuse 

or exploitation from outside their families. These extra-familial threats might arise at school and other 

educational establishments, from within peer groups, or more widely from within the wider community 

and/or online.  

These threats can take a variety of different forms and children can be vulnerable to multiple threats, 

including:  

• Exploitation by criminal gangs and organised crime groups such as county lines.  

• Trafficking.  

• Online abuse.  

• Teenage relationship abuse.  

• Sexual exploitation, and  

• The influences of extremism leading to radicalisation.  

Assessments of children in such cases should consider whether wider environmental factors are present in 

a child’s life and are a threat to their safety and/or welfare. Children who may be alleged perpetrators 

should also be assessed to understand the impact of contextual issues on their safety and welfare. 

Interventions should focus on addressing these wider environmental factors, which are likely to be a threat 

to the safety and welfare of several different children who may or may not be known to children’s social 

care.  

Child exploitation (CE) remains an area of priority focus. Events of child criminal exploitation (CCE) are now 

more readily recognised and identified as abuse. Whilst this is currently more predominantly associated 

with males, care should be taken not to overlook females who may be victims.  

Much progress has been made nationally in tackling Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE).  This impact must be 

sustained through continued partnership focus and professional vigilance.  

Wider Themes 

We recognise that not all types of harm may be captured within some of these specific national 

inspectorate or guidance ‘themes’.   

In developing our Wirral contextual safeguarding framework, we aim to recognise different themes and 

issues, consider them in context, and work together to prevent harm to our young people.  

 

 

Page 22



7 
 

2. Principles and Values 

As a partnership we are committed to working together and taking a child first approach. Young people 

have helped us develop a set of guiding principles and values that should underpin ‘how’ we work with 

them.  

Principles  

• Work with us. We want to feel included – not just having work done for us or around us.  

• We can help. Our experiences can help improve services; and create new and different ways of 

working.  

• Stay with us. It’s better when we get to know and trust the people who want to help.  

• Help us build relationships. When we are supported to create other friendships; or you help 

support our family connections we feel safer and more able to cope.  

• Listen to us. Spend the time to find out about us and what our whole life is like.  

o Sometimes things we are worried about happen away from home.  

o Don’t assume we are all the same. Everyone is unique.  

• Help us dream and achieve. Your passion, skills and teamwork can make a big difference to our 

lives.  

These principles were shaped for Wirral using the Research in Practice study: ‘That Difficult Age: 

Developing a more effective response to risks in adolescence (2014)’ by Dr Elly Hanson and Dez Holmes. 

 

Values  

We will. 

• Work together with young people in a partnership culture of inclusion, understanding and 

empathy.  

• Take Ownership and accountability. 

o Safeguarding does not start or end with a referral. It is a continuum of activity and effort - 

and is everybody’s business. This means that a wide range of agencies, communities and 

individuals play an active role and commit to an approach, this creates a ‘collective capacity’ 

to safeguard young people. 

An example of how we as professionals can live these values is through our collective use of language. 

Victim-blaming language may reinforce messages from perpetrators around shame and guilt. This in turn 

may prevent the child or young person from disclosing their abuse, through fear of being blamed by 

professionals.  

More information on appropriate language can be found at the following link, produced by the National 

Police Chief’s Council, Victim Support and The Children’s Society.  

https://csepoliceandprevention.org.uk/toolkits 

 

 

 

 

Page 23

https://csepoliceandprevention.org.uk/toolkits


8 
 

3. Consultation 

Consultation has taken place with over 2000 young people in Wirral, to help shape the Wirral Safeguarding 

Children Partnership (WSCP) contextual safeguarding committee work. In developing the strategy, 

cognisance has been taken of consultation and feedback gathered as part of the youth offer consultation.  

Feedback on the approach has been gathered through the partnership’s participation and engagement 

network. This comprised. 

• Involve – Health Economy Engagement Network 

• Youth Voice Group 

• SEND Youth Voice Group,  

• Children Looked After Juniors,  

• Junior and Youth Arts Groups,  

• Care Leavers Council 

• Children in Care Council 

Members of the Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership (WSCP) and wider governance stakeholders have 

engaged and supported the development of the workplan, contextual safeguarding framework and safer 

adolescence strategy. This includes feedback from The Children’s Society regional prevention officer and 

the Community and Education lead for the National Working Group for Child Exploitation (NWG). 

 

4. Contextual Safeguarding  

The model of contextual safeguarding was developed by Dr Carlene Firmin at the University of 

Bedfordshire and has already been referenced in this strategy. Contextual Safeguarding is an approach to 

understanding, and responding to, young people’s experiences of harm beyond their families.  

Contextual Safeguarding is an approach - not a model. There is no ‘one size fits all’ approach. In this sense, 

it is designed to be adapted to the different contexts and requirements of services and partnerships 

seeking to employing a more collective contextual safeguarding mindset and approach.   

Contextual Safeguarding – Levels of Operation 

Implementing Contextual Safeguarding requires a transformation in the systems and approaches agencies 

use.  

This can be considered at three levels.  

Level One: Child Level  

This level is centred at individual young people, seeking to develop how professionals and 

organisations draw extra-familial contexts into their assessments, plans and work with children and 

families.  

This level would see child level support and interventions identified across professionals that can 

impact on the contexts relevant to the specific child.   

Level Two: Locations and Groups 

Work at this level will develop practice, systems, and structures for identifying, assessing, and 

intervening with locations and groups within which young people are at risk of harm.  

Page 24



9 
 

This can include for example. Peer mapping and assessment, context assessments, school and 

neighbourhood level problem solving work. This would see practitioners working together 

operationally with community safety, crime and disorder partners and other sectors where 

appropriate to tackle those issues causing collective harm or risk of harm.  

Level Three: Themes and Trends causing risk of harm or increasing vulnerability 

Level Three aims to operate at a more strategic level, recognising how partnerships tackle issues 

that impact across Wirral. Links with WSCP statutory safeguarding partners, the Safer Wirral 

Partnership, Partnership for Children, Young People and Families; Youth Justice Management Board 

and Corporate Parenting Board are particularly relevant in the context of this strategy. These 

forums are noted at Level 3 in the below graphic.  

Each level should support and compliment the other.  

Level One activity should identify contexts in need of attention through Level Two work, and work 

undertaken at Level Two can support reduction in risk of harm at Level One.  

Level Three should be informed by analysis and insight – using information from Levels One and Two, and 

consultation with young people. Level Three will also be informed by analysis and insight from across the 

partnership relating to identified themes or strategic priorities.  

The below graphic highlights the three levels of operation for the Wirral Contextual Safeguarding 

Framework. This looks to draw on the underpinning theory from the University of Bedfordshire, whilst 

adopting a model that allows context to be identified and addressed at operational, tactical, and strategic 

levels across partners in Wirral.  

 

The above graphic shows the concentric levels of the Contextual Safeguarding framework, from child level 

to Pan Wirral level. Key: CiN: Child in Need. CLA: Child Looked After. CP: Child Protection. EH&P: Early Help 

and Prevention Plans 

Page 25



10 
 

Implementation Support  

As a University of Bedfordshire Local Authority Interest Network (LAIN) member, the Wirral Safeguarding 

Children Partnership will receive support from the university in developing local champions and connecting 

Wirral to peer authorities engaged in national pilot work.  

Nationally, those pilot authority areas are currently working through a 3-year implementation programme 

following a ‘Create – Test – Embed’ process. Wirral are connected to local pilot sites and a wider North 

West cluster of partnerships developing contextual safeguarding practice.   

Activity aimed at enhancing and further developing our local contextual safeguarding framework are 

included within the WSCP contextual safeguarding committee work, supported with task and finish work 

across relevant partners.  

 

5. Contextual or Extra Familial Harm: Associated Vulnerabilities 

There are factors in young people’s lives which may make them more vulnerable; and could increase the 

likelihood of them being exposed to contextual or extra familial harm in adolescence. The term ‘Trigger 

Trio’ or ‘Toxic Trio’ is often used in this context. This term relates to the presence of domestic abuse, 

parental mental health, or substance misuse.  

This strategy aims to raise awareness of the potential relationship between associated vulnerabilities and 

risk of harm in adolescence. The activity and linked strategies in place around these areas of vulnerability 

could be considered preventative in the context of vulnerable adolescents.  

Adverse Childhood Experiences 

Childhood experiences have a significant impact on lifelong health and opportunity. Adverse childhood 

experiences (ACEs) refer to stressful or traumatic events that children and young people can be exposed to 

as they are growing up.  

ACEs range from experiences that directly harm a child, such as physical, verbal, or sexual abuse, and 

physical or emotional neglect, to those that affect the environments in which children grow up, such as 

parental separation, domestic abuse, mental illness, alcohol abuse, drug use or imprisonment. How we 

support children whose parents or guardians have been given a custodial sentence also features within 

local partnership work under the WSCP and is recognised as an ACE.  

If professionals identify and understand the impact of ACEs on young people they are working with, this 

can help shape the right support and interventions. Our partnership principles for working with 

adolescents (Section 2) provides a framework for ‘how’ we work with young people and their families.  

Further information relating to ACEs can be found at the below link.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/adverse-childhood-experiences-aces/ 

Wirral’s Partnership for Children, Young People and Families has committed to undertake work to develop 

a more consistent and integrated partnership approach to ACEs and Trauma Informed Practice.   

Domestic Abuse.  

Young people may be more susceptible to contextual harm due to their limited and/or limiting experiences 

of growing up in a household where domestic abuse has skewed their understanding of healthy 

relationships.   

Page 26

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/adverse-childhood-experiences-aces/


11 
 

They may no longer live with family; or may seek to spend more time out of the family home in other 

contexts where harm can occur. Ongoing issues at home can also act as strong ‘push’ factors for young 

people, increasing the time they spend in other places or contexts.  

Wirral has recently developed the 5 year ‘No Excuse’ domestic abuse strategy, delivered through the 

domestic abuse alliance.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/professionals/what-is-domestic-abuse/ 

Emotional Health and Wellbeing 

Young people who are struggling with their mental health may potentially be more vulnerable to 

contextual risk factors. One in ten children needs support or treatment for mental health issues.  At least a 

quarter of people experience mental health difficulties at some point in their lives and over half of all 

mental health issues in adult life (excluding dementia) start by age 14, and seventy five percent by age 18. 

Partners across Wirral coordinate work in this area through the ‘Future in Mind’ Steering Group. Further 

information can be found at the below link.  

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/children-and-young-people-mental-health/ 

SEND  

Some children and young people need additional support to reach their academic and developmental 

potential. If this is not recognised or supported in the right way, young people are at risk of falling behind 

in their development and disengaging with education, employment, or training opportunities. This can 

reduce individual personal resilience and leave young people vulnerable to harm.  

In December 2020 Wirral Council approved the SEND strategy 2020-2025. The delivery of this strategy will 

align closely to the school strategy and support the aim of ensuring vulnerable children reach their full 

potential.  

The strategic objectives within the SEND strategy seeks to Improve the quality of provision and outcomes 

for young people with SEND – This includes early identification and intervention, transition between 

educational setting and adulthood; and further developing participation and engagement.  

An effective approach to SEND will help reduce vulnerability prior to; and in adolescence – contributing to 

the prevention of harm.  

Neglect 

Young people who are exposed to extra familial harm may also be suffering from neglect. Previous work 

within the WSCP has identified that neglect can often be a factor in the story of young people who are 

later identified as at risk of being exploited.  

The Ofsted JTAI inspection report ‘Growing Up Neglected’ (July 2018) calls for a greater awareness of the 

neglect of older children and a focus on trauma-based approaches to tackling it.  

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7227

40/Older_children_neglect_FINAL_060718.pdf 

Neglect can occur for many reasons, including parental substance misuse, mental health or learning 

difficulties.  Such environments can provide limited experience of positive parental care, with the incentive 

to remain at home, care or in education reducing as a consequence.   

Page 27

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/professionals/what-is-domestic-abuse/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/children-and-young-people-mental-health/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/722740/Older_children_neglect_FINAL_060718.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/722740/Older_children_neglect_FINAL_060718.pdf


12 
 

Neglect in older children features as part of the WSCP Neglect Strategy.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/WSCP-Neglect-Strategy-19-21.pdf 

In delivering this strategy, we will ensure the links between neglect in older children and exposure to 

contextual harm are clearly highlighted to professionals. Identifying and addressing neglect earlier will help 

to reduce the risk of exploitation or other contextual harm.  

Not being in Full time Education (CME25), or Not in Education, Employment and Training (NEET)  

The Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel report into Criminal Exploitation (March 2020) highlights 

permanent exclusion from mainstream education as a trigger point for risk of serious harm in this context.  

To support enhanced partnership coordination in this area, the WSCP have developed a local procedure 

entitled ‘Children at Risk of Not Receiving and Education’. This procedure can be accessed below:  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/procedures/6-8-children-risk-not-receiving-suitable-education/ 

Children in Care 

Children in care, or Looked after children, come from a range of different backgrounds. Each child has their 

own different and specific sets of needs.  

Children may enter care for all sorts of reasons, this may be because they have experienced abuse or 

neglect. These experiences can leave children with complex emotional and mental health needs, which can 

increase their vulnerability.  

Providing children in and on the edge of care with the support they need, when they need it, can help 

them to flourish and achieve their potential; and reduce the likelihood of them being exposed to harm.  

Wirral’s Corporate Parenting Board (CPB) seeks to ensure that Wirral fulfils its corporate parenting 

responsibilities and monitors performance in terms of improving outcomes for children looked after and 

care leavers. The Corporate Parenting Board is supported by a strategy and action plan.  

Harmful Substances  

According to Public Health England, a national survey undertaken with 15-year-olds in 2019 identified an 

increase in substance use. The results of the most recent survey of 15-year-olds have also identified that 

73% consumed alcohol in the last year and 24% in the last week with 23% reporting being drunk once or 

more in the last month. 

Adolescent alcohol and substance use have been associated with lower academic attainment, reduced 

school attendance, changes in affect and behaviours leading to impairments in relationships with family 

and friends. Some young people will have both mental health problems and misuse substances. Anecdotal 

evidence also exists which suggests some young people with neurodevelopmental conditions such as 

ADHD use substances to self-medicate. 

Response Drug and Alcohol Service within the Local Authority’s Youth Matters collective work with young 

people aged 13-19 whose drug/alcohol use is a cause for concern. WSCP also have information to help 

parents or carers find out more about drugs and alcohol.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/drugs-and-alcohol-parents-and-carers/ 

 

 

Page 28

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/WSCP-Neglect-Strategy-19-21.pdf
https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/procedures/6-8-children-risk-not-receiving-suitable-education/
https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/drugs-and-alcohol-parents-and-carers/


13 
 

Homelessness 

In the context of this strategy, this relates to 16- and 17-year-olds who may be homeless (or at risk of 

becoming homeless) or require accommodation. The Department for Education (DfE) and the Ministry for 

Housing, Community and Local Government (MHCLG) provide statutory guidance in this area. This directs a 

joint approach between children’s services and local housing authorities to ensure appropriate assessment 

is undertaken and these young people are supported during what may be an extremely vulnerable time.  

Operationally, Wirral Children’s Services and Housing partners work together as part of the local protocol 

for 16- and 17-year-olds. Adolescent homelessness is also cross referenced within the Wirral Homeless and 

Rough Sleeping Strategy 2020-2025.  

Local Factors - Disparity 

There are extremes of both affluence and deprivation in Wirral, meaning that children and young people’s 

life chances and experiences can be different depending on where they live.  

The challenge for partners is to close the gap by ensuring services and resources are targeted where they 

are needed; and will make a difference to the lived experience and life chances of Wirral’s children.  

In Wirral, we see examples of insight led and locality focused programmes of work and partnership 

approaches. North Birkenhead’s Cradle to Career is a larger example of bringing together the community, 

families, education sector and local organisations and services with a place-based, collective impact 

approach to improving outcomes for children and young people. 

The impact of Covid 19 

National research has shown that young people are more concerned about their own mental health and 

wellbeing through the pandemic, especially within the periods of lockdown.  

Themes highlighted by the NSPCC, analysed from calls to Childline, included increased concerns from 

children about their mental health, strained family relationships, bullying, abuse and neglect – including 

online abuse. The Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership have resources highlighting the impact of Covid 

19 on Children and Young People. Further information and resources can be accessed using the following 

link.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/covid-19-impact-on-children-and-young-people/ 

Wirral has launched a dedicated freephone helpline for children and young people who may be feeling 

unsafe or worried during the lockdown. Young people can call to speak to an adviser for help, advice, and 

support.  

Online 

Children and young people are increasingly spending more time online. Online risks may not be as visible 

to professionals and the internet can be a cross cutting medium relevant to several types of harm. 

Understanding the daily lived experience of children and young people is key to safeguarding practice, 

exploring how they interact and engage online can build a more accurate picture and help keep them safe.  

The WSCP has collated resources relevant to online or internet safety, which can be accessed at the below 

site.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/internet-safety/ 

Page 29

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/covid-19-impact-on-children-and-young-people/
https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/internet-safety/


14 
 

The Children’s Society have a resource that can be used by professionals when working with young people 

to help keep them safe.  

https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/online-exploitation-guidance.pdf 

Vulnerability and Risk of Contextual/Extra Familial Harm 

The contextual safeguarding framework set out in this strategy recognises the role played by strategic 

boards and partners at a Pan Wirral level in addressing those associated vulnerabilities and tackling priority 

harm themes. (Section 4, Page 8 and 9 refer).  

 

The above graphic represents the relationship between associated vulnerabilities and risk factors; and the 

potential escalation into contextual - or extra familial - harm. 

 

Holly 

There are older people in my family who have got me to do things that are illegal, like stealing things, and 
selling and moving drugs, and they got me to bring some of my friends to parties in houses or in hotel rooms.  

They have introduced me to other adults and taken me to parties where there were loads of alcohol and 
drugs, and I think that some bad things happened to me, although I can’t really remember it very well. 

I found it hard to tell people about the things that were going on, but I did talk to my worker at times 
when things got really bad.  

 

 

Page 30

https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2021-01/online-exploitation-guidance.pdf


15 
 

7. What do we know about our area?  

The Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership have identified how Wirral would look if it were 100 

Children. This helps understand, for example, what proportion of our young people are involved with 

Children’s Services, if they have support for educations needs, or whether they are part of a single parent 

family.  

The below breakdown covers all ages from 0-17.  

 

The chart above shows a breakdown of the proportion of young people on Wirral.  

 

 

 

Page 31



16 
 

In terms of adolescents, Wirral has over 30,000 11–17-year-olds according to the most recent data.  

The below graphic helps set some context as the prevalence of vulnerabilities - such as not being in 

education, becoming homeless, or becoming involved in crime as an offender or victim. The data covers 

years 2019-2020 unless stated otherwise.  

 

The above graphic shows vulnerability and harm statistics for 11-17- and 0–17-year-olds in Wirral.  

 

Page 32



17 
 

8. Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership (WSCP) 4Ps approach 

The WSCP Contextual Safeguarding Committee development work focuses on the following areas.  Each 

area is aligned to outcomes and supported by activity as part of a partnership plan. The below graphic 

shows the 4P’S approach to this work. The outcomes and activity for 2021 onward will be developed in 

support of the WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy.  

 

The above graphic shows the 4Ps approach used within the Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership.  

Prepare: Establishing effective systems and multi-agency leadership. 

 Outcomes 

• The safeguarding of children in extra familial contexts is recognised as a priority for the 

partnership. Key people and partners understand and fulfil their role in supporting the agenda.   

• Patterns, trends and themes of contextual risk and harm as it impacts upon children and young 

people is understood.  

• Ensuring children’s voices are heard, listened to, and acted upon by their participation in 

building our strategic priorities, plans and activities. 

• Professionals understand contextual safeguarding and are supported in practice with systems, 

practice guidance, tools, and resources.  

• WSCP have quality assurance and oversight, using case audit and data to understand impact. 

So far:  

• Contextual safeguarding has been identified as one of the four priority areas for the Wirral 

Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

• The partnership has established a contextual safeguarding committee, represented by statutory 

and no- statutory agencies and partners across Wirral.  

• The partnership secured quarterly self-assessments and data that help understand the current 

picture and impact around contextual safeguarding themes.  

Page 33



18 
 

• The WSCP has already undertaken a survey of over 2000 young people, to understand what risk 

they see for themselves in extra familial contexts. This has fed into the partnership work plan 

and with be undertaken periodically through the course of this development work to ensure 

young people influence our collective approach.  

• Training around contextual harm themes and underpinning theory has been developed and 

delivered by the WSCP; further training is being supported by the University of Bedfordshire in 

conjunction with the Merseyside Violence Reduction Partnership.  

 

Prevent: Minimising the risk of harm to vulnerable cohorts through early identification, intervention, 

and support.  

 Outcomes 

• Multi-agency information and intelligence is gathered to identify risks and vulnerabilities in 

groups, communities, and individuals – to enable appropriately targeted support and 

interventions.  

• Early help and prevention for EFH is well developed and delivered by professionals who 

understand the nature of contextual risk, promoting resilience – preventing deterioration and 

escalation.  

• Children, young people, and their parents/carers are informed about the risks, can identify 

forms of contextual harm, and know how to access early support.  

• Preventative and support programmes are delivered in early years/schools/colleges and in the 

community to promote their education and understanding of the extra familial risks and self-

protection. 

• Agencies work together to prevent young people going missing from home, care, and 

education. 

So Far:  

• Daily partnership tasking and coordinating takes places where information relating to 

contextual harm themes is shared and responses coordinated. This includes the partnership 

response to missing young people.  

• Insight work has been developed around contextual themes, feeding into service tasking and 

development work for resources such as school-based programmes of prevention.  

• Compass, the missing and exploitation service, has collated and developed tools and resources 

that support children and families subject to, or at risk of exploitation.  

• Catch 22 work alongside professionals and families to understand why children and young 

people go missing, working in partnership to identify push and pull factors and reduce missing 

events.  

• In-school events have been developed and delivered to raise awareness of contextual harm for 

young people.  

• Local and regional marketing campaigns have been developed and delivered across traditional 

and social media, raising awareness of contextual harm issues, one example being the ‘Eyes 

Open; campaign developed by the Violence Reduction Partnership in response to the county 

lines model of child exploitation.  

• Youth Justice have developed a cohort of mentors for young people, offering a prevention 

service for those on the cusp of offending.  

Page 34



19 
 

• The Attendance Team within Children’s Services have provided support for schools at the earliest 

opportunity to prevent escalating absence and increasing vulnerability.  

• Multi Agency Vulnerable Children’s coordination has been set up to identify those children not 

accessing education – this forum identifies appropriate support to re-integrate into educational 

settings.  

• Partnership coordination takes place for those children and young people open to Children’s 

Social Care who are not accessing full time education.  

 

Protect: Establishing effective and coordinated responses to children and young people harmed/at risk 

of harm. 

 Outcomes 

• Safeguarding practice will be informed by best practice, guidance, research, and innovation.  

• Professionals identify, assess, and effectively respond to children and young people involved in 

complex criminal, contextual, exploitation and abuse networks. 

So Far:  

• Wirral has partnered with The University of Bedfordshire and the Contextual Safeguarding 

Network as a Local Area Interest Network member. This entails the development of strategic 

and operational champions; and access to colleagues working on the national pilots for 

Contextual Safeguarding Practice.  

• The youth justice service has partnered with Edge Hill University to seek an enhanced 

understanding of factors leading to youth offending.  

• Professionals development sessions have been delivered to enhance understanding of the 

National Referral Mechanism (NRM), used to identify victims of trafficking.  

• Case management systems across children’s services have been reviewed and developed to 

incorporate contextual factors.  

• Social Work champions have been identified to provide peer support and coaching to colleagues 

where extra familial harm has been identified in referrals and assessment.  

• Multi Agency tools, specific to exploitation, have been reviewed and enhanced to reflect current 

contextual safeguarding theory.  

• Operating to the Pan Merseyside Child Exploitation Protocol, The Multi Agency Child Exploitation 

(MACE) panel provides oversight of those young people subject to, or at risk of, exploitation. This 

ensures young people have specific exploitation plans set against Prepare, Prevent, Protect and 

Pursue.             

 

Holly 

I didn’t want to meet my worker, and I tried hard to avoid her, but after a few weeks we started getting 
on well and I have been able to talk to her a lot. My worker has helped me when things have been bad, 
and has come round when I’ve needed her, or come to other places to help me. I didn’t speak to the Police, 
you don’t speak to the Police about your family, and when other things have happened, I haven’t wanted 
to remember them or have to talk about them. There have been some times when I’ve agreed for my 
worker to speak to the Police for me. This really helped.  

 

 

Page 35



20 
 

Pursue: To deter, target and pursue perpetrators – Embedding contextual partnership responses and 

interventions at all levels.  

Outcomes 

• The partnership routinely utilises intelligence-led disruption in relation to places, individuals or 

groups associated with contextual harm.  

• Robust civil and law enforcement responses are used to respond to identified risks from 

themes/places/perpetrators (Including young perpetrators) and their networks.  

• Robust offender management is in place to reduce the risk presented by known perpetrators 

(Including young perpetrators).  

• Investigations are undertaken in line with working together principles: and ministry of justice 

guidelines for joint investigation. 

So far:  

• Wirral has established the Multi Agency Response to Threat, Harm and Risk (MARTHR). This is a 

partnership forum, which focuses on coordinating enforcement and disruption activity to reduce 

the risk of exploitation. 

• The Problem Oriented Partnerships Group (Formerly ASB Governance) considers patterns and 

themes where young people may be engaging in activities and behaviour that could expose 

them to increased risk of harm. Our Youth Matters team operate as part of this collective to 

respond and support young people in key locations, as part of the wider partnership response. In 

2021 this governance will further develop into a wider Problem Oriented Partnerships group – 

focusing on Community Safety and Vulnerability. This group will play a key role in supporting the 

contextual safeguarding operations framework at Level 2 and Level 3.  

 

8. Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership (WSCP) Governance 

The WSCP will maintain oversight of partnership activity aligned to this strategy to determine effectiveness 

against the identified aims. Actions to deliver the strategic aims are set out at Appendix A.  

The WSCP also supports strategic and operational developments through the WSCP Contextual 

Safeguarding Committee Work Plan and associated task and finish, or development groups as referenced 

in Section 7.  

Partners operating within the context of the safer adolescence strategy will identify their own respective 

internal governance arrangements, which should align to the partnership’s strategic approach, principles 

and aims.  

Dom 

I was made to sell drugs for adults, I don’t and won’t do that anymore. I was arrested and nearly went to 
prison – that would have had a big effect on my future, and I know I would have hated it. I got support 
from a court diversion programme and was not given prison.  

I have come a long way since being arrested. I think the police could see that I was being used by adults. I 
have a nice social worker and justice worker. I am more in control of my life than I have ever been since 12 
years old.  

 

 

Page 36



21 
 

9. Wider Governance  

The issues referenced within this strategy are cross cutting and as such feature within other areas of 

governance. The WSCP recognises the need to ensure links are established between the committee and 

work plan with other strategic forums. These include, but may not be restricted to, the following.  

The Partnership for Children, Young People and Families (PFCYP&F).  

This is a newly formed and developing forum. The overall purpose of the partnership for children is 

to provide strategic direction to ensure Wirral partners work together to identify and address key 

priorities and work together to improve outcomes for children, young people, and their families. 

The PFCYP&F also seeks to ensure Wirral Council undertake their statutory responsibility for 

establishing and maintaining the co-operation and partnership arrangements for children, young 

people, and their families, and facilitating the inclusion and participation of all key partners in these 

arrangements.   

The contextual safeguarding committee has a link member within the PFCYP&F and will ensure any 

cross-cutting activity is coordinated between the forums. The PFCYP&F will be a key component in 

reducing vulnerability and driving opportunities for young people in Wirral.  

The Community Safety Partnership (Safer Wirral). 

The community safety partnership has a five-year strategy for Safe and Pleasant Communities as 

part of the ‘The Wirral Plan’. Themes within this arena would include the reduction in crime and 

anti-social behaviour, improving the environment in Wirral and protecting those most vulnerable in 

our communities. Members of the WSCP Contextual Safeguarding Committee sit within the CSP and 

can ensure workstreams supporting this strategy are aligned and given appropriate focus amongst 

community safety partners.  

The Merseyside region is also currently supported by the Violence Reduction Partnership (VRP). 

This partnership links primarily into the Community Safety Partnership, via an identified Violence 

Reduction Group lead.  

The Youth Justice Management Board.  

The Youth Justice Service (YJS) leads on the partnership response to young people at risk of being 

drawn into crime and anti-social behaviour. The work of the YJS is overseen by the Youth Justice 

Management Board. The Youth Justice Service also works closely with the Merseyside Criminal 

Justice Board (MCJB) and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC).   

The Youth Justice Management Board will set the strategic direction for the YJS, oversee 

performance, and provide resources to ensure the identifies priorities and outcomes can be met. 

There are established links between the WSCP Committee and the YJMB, ensuring a connected and 

complimentary approach to those young people being drawn into crime and anti-social behaviour.  

Corporate Parenting Board 

The aim of the Corporate Parenting Board is to ensure that Wirral fulfils its corporate parenting 

responsibilities and monitors performance in terms of improving outcomes for children looked 

after and care leavers. Section 5 of this strategy highlights the vulnerabilities that can exists within 

the cohort of children looked after, the work of the corporate parenting board will be a key factor 

in supporting the overall aims of this strategy.  

Page 37



22 
 

 

 

Photograph of young people in a fast-food take-away. 

 

10. Operational Delivery in Wirral – Specific Harm Themes 

The following sections provide an overview of the services, forums, or processes through which specific 

contextual harm themes are addressed.  

 

Exploitation & Missing from Home/Care  

The Pan Merseyside Child Exploitation Protocol sets out the framework for identifying and responding to 

exploitation.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/child-exploitation/ 

 

The approach to missing children is set out in the Pan Merseyside Missing Protocol.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/children-who-go-missing/ 

 

Wirral have a dedicated child exploitation team, Compass.  They operate as part of a multi-agency 

response to exploitation and missing from home or care. The multi-agency approach comprises Children’s 

Services, Police, Catch22, Health, Probation and includes close working with other partners. Operational 

delivery in this area comprises the following forums.  

 

Daily Multi Agency Coordination:  

The purpose of the morning briefing is to facilitate multi-agency information gathering and decision-

making around those cases where the child in question has been missing or there is information that 

suggests they may be vulnerable to exploitation.  

 

MACE – Multi Agency Child Exploitation Panel:  

The aims of this meeting are as follows. 

• To share information to increase the safety, health, and wellbeing of children at risk. 

• To construct and implement a risk management plans that provides professional support to 

all those at risk and that reduces the risk of harm.  

 

 

 

Page 38

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/child-exploitation/
https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/children-who-go-missing/


23 
 

MACE Plans:  

The plans are constructed under the following headings:  

Prepare 

o Actions relating to flagging on case systems, lines of communication, intelligence 
gathering, coordination and information sharing.  

Prevent 

o Actions to reduce the vulnerability of children and young people to exploitation or 
missing episodes. For example, but not exhaustive - Education and health care 
packages, support for SEND young people, education employment and training, 
engagement, and participation. Trusted relationships support or direct 
engagement/work, including support from education psychologists. Youth Justice 
Prevention work. Support for parents/carers with resources and advice/guidance.  

Protect 

o This part of the plan will cross reference the care planning or multi agency work 
being undertaken in line with safeguarding procedures and Working Together 2018. 
Actions should be raised here which may be considered to strengthen existing child 
level plans, specific to the risk of exploitation. The young person may be identified as 
a victim of modern slavery and a National Referral Mechanism (NRM) submitted to 
the Home Office. 

Pursue 

o Actions to investigate exploitation events and crimes. Disruption of perpetrators, 
places, or themes. Cross referenced to MARTHR (see below). Crimes relating to the 
young person as a victim will be recorded here and updates tracked at MACE.  

 

Multi Agency Response to Threat, Harm and Risk (MARTHR): 

The monthly Multi Agency Response to Threat, Harm and Risk is chaired by the Wirral Local Policing Chief 

Inspector and has representation from statutory and non-statutory agencies. The meeting focuses on 

coordinating enforcement and disruption activity to reduce the risk of exploitation.  

 

Non-CE Contextual Support 

Often, CE screening or assessment may identify wider contextual factors that may not necessarily meet the 

definition of exploitation, or there may be no signs of evidence of exploitation based on the information at 

hand.  

Safeguarding professionals can seek a consultation on non-exploitation contextual safeguarding by 

contacting the Wirral Complex and Contextual Safeguarding Team on.  

complexandcontextualsafeguardingteam@wirral.gov.uk 

 

Serious Organised Crime – OCGs, Gangs and Factions 

Local Policing colleagues in Wirral lead a weekly Threat, Harm and Risk process where current or emerging 

issues are identified, and oversight is provided on the activity undertaken in Wirral to reduce the risk of 

harm from such issues.  

 

Events and incidents that may require additional coordination can be identified through this process; and 

more urgent critical incidents will generate bespoke coordination meeting into which partners are included 

Page 39

mailto:complexandcontextualsafeguardingteam@wirral.gov.uk


24 
 

to ensure safeguarding responses are considered and coordinated. The Wirral Safeguarding Partnership 

has established practice in this area under the ‘WSCP Response to Critical Incidents’ guidance developed in 

early 2020.  

 

Organised Crime Groups (OCGs) are mapped and tasked through the Merseyside Police Force Intelligence 

Bureau (FIB) for targeted activity and Wirral Local Policing has a dedicated Serious and Organised Crime 

operational lead who links with Children’s Services and partners in relation to OCG and serious organised 

crime related matters where there are safeguarding concerns.   

 

Those organised crime groups who are assessed as impacting upon vulnerable people, including children, 

are the subject of focused disruption and prevention activity to tackle their offending behaviour.  

 

Crime, Anti-Social Behaviour and Harmful Sexual Behaviours 

The Youth Justice Service (YJS) leads on the partnership response to young people at risk of being drawn 

into crime and anti-social behaviour. This may include offences or concerning behaviour linked to ‘Teenage 

Relationship Abuse’. The work of the YJS is overseen by the Youth Justice Management Board. 

 

The YJS adopts a multi-agency approach and is developing practice towards adopting an Enhanced Case 

Management style of working. This is aimed at working differently with the smaller cohort of young people 

with complex needs and considering ACEs and Trauma Informed approaches to working alongside them. 

The below link provides further information on the activity undertaken by the Wirral YJS.  

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/crime-reduction/youth-offending-service 

 

The YJS provide support for young people where Harmful Sexual Behaviours have been identified. HSB 

(also called sexually harmful behaviour) is the term used to describe children or young people who display 

sexually harmful behaviours to other children, young people, or adults.  

 

This support may be through a statutory intervention, or a preventative work with a young person and 

their family. More information can be found via the following link:  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/harmful-sexual-behaviour/ 
 

Lauren  
 
I started carrying a weapon to protect myself – I was referred to the Youth Justice Service. Professionals 
were really worried about me, especially my Youth Justice Worker whom I have an okay relationship 
with, like, she understands me a bit more than most. Sometimes I’m aggressive, it’s because I’m frustrated. 
I’m my own person and I just want to be treated like an adult, but then sometimes I don’t even know 
myself why I get so angry.  
 
 

 

Radicalisation 

Extremist messages can have a powerful impact on someone who is young and vulnerable; possibly unsure 

of their path in life, and who may lack confidence.  Channel is a national project that has been put in place 

to safeguard individuals who may be vulnerable to recruitment by violent extremists.  

 

Channel assesses the nature and extent of the potential risk to an individual and, where necessary, 

provides an appropriate support package tailored to their needs. This decision is made by a multi-agency 

 

Page 40

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/crime-reduction/youth-offending-service
https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/harmful-sexual-behaviour/


25 
 

panel and may include diversionary activities and/or support from services such as education, housing, 

employment, and mentoring designed to help them resist those who may be seeking to harm them or 

others. 

 

The response to radicalisation is overseen by the local Counter Terrorism Prevent partnership governance, 

supported by Children’s services. The safeguarding partnership link, below, can provide further 

information. 

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/radicalisation-and-extremism/ 

 

Wider Contexts:  

Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership have resources and briefings relating to Exploitation, Missing and 

Contextual Safeguarding. The below website should be accessed to review current resources and 

partnership activity.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/contextual-safeguarding/ 

The Contextual Safeguarding Network has very useful tools and research on responding to contextual 

safeguarding concerns: school, peers, community and neighbourhood or online risks.  

www.contextualsafeguarding.org.uk 

Issues raised by young people locally:  

• Hate Crime and Mate Crime 

Disability hate crime is the general term used to describe any criminal offence that is motivated by 

hostility or prejudice based upon a person’s disability.  

Mate crime happens when someone pretends to be a friend, then uses a young person instead. A 

‘mate’ may be a friend, family member, supporter, paid staff, or another person with a disability. 

The Wirral Children’s Safeguarding Partnership has provided some further information for 

professionals and children experiencing these issues.  

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/hate-crime-and-mate-crime/ 

• Bullying 

In consultation, young people highlighted bullying as a concern they have. This may not develop 

into something as formal as a Hate crime but can have a significant impact on the health and 

wellbeing of young people – and has the potential to make them more vulnerable to other type of 

harm.  

Our activity to support and protect vulnerable adolescents will include those issues highlighted by our 

young people locally.  

Other Services 

Adolescent Response Team:  

Children’s Services have a dedicated team working with young people who may be at the edge of statutory 

services.  

The Adolescent Response Team (ART) purpose is to prevent young people becoming looked after and 

support their transition back into the family home, after becoming looked after.   

Page 41

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/radicalisation-and-extremism/
https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/contextual-safeguarding/
http://www.contextualsafeguarding.org.uk/
https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/hate-crime-and-mate-crime/


26 
 

ART will also work within level 3 of the continuum of need, to provide interventions over a period to 

prevent cases being escalated to social care. ART works with families where there is a young person 

present (age 11-18) and they may require some additional help and support.  

Early Help:  

Under the banner of ‘Community Matters’ agencies and commissioned partners work with Children’s 

Services at lower thresholds of need. Community Matters is developing the Early Help model, working with 

the community and providers; and supported by Capacity Lab. It is recognised that the work undertaken 

within the Early Help arena connects with the aims of this strategy. Colleagues from within the Early Help 

arena are represented within the governance arrangements associated to the Safer Adolescence Strategy.  

Youth Matters and The Youth Collective:  

Youth services within the council operate under the collaborative brand of Youth Matters. These services 

engage and support young people through direct work, group work and therapeutic support – using 

outreach, activity, play and creative platforms. The Wirral Council Youth Matters teams form part of a 

wider Youth Collective, incorporating youth workers and services across Wirral. This collective has come 

together through 2020, with the common purpose of working with young people.  

 

11. Evaluation and Monitoring  

Wirral Safeguarding Children’s Partnership is a multi-agency partnership of organisations who agree how 

to work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. The WSCP is led by the three statutory 

safeguarding partners of the Local Authority, Merseyside Police and Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group.  

The delivery plan supporting this strategy will be subject to partnership oversight via the WSCP Contextual 

Safeguarding Committee and reporting the WSCP executive on progress.  

Where appropriate, activity that is led or developed through other forums will be cross referenced in the 

WSCP CSC work plan and a lead member of the committee identified to report on progress.  

The strategy is aligned to priorities of Wirral Council’s Plan 2025:  

- Brighter Futures: For our children, young people, and their families. 

- Safe and Pleasant Communities: Protecting our most vulnerable residents. 

Progress against the delivery of this strategy will be subject of reporting into the Wirral Metropolitan 

Borough Council Children, Young People and Education Committee.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



27 
 

 

 

Holly 

Soon I’m going to be 18, and I work part time and after my birthday I have got a full-time job lined up, in 
a role I’ve wanted to do for ages. I have got plans to go to college to do more training and I want to 
spend more time with my mum. 

 

 

 

 

 

Photograph of a young person sat at a train station.   

 

 

 

 

Photograph of a young person riding in a skate park.  

 

 

 

 

 

Lauren 

I am about to start attending an 
alternative provision and getting support 
with an education plan. Professionals 
understand me better, although I am still 
trying to make sense of the world.  

 

Dom 

Life is now more normal. I feel safe now 
and am building up my confidence. I 
have new friends; I enjoy learning and go 
to college 2 days a week doing mechanics.  

 

Page 43



28 
 

Appendix A – Delivery of Strategic Aims 

The delivery plan identifies activity that will embed the strategic aims into core business. The development 

of the contextual safeguarding framework and associated operational processes will form part of the WSCP 

Contextual Safeguarding Committee Work Plan for 2021/22 and be tracked through the WSCP committee 

structure and Executive.  

Data tracking and auditing through ‘deep dive’ activity and statutory audit work throughout the period of 

this strategy will allow the partnership to track impact.  

Action 
Ref 

Action Lead Timescale  

 

1. Promote a more strategic preventative approach to adolescent safety by raising awareness of 
associated vulnerabilities. 

1.1 Develop communications for key 
stakeholders.  

WSCP  April 2021 

1.2  Create a partnership data set to track 
levels of associated vulnerability and 
specific harm categories. Reporting to 
WSCP and wider governance as 
appropriate - identified through Actions 
1.3 and 4.1 below.  

Performance and 
Improvement/Wirral 
Intelligence Service.  

May 2021 

1.3  Ensure WSCP CSC links to wider Wirral 
Governance forums (Section 9, Page 21).  

WSCP CSC  May 2021 

1.4  Establish WSCP SAS link to WMBC 
Prevention development.  

WSCP CSC Chair  March 2021 

 

2. Enhance our collective understanding of what is meant by ‘extra-familial harm’, or ‘risk outside the 
home’. 

2.1 As with Action 1.1. Include 
associated/linked vulnerabilities and 
specific harm types as per Section 1 of the 
WSCP SAS.  

WSCP April 2021 

 

3. Embed a shared set of partnership principles and values for working with adolescents. 

3.1 Develop specific training resource for 
partners against the principles and values 
of the WSCP SAS.  

WSCP CSC June 2021 

3.2 Include Principles and values within 
scheduled WSCP Audits for extra familial 
harm/risk outside the home and other 
audits/QA activity linked to adolescents.  

WSCP CSC  April 2021 

Page 44



29 
 

3.3  Develop Youth Voice engagement & 
feedback across areas aligned to WSCP 
SAS.   

WSCP CSC June 2021 

 

4. Develop a Wirral contextual safeguarding framework. 

4.1 Create specific task and finish strand for 
WSCP Contextual Safeguarding 
Committee.  

WSCP CSC  April 2021 

4.2 Review the WSCP CSC Work Plan and 
Terms of Reference to consider WSCP SAS 
themes.  

WSCP CSC  April 2021 

The above table shows the WSCP action plan for delivering the strategic aims.  

WSCP CSC: Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership Contextual Safeguarding Committee. 

SAS: Safer Adolescence Strategy.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



30 
 

Appendix B – Contextual Safeguarding Committee  

Purpose  

• To ensure effective multi-agency action is taken to combat the exploitation of children and those 

who go missing, to develop an approach to contextual safeguarding and provide assurance to the 

safeguarding partners about the effectiveness of arrangements.  

• To provide strategic oversight of the MACE (Child Exploitation) process.  

Responsibilities   

• Oversee the effectiveness of multi-agency arrangements to safeguard children from contextual 

extra familial risks.  

• Ensure the effectiveness of the MACE process.  

• Challenge and hold each other to account.  

• Oversee development and completion of the multi-agency Contextual safeguarding work plan.  

• Oversee the multi-agency approach to Contextual Safeguarding across the continuum of need, 

including training.   

• Lead on awareness raising activity.  

• Undertake/ commission audit and quality assurance activity.  

• Ensure all missing and exploitation, contextual safeguarding and related policies and procedures 

are fit for purpose and up to date.  

• Share information and intelligence, including that related to gang and criminal groups.  

• Maintain oversight of police intelligence, and disruption activities.  

• Ensure activity is understood by and informed by the voice of children and young people.  

Membership   

• Head of Service Contextual Safeguarding.  

• Detective Chief Inspector, Merseyside Police.   

• Head of Service, YJS.  

• Head of Service Family Matters.  

• Head of Service, Children’s Social Care.  

• Service Manager, Safeguarding Unit.  

• Head of Service, School and Communities.  

• Head of Service, School Effectiveness.  

• Local Policing Representative.  

• Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Children and CLA.  

• Named Nurses for Safeguarding.  

• Public Health Consultant.  

• Headteacher Secondary.  

• Consultant Headteacher Primary.  

• Team Manager, Complex Safeguarding Team.  

• Team Manager, Detached Youth Work.  

• Anti-social Behaviour Manager.  

• Compass Team Manager.  

• Service Manager, Catch22.  

• LA Licensing Manager.  

• WSCP Lay Member.  

• WSCP Manager and Quality Auditor.  

• Safeguarding Adults Board Manager.  

Page 46



31 
 

Appendix C – Services Aligned with Vulnerabilities and Harm  

 

The below graphic shows some of the teams and services operating within the context of the WSCP 

Safer Adolescence Strategy. The teams and services are aligned to the level at which they may 

typically interact with the associated vulnerabilities and harm.  

Many services operate across this spectrum and can support young people both in a preventative 

context and with more acute need. 

 

 

The above graphic shows services and teams that operate in Wirral and their relationship to associated 

vulnerability and harm.  

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE & EDUCATION COMMITTEE
Thursday, 11 March 2021

REPORT TITLE: WIRRAL PUPIL PLACE PLANNING STRATEGY 2021-
2026

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR FOR CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND 
EDUCATION

REPORT SUMMARY

Wirral Council is committed to ensuring that all Wirral children can attend schools that are 
efficient, viable and provide the best possible education which meets their needs.

The Council has a statutory responsibility to ensure there are sufficient school places 
available for children and young people in the right locations and at the right time to meet 
demand. This includes both maintained and Academy schools. The Council also has a duty 
to identify how it will remedy any excess or insufficiency in the provision of school places for 
children. 

The Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021-26 (attached at appendix 1) sets out a transparent 
and equitable approach for pupil place planning over the next five years. Fundamental to 
the Strategy is a set of key principles which will underpin the review process to provide 
consistency and result in positive outcomes for future provision. The principles include a 
commitment to:

 Using detailed and meaningful insight and data to allow accurate and robust 
forecasting

 Taking a collaborative approach and a commitment to work with all schools and 
stakeholders in ensuring they are consulted and involved

 Maintaining a focus on inclusion so that children with different needs are offered high 
quality education which meets their need

 Ensuring that children’s educational outcomes and attainment are at the forefront of 
decision-making

In addition to the principles, the Strategy sets out a detailed appraisal and governance 
framework to guide the review planning and ensure legitimacy for decisions. It sets out the 
methodology for forecasting pupil places in line with national guidance as well as the wider 
influences which impact on demand predictions. It also proposes a phased approach for 
reviews over the next five years to enable appropriate planning, consultation and legal 
compliance to be carried out. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



The Strategy supports the Council’s wider vision to secure ‘Brighter Futures’ for children 
and young people. 

This is a key decision as it impacts on all wards.

RECOMMENDATION

The Children, Young People and Education Committee is requested to review and endorse 
the Wirral Pupil Place Planning Strategy.
 

Page 50



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The recommendation supports the Council in fulfilling its statutory duty to secure 
sufficient places for school pupils in Wirral.

1.2 The recommendation enables the Council to set out a transparent and robust 
process for reviewing pupil places across the borough to address any excess or 
insufficiency.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Do nothing: It is important the Council meets its statutory duty to secure sufficient 
school places for children in Wirral. Failing to set out a robust process for reviewing 
pupil provision creates a risk that the Council will not fulfil this statutory duty. 

 
2.2 One option to bring only specific planning recommendations prior to agreeing a 

holistic approach, was considered and discounted. There is a pertinent need to 
ensure a transparent and legitimate approach to pupil planning is agreed in the first 
instance to reduce risk of challenge and to secure wider organisational support.  

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Education Act 1996 set out a requirement for all local authorities to ensure there 
are sufficient school places for children in their area. This includes setting out how 
they will remedy any excess or insufficiency in provision. 

3.2 The former School Organisation Plan set out how the Council would meet its 
responsibility to secure sufficient education provision. The requirement to publish a 
formal School Organisation Plan was removed in 2014, however the Plan 
information has been updated on an ongoing basis to continue to monitor 
requirements, identify emerging need and inform sufficiency planning. 

3.3 The purpose of the Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021 – 2026 is to refresh the 
previous strategy to take account of legislative changes whilst also setting out a 
robust framework for pupil place planning alongside a suggested schedule of 
reviews to take place over the next five years.

3.4 The Strategy is structured around four main strategic headings:

a) Context: This provides national context around pupil numbers, local population 
statistics and provides a profile of schools in Wirral, which includes type and status 
of schools. 

b) Vision and principles: This section outlines the purpose of the Strategy and what 
provision will be scope of reviews. It sets the strategic vision to “to ensure that 

Page 51



Wirral’s children attend local schools that are efficient, viable and provide the best 
possible educational standards to meet their needs”. This section also sets out eight 
key principles which will underpin pupil place planning reviews. 

c) Influences: This section identifies the key considerations which will influence pupil 
place planning and must be considered as part of reviews. This includes, although 
not exclusive to, current and future housing developments, priorities within the 
School Capital Programme for major school infrastructure projects, education 
standards and school size and viability. 

d) Approach: The Strategy outlines the pupil place planning areas, of which there are 
21 in primary and one in secondary. It identifies the methodology used to predict 
pupil numbers and demand for places and what other factors are included within the 
projections, for example, faith preferences. The review process and approach are 
also detailed within this section and include:

 An appraisal framework which will guide the review process, ensuring that 
relevant and meaningful information is considered

 Potential outcomes which may result from reviews
 Legal framework and requirements which will be adhered to as part of any 

proposal for significant change
 Consultation and approval processes

3.5 In the final section, the Strategy sets out a schedule of reviews for all areas over the 
next five years. Given the nature of the planning areas and the schools within it, the 
timetable is intended to present a logical model by proposing to review neighbouring 
planning areas in the same phase.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no specific financial implications arising out of this report. However, there 
are several financial considerations which will be considered as part of the pupil 
place reviews. These include:

a) Schools Capital Programme: The Council’s allocation for the school’s capital 
programme is based on the submission from the Local Authority via the Schools 
Capacity Survey (SCAP). The allocation allows for the maintenance and 
development of the school estate. The Capital allocation, however, may not be 
sufficient to support major infrastructure developments which may recommended 
from the reviews. It is therefore important that these considerations are factored 
into pupil place planning review and appropriate measures are put in place to 
secure relevant investment if this is required. 

b) School viability: The review process will consider school financial viability and the 
long-term impact on viability in relation to increasing or falling pupil numbers. 
Reviews are intended to ensure schools are financially sustainable and can 
support improved outcomes for children. 

Page 52



4.2 It is not intended that review will result in any significant financial detrimental impact 
for the local authority. However, robust financial support and monitoring will continue 
to be required to mitigate any potential risk. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Education Act 1996 set out a requirement for all local authorities to ensure there 
are sufficient school places for children in their area. Whilst the proposal to review 
school provision does not have any specific legal implications, due regard will need 
to be given to the legal requirements which may result from recommendations for 
significant change to school organisation. Sound legal oversight will therefore be 
essential as part of the review process to ensure that the relevant legislative 
processes are in place.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The Strategy sets out an ambitious schedule to review all pupil areas over five years. 
Whilst it is anticipated that much of the work to deliver the strategy can be carried out 
using existing resources, there will be significant input and commitment required 
from Council officers and directorates. Robust data and intelligence will also be 
required, utilising resource from the Council insight and data teams. 

6.2 There are no significant asset implications arising out of the report. However, it will 
be essential for the Strategy to be aligned with the Council’s strategic vision for 
assets and complement any major infrastructure developments or planning 
ambitions. The insight from relevant strategic asset and planning officers will be 
essential in the review process to ensure that any potential recommendations are 
aligned.  

6.3 There are no significant ICT implications arising out of the report. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Strategy intends to provide a transparent framework for the undertaking of pupil 
place planning reviews and ensure that potential outcomes are supported. There will 
always be a risk, however, that the Strategy is unable to deliver on the proposals set 
out due to unforeseen issues/circumstance. Arrangements to consult early, 
frequently and in line with legal responsibilities are intended to mitigate this risk. 

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Consultation on the draft Strategy has been carried out with:
o elected members
o schools (primary, secondary and special)
o Council officers including children’s SLT

8.2 Any relevant feedback will be incorporated within the Strategy.

Page 53



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help Council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

a) Yes, and impact review is attached –

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to:

- Reduce emissions of CO2             

REPORT AUTHOR: Hannah Myers
(Hannah Myers, Performance and Improvement Manager)
Telephone:  07786114735
email:  hannahmyers@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Wirral Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021- 2026

BACKGROUND PAPERS

DfE School Organisation guidance

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/school-organisation


WIRRAL PUPIL PLACE  
PLANNING STRATEGY 
2021-2026
March 2021

Wirral Plan 2025

P
age 55



2 

FOREWORD 

Wirral Council is committed to ensure that Wirral children can attend local schools that provide high 
quality education which meets their needs and are efficient and viable. We want to promote and create 
a culture of inclusion to ensure that the life chances of every child and young person are maximised 
and so that vulnerable children can reach their full potential.  

The  Council  has  a  statutory  responsibility  to  ensure  there  are  sufficient  school  places  available  for 
children and young people in the right locations and at the right time to meet demand. This includes both maintained and Academy schools. 

The School Organisation Plan 2003 set out how we would meet our responsibility to secure sufficient education provision. This was followed by ongoing 
updates to continue to monitor requirements, identify emerging need and new projects and inform sufficiency strategy. The purpose of the Pupil Place 
Planning Strategy 2021 – 2026 is to refresh the previous strategy to take account of legislative changes whilst also setting out a robust framework for 
reviewing pupil place planning alongside a suggested schedule of reviews to take place over the next five years.  

The Strategy set out a series of key principles which will underpin pupil place planning and will ensure that any future proposals are made in line with 
the principles and agreed framework as set out. Fundamental to this is: 

 Using detailed and meaningful insight and data to allow accurate and robust forecasting
 Taking a collaborative approach and a commitment to work with all schools and stakeholders in ensuring they are consulted and involved
 Maintaining a focus on inclusion so that children with different needs are offered high quality education which meets their need
 Ensuring that children’s educational outcomes and attainment are at the forefront of decision‐making.

As a council, we are embarking on an exciting change journey across our education sector. We have already identified opportunities and priorities for 
change, and these are providing our focus and momentum moving forward. The Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021 – 2026 not only ensures we adhere 
to our statutory responsibilities but will enable us to revitalise focus on our school places, ensuring that Wirral children are provided with inclusive, 
local education which meets their needs.  

Paul Boyce, Director for Children, Families and Education            Councillor Wendy Clements  

P
age 56



 

3 
 

CONTENTS 

       

Foreword  2     

Strategic Context  4  Strategic approach  19 

 About Wirral  4   School place planning areas  19 

 Legislative framework  5   Pupil forecasting  21 

 National context  6   Other factors considered within projections  23 

 Local context  8   Pupil Place Planning Review Framework  24 

 Wirral School Profile  9   Learning  28 

Strategic vision  12   Pupil Place Planning Reviews  29 

 Purpose of the Strategy  12     

 What is not covered by the Strategy  12     

 Vision and principles  14     

 Supporting Wirral’s 2025 Vision  14     

Strategic Influences  15     

 Planning and housing developments  15     

 Capital funding – schools  15     

 Educational standards  16     

 Promoting inclusion  17     

 School size and viability  18     

 

P
age 57



 

4 
 

STRATEGIC CONTEXT 

ABOUT WIRRAL 

 

Wirral is a large metropolitan area covering the northern 60 square miles of the peninsula between the Dee and Mersey Estuaries. Wirral is well known 
for the high quality of its countryside and coast, and transport links to Liverpool, Chester and North Wales.  

The Borough is an area of strong contrasts. The predominantly built‐up eastern area opposite Liverpool, forms part of the core of the Merseyside 
conurbation. Almost two‐thirds of the population live within the urban area to the east of the M53 motorway, between the coastal resort of New 
Brighton in the north, to the entrance of the Manchester Ship Canal in the south. Birkenhead, located at the heart of east Wirral, is the largest town 
within the area, historically built around the maritime trades associated with the Mersey docklands. The 
west of the Borough is characterised by a series of largely dormitory residential settlements surrounded 
by open countryside, of which over 60% is still used for farming.  

The population of Wirral is 322,796 (ONS, 2018) with an economically active population of 155,300 (ONS 
2018). The proportion of people of working age, particularly of younger adults, is at its highest in central 
and inner areas of east Wirral. The proportion of older age groups is generally larger in the west. The 
proportion of children is also higher in east Wirral. 20% of children are living in poverty compared to 
17% across England. Although Wirral’s overall ranking for deprivation has gone down between 2015 and 
2019,  the number of LSOAs  in  the most deprived 20% of areas  in England has  increased by 10. This 
means that an additional 20,000 residents are now classed as living in deprivation compared to 2015 
(IMD 2019). 

The main  areas  of  deprivation  are  concentrated  in  the  east  of  the  Borough  –  Birkenhead,  Bidston, 
Seacombe and Rock Ferry. There are pockets of deprivation in the south and west of Wirral, including 
the Mill Park area of Eastham, the Acre Lane area of Bromborough, Prenton Dell in Prenton, Woodchurch, 
Overchurch,  Moreton,  Leasowe  and  the  Greenbank  Road  area  of  West  Kirby.  There  is  a  significant 
concentration  of  social  housing  in  east  and  central Wirral,  these  areas  often  correlate with  areas  of 
greatest socio‐economic need. 

This map shows areas classed as being in the 
most 20% most deprived in Wirral 

P
age 58



 

5 
 

LEGISLATIVE FRAMEWORK 

 

This Strategy is underpinned by legislation including: 

 The Education Act 1996: Local authorities have a duty under section 14 of the Education Act 1996 to secure that sufficient schools are 
available for their area to provide primary and secondary education. To do this, local authorities are required to produce information about 
the number of registered pupils and the capacity of schools in their area. This information is used to monitor the provision of places 
nationally, assess current and future shortfalls in school capacity and to inform the calculation of basic need capital allocations to support 
new pupil places. The data also informs the locations and sizes of new schools, or school expansions, provided through centrally funded 
capital programmes.    

 The Information as to Provision of Education (England) Regulations 2016: These regulations require local authorities to submit School 
Capacity surveys each year based on guided methodology and forecasts.  

 The Education and Inspections Act 2006: This Act changed the way in which education provision is established and aimed to empower 
schools by devolving decision making to them. It also increased the strategic role of local authorities as champions of pupils and parents, and 
a duty to act as commissioner of school places, rather than provider. The Education and Inspections Act 2006 also made provision to increase 
opportunities for parental choice and ensure fair access to educational opportunity.  

 Section 37 of the Education Act 2011 requires Local Authorities to seek proposals for the establishment of an Academy or Free School 
whenever they identify a need for a new school; the “Academy/Free School presumption”. 

This legislation underpins much of the planning around pupil places within Wirral, will be regarded and considered as part of future development. 
Any proposals moving forward and aligned to this Strategy will adhere to this and other relevant legislation and specific responsibilities around 
significant change to school provision.     

P
age 59



 

6 
 

NATIONAL CONTEXT 

 

National Pupil Projections 

The most recent national data on pupil projections for England was released in July 2020 and provides projections are based on: 

 new mid‐2018 ONS national population projections published in October 2019. 
 ONS monthly births data up to and including 2018; and, 
 School Census data up to and including January 2020. 
 
 
This data, (which is reviewed annually) shows that the population in state funded schools 
is projected to decrease by 408,000 (to 7,370,000) over the next ten years to 2030, a total 
rate of decrease for the whole period of 5.2%.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

Pupil projections  2020 January 
actual population in 2018  8,082,120   
actual population in 2019  8,180,743  1.21 
actual population in 2020  8,258,194  0.94 
projection for 2021  8,314,771  0.68 
projection for 2022  8,340,128  0.30 
projection for 2023  8,335,451  ‐0.06 
projection for 2024  8,296,696  ‐0.47 
projection for 2025  8,233,773  ‐0.76 
projection for 2026  8,170,753  ‐0.77 
projection for 2027  8,094,646  ‐0.94 
projection for 2028  8,006,289  ‐1.10 
projection for 2029  7,919,593  ‐1.09 
projection for 2030  7,851,676  ‐0.87 

 
Total state‐funded schools  2020  2021  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026 
Numbers in 000’s  7,778  7,833  7,858  7,854  7,815  7,752  7,689 
year on year change   55  25  ‐4  ‐39  ‐63  ‐63 

%  0.70  0.32  ‐0.05  ‐0.50  ‐0.81  ‐0.82 

P
age 60



 

7 
 

Analysis by cohort 

The nursery and primary school population which has been rising since 2009, has now plateaued. This is primarily due to the fall in births in 
2013 which is now feeding into the main school population. This drop is expected to continue for the whole projection period to 2030. The fall 
is steeper than previously projected due to lower births recorded since the end of 2016. 

 

 

 

The secondary school population began rising in 2016 and is projected to continue increasing until 2024 before gradually dropping. The peak 
and then fall is primarily due to the lower births seen in 2013 and beyond, which start to reach secondary school age in around 2025. 

 

 

 

 

The population in special schools has been increasing for several years, at least partly driven by the increase in the overall population, and this 
is projected to continue until 2024, before also very gradually dropping. 

State‐funded special schools  2020  2021  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026 
Numbers in 000’s  113  116  119  120  121  120  119 
year on year change   3  3  1  1  ‐1  ‐1 

  %  2.59  2.52  0.83  0.83  ‐0.83  ‐0.84 

State‐funded nursery & primary schools 2020  2021  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026 
Numbers in 000’s  4,647  4,631  4,593  4,527  4,450  4,391  4,342 
year on year change   ‐16  ‐38  ‐66  ‐77  ‐59  ‐49 
 %  ‐0.35  ‐0.83  ‐1.46  ‐1.73  ‐1.34  ‐1.13 

State‐funded secondary schools  2020  2021  2022  2023  2024  2025  2026 
Numbers in 000’s  3,003  3,069  3,130  3,189  3,227  3,223  3,210 
year on year change   66  61  59  38  ‐4  ‐13 

  %  2.15  1.95  1.85  1.18  ‐0.12  ‐0.40 

P
age 61



 

8 
 

LOCAL CONTEXT 

Pupil Projections 

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) produces 25‐year projections by 
quaternary age group for each local authority area. 

Primary  

For Wirral, the ONS are currently projecting the primage age population to 
decrease to 2032‐2033, then rise gradually again to 2043. There are 
projected to be 3,800 fewer children than the current point by 2032‐33, 
with the level in 2043 remaining ~2,300 below current levels. 

This  fall may not be equally distributed across Wirral and some areas and 
some schools are likely to be affected more than others. The local authority 
produces  detailed  5‐year  projections  by  small  planning  area  and  school 
considering  local  factors.  In  January  2019  across Wirral  there were  2,442 
vacant places in primary schools (~9%) – this is expected to increase by 2026 
to 4,868 places (~17%). 

Secondary 

In secondary schools, the ONS project that the number of secondary age 
children will rise by approximately 2,300 pupils from 2020 to 2026, followed 
by a decline resulting in about 2,400 pupils below the 2020 level to 2043.  

   

32,000

34,000

36,000

38,000

40,000

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

20
36

20
37

20
38

20
39

20
40

20
41

20
42

20
43

Wirral pupils aged 0 to 9 from 2018 and projected to 2043 
(ONS 2018)

0 to 9

32,000
33,000
34,000
35,000
36,000
37,000
38,000
39,000
40,000

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

20
36

20
37

20
38

20
39

20
40

20
41

20
42

20
43

Wirral pupils aged 10 to 19 from 2018 and projected to 
2043 (ONS 2018)

10 to 19

This graph shows number of Wirral pupils aged 0‐9 from 2018 with a decline to 2030  
and then slow increase to 2043 

This graph shows number of Wirral pupils 10 to 19 from 2018 and projected to 2043 
with an increase to 2027 and then steady decline to 2043 (ONS 2018). 

P
age 62



 

9 
 

WIRRAL SCHOOL PROFILE 

 

There are 125 schools in Wirral. This includes 94 
primary schools, including infant and junior schools 
and 20 secondary schools. There are 10 special 
schools, 5 primary and 5 secondary.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This map shows the location of school by type including 
primary, secondary, special, nursery and independent 
schools and post 16 – colleges. 

P
age 63



 

10 
 

 

Primary (including maintained nursery) 

There are 79 primary schools and 12 standalone infant 
or junior schools. Wirral has 3 maintained nurseries.  

 

Secondary 

There are 5 secondary schools which provide education 
for pupils aged 11 to 16 and 15 schools which provide 
education for pupils up to 19.  

 

 

Special 

There are 10 special schools in Wirral: four catering 
for Complex Learning Difficulties, two are primary and 
two are secondary; two cater for Moderate Learning 
Difficulties and Autistic Spectrum Condition (one 
primary and one secondary), one caters for Specific 
Learning Difficulties and Autistic Spectrum Condition 
at primary and three cater for Social, Emotional and Mental Health (one primary and two secondary).  

In addition, there is a Hospital School. 

There are 12 resource bases in primary schools and 4 in secondary schools. These are all operated in very different ways and were established by the 
local authority to promote inclusive opportunities for children and young people. 

  Primary  Infant/Junior  Nursery 
Community or voluntary controlled  45  8  3 
Voluntary aided  23  2  0 
Academy  11  2  0 
Foundation  0  0  0 
Total  79  12  3 

  Secondary 11 ‐ 16  Secondary 11‐19 
Community or voluntary controlled  0  1 
Voluntary aided  0  0 
Academy  3  13 
Foundation  2  1 
Total   5  15 

  Special Primary  Special Secondary  Hospital 
Community or voluntary controlled  5  5  1 
Voluntary aided  0  0  0 
Academy  0  0  0 
Foundation  0  0  0 
Total  5  5  1 

P
age 64



 

11 
 

School status 

The school provision in Wirral incorporates faith, selective, single and mixed sex schools including a single sex primary school.  

  Primary (Incl. infant)  Secondary  Special 
RC  19  4  0 
Co‐Education  12  0  0 
Single Sex  1  10  1 
Selective  0  6  0 
 

The Local Authority retains a responsibility to plan school places for children aged 5 to 16 within its area – this includes all state‐funded schools 
regardless of type or control. 

Private and independent schools are not state funded. The closure of two private schools over the last few years has created increased demand for 
mainstream school places.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 65



 

12 
 

STRATEGIC VISION 

PURPOSE OF THE STRATEGY 

The purpose of the Wirral Pupil Place Planning Strategy is to set out a framework for the review of school planning areas which will enable the 
council to meet its statutory duty and ensure the provision of suitable and sufficiency places for school aged pupils. The Strategy sets out how we will 
work with key partners to shape education provision through a transparent and equitable approach which will lead to supported decision making. 

Fundamental to the Strategy is: 

 A clear vision and principles to maintain integrity of pupil place planning review 
 Identified forecasting methodology which predicts future demand for places 
 Wider factors which influence demand 
 Key influences which must be considered as part of our approach to sufficiency 
 A strategic approach within a transparent review and consultation process, ensuring that key stakeholders are engaged throughout  
 Identified priority areas, aligned to relevant ‘trigger points’ which will be the focus of reviews over the next 12‐24 months 
 Ambitious, yet realistic review timetable 

The Strategy is to be shared and supported across the education and local government landscape as well as with parents, pupils and the community 
to ensure there is borough‐wide support and acknowledgement for plans and aspirations. Stakeholders recognise that this Strategy sits within a 
wider context and the need to continue to promote high standards of education and inclusion for all.  

What is not covered by the Strategy? 

Early years settings 

This Strategy does not intend to incorporate the statutory duty under the Childcare Act 2006 to ensure there is enough childcare for families in the 
area. The responsibility for meeting this duty is carried out within a separate framework and outlined as part of the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 
Report 2021‐2022. This report indicates that there are sufficient childcare places available and accessible across the borough to meet the current and 
projected needs of children of all ages. 

P
age 66



 

13 
 

It is proposed, however, that considering recent changes to funding for early years providers that the borough’s‐maintained nursery school provision 
is included within the scope of this Strategy. National changes to the funding rate for early years providers has meant that all childcare providers, 
including the private and voluntary and independent (PVI) sector, maintained nursery schools and nursery classes that are part of schools, are funded 
equitably on a locally agreed universal base rate. It is expected because of this and given that nursery schools have higher running costs than the PVI 
sector, nursery school budgets will be significantly impacted in the coming years. 

Given the above, it is valid to examine the current nursery provision within this Strategy and how the needs of the community could best be met. The 
three nursery schools that would apply in this regard are: Somerville Nursery School in South Wallasey, which is federated with Somerville Primary 
School; Leasowe Early Years Centre in Leasowe, which is federated with Castleway Primary School and Ganneys Meadow Early Years Centre in 
Woodchurch.  

Post‐16 provision 

Post‐16 place planning is not a duty for the Local Authority and will not be specifically examined in the Strategy, however, when considering secondary 
provision, the impact of any change on the availability of post‐16 educational places will be considered.  

Special School Provision 

Previous and ongoing reviews of high needs places for pupils is continuing and will complement this Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021 – 2026. The 
development of a Special School Sufficiency Strategy will sit alongside this Strategy and will explore and understand complex pupil forecasting for 
special school places as well as the wider factors which influence demand for places e.g. parental preference.  

This Pupil Place Planning Strategy will  consider and  review the specific additional needs of pupils within  the  local planning area with  the view to 
maintaining a focus on inclusion and seeking to meet the needs of all pupils within mainstream provision.  

   

P
age 67



 

14 
 

VISION AND PRINCIPLES 

 

VISION FOR PUPIL PLACE PLANNING 

Our vision is “to ensure that Wirral’s children attend local schools that provide high quality education, are efficient, viable and 
provide the best possible educational standards to meet their needs” 

PRINCIPLES 

1. We will be fair, thorough, and respectful in our approach to Pupil Place planning reviews 

2. We will follow and adhere to all legal requirements, seeking relevant advice and guidance where this is applicable 

3. We will work with partners, and involve key stakeholders in pupil place planning where this is relevant and necessary 

4. We will consult with schools, parents, and local communities as part of the pupil place planning process 

5. We will utilise robust insight, intelligence, and data to underpin a robust methodology and analysis 

6. We will always consider how our efforts will improve educational outcomes for children and young people  

7. We will consider the efficiency and effectiveness of education provisions as part of pupil place planning 

8. We will prioritise and focus on inclusion, ensuring that children with special educational needs and disabilities are at the forefront of 

considerations throughout 

We will use the principles to guide what we do in reviewing pupil places in Wirral. Our focus will be maintaining integrity, support and commitment to 
ensure that children have access to a school place.  

Supporting Wirral’s 2025 Plan: The Pupil Place Planning Strategy seeks to support the vision and pledges of the council and partners, particularly 
ensuring  that we  can provide brighter  futures  for  our  young people  and  families.  Equally  this  strategy  supports  the  creation of  safe  and  vibrant 
communities in which education provision creates environments for parents to want to live and bring up their children.    

P
age 68



 

15 
 

STRATEGIC INFLUENCES 

 

Planning and housing developments  

Wirral Council Local Plan will set out an approach and detailed policy for development across the whole Borough for the period up to 2037. The Local 
Plan will shape how the Borough develops, attracting and guiding investment in the Borough from the private sector, the Council  itself, and other 
public bodies. Such investment will include new homes, new offices and employment opportunities, colleges and schools, shops and leisure centres, 
and health facilities as well as improvements to existing infrastructure including green infrastructure.   

Wirral Council has a housing requirement of 14,450 dwellings over the 17‐year plan period, 800 per annum. The preferred option is to deliver these 
homes though an urban intensification strategy including the creation of new neighbourhoods as part of the regeneration of the Birkenhead Core area 
including those at Wirral Waters, Hamilton Park, Birkenhead Waterfront, Central Birkenhead, Hind Street, Scotts Quay and Kelvinside and Seacombe 
Riverside.  Although predominantly higher density development, the intention in these areas is to promote inclusion of a mix of housing types, including 
for families.  In addition, several former employment sites in Bromborough are now proposed to be allocated for residential development, likely to be 
mainly family housing at lower densities than Birkenhead. 

There is a requirement to demonstrate that the Local Plan proposals are deliverable, especially in the first five years, and this includes the provision of 
necessary infrastructure, including schools.  The Council can secure contributions from developers and additional grant funding for transformational 
projects around school assets so that our education sector can meet new demand. Any strategic approach undertaken moving forward must consider 
and take opportunity to review infrastructure and current provision to provide the modern, vibrant, and sustainable environment for families wishing 
to settle in new conurbations. 

Schools Capital Programme 

The Council receives Capital grants from the Department for Education to carry out improvements to school buildings. The type of grants Local 
Authorities receive from the DfE include: 

 Basic Need Capital Allocations: Basic need capital allocations are made to local authorities to help them fund new pupil places by expanding 
existing maintained schools, free schools or academies, and by establishing new schools.  

P
age 69



 

16 
 

 
Capital allocation decisions made by the department are based principally on data collected from local authorities via the annual Schools Capacity 
Return (SCAP). The department collects information through the SCAP collection, in each pupil place planning area of every local authority, on the 
capacity of schools and local authority’s own forecasts of pupil numbers for several years ahead.  
 
Basic Need capital funding is allocated based on a comparison of forecast pupil numbers with school capacity, with shortfalls in capacity 
attracting funding this is for pupil place planning i.e., to support Capital requirement for providing new pupil places by expanding existing schools 
and establishing new schools. This Capital funding is un‐ring fenced and is not time‐bound. 
 
The development may comprise short‐term fixes such as year on bulge classes whereby an individual school or number of schools may be 
requested to take additional pupils for a short time depending on the year group. This usually has a negative impact on financial aspects and 
development opportunities. The more beneficial option is to plan medium to long term by identifying areas of the borough that require a high 
demand of pupil places. This approach can then be developed over time and across funding years to ease the burden on the Capital budget. 
 

 School Condition Allocation [SCA]: is for Local Authorities to maintain and improve the Condition of the School Estate and includes Devolved 
Formula Capital which sits in the School allocation/budget. 

The principal funding allocations are Basic Need and School Condition Allocation. These two Capital allocations form the basis of our School 
Capital Programme to deliver additional teaching space in schools and to continuously maintain the school estate. 

National capital allocations are supplemented where possible with council capital, either borrowed or by the use of capital receipt from the 
sale of surplus council assets. In addition the schools capital programme is partially funded by ring fenced capital agreed with The Secretary of 
State from the disposal of former school sites. 

Educational standards 

Wirral’s focus over the next 5 years is ensuring ‘Brighter Futures’ for children and young people. With most primary and secondary schools rated as 
outstanding or good by Ofsted, Wirral prides itself on maintaining high standards of education across all key stages. The harnessing of system leaders 
to promote high standards in all areas has resulted in positive attainment result in many key stages.  

P
age 70



 

17 
 

The developing School Improvement Plan for Wirral seeks to build on this achievement, particularly in earlier key stages where a focus on driving 
change across the sector is a key priority. The importance of educational continuity between Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 is key to ensuring the 
building blocks for learning are in place.  

School provision and infrastructure plays a major role in supporting these priorities by creating the sustainable environments with robust support 
which will enable children to reach their potential.  

At the forefront of this Strategy will be recognition of the wider Wirral ambition to raise standards and improve outcomes for all children and the 
development of pupil place planning reviews will have regard and promote this in all areas so that the council meets its statutory duty to provide 
sufficient school places and drive quality in standards of education.  

Promoting inclusion  

One of the Strategy priorities is to focus on creating a culture of inclusion where Wirral’s mainstream schools can meet the needs of pupils with 
special educational needs and disabilities. 

The local area SEND Strategy 2020 ‐2024, as approved by the Council in December 2020 sets out an ambitious plan for improving outcomes for 
children and young people with SEND.  

In reviewing school place planning, it is essential that we consider the educational needs and the provision required for children and young people 
with SEND. This means exploring options where children can be educated in mainstream settings with adapted, relevant, and bespoke support that 
ensures they can learn.  

Predicting the numbers of pupils requiring special school places in Wirral more challenging than applying a standard methodology. Whilst it is 
expected that the special school population will grow as new housing is built and birth rate trends change, forecasting these pupil numbers needs to 
be undertaken separately from mainstream schools due to the smaller numbers involved and the greater level of variation and impact of external 
factors. 

There are also additional factors that affect the number of pupils with special educational needs and disabilities, such as the protocol and definitions 
of SEND, as well as a different process for admission to Special Schools that is linked to needs assessments and placements.  

P
age 71



 

18 
 

This Strategy will explore opportunities to focus on inclusion, considering how mainstream schools will continue and furthermore meet the 
educational needs of all pupils, including those with special educational needs and disabilities. A Special Educational Needs and Disability Sufficiency 
Strategy is being developed to manage demand for places for children with special educational needs and disabilities. 

School size and viability 
There are currently 15 primary schools with more than 25% surplus places in Wirral. By 2026, in line with the pupil forecasting methodology and 
predictions, there are likely to be 27 schools in this position.  

One of the challenges with having surplus places is the national funding associated with each child’s place, with smaller schools with less children on 
roll having access to less resources. This can have an impact on the ability of schools to use resources directly on children’s education, given the 
overall budgetary requirements of running a school. E.g. cleaning, heating and lighting costs.  

Schools with more pupils on roll, generally have more flexibility to spend money on additional resources such as classroom assistants, books, and 
equipment. These schools also generally perform better in terms of inspection outcome and standards.  

In Wirral, evidence suggests that schools that have fallen into one of the Ofsted categories of concern have generally been among the smaller 
schools. This arises because there is an inevitable requirement on individual staff in small schools to take on wider burdens of responsibility.  

There is a recognised requirement by law to address both deficit and surplus across the school estate. It is essential to consider how to 
organise schools for the efficient and effective delivery of education and to maintain a focus on high quality education and create a culture of 
high performing schools. Previous reorganisations and reduction in the number of schools has resulted in more focused use of school funding, 
both that allocated by pupil as well as lump sum allocations. Any financial additionality which results from significant change to the estate is 
redistributed through the schools funding formula.  

The Pupil Place Planning Strategy sets out a framework through which consideration of small schools, their educational standards and their financial 
viability to ensure that future provision and sufficiency is based on evidence‐based understanding leading to sound decision‐making.  

 

 

 

P
age 72



 

19 
 

STRATEGIC APPROACH 

SCHOOL PLACE PLANNING AREAS 

All local authorities are required to identify place planning areas.  

For primary school place planning purposes, Wirral is divided into small planning areas as set out in the former School Organisation Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning area code  Area 
3440021  South Wallasey 
3440022  North Wallasey 
3440023  Leasowe 
3440024  Moreton 
3440041  Hoylake/Meols 
3440042  West Kirby 
3440043  Greasby 
3440044  Pensby/Thingwall 
3440045  Heswall 
3440031  Bromborough 
3440032  Bebington 
3440033  Thornton Hough 
3440034  Spital 
3440046  Upton 
3440011  Noctorum 
3440012  Beechwood 
3440013  North Birkenhead 
3440014  Central Birkenhead 
3440015  South Birkenhead 
3440016  Prenton 

This map shows the school 
place planning areas for 
primary  

P
age 73



 

20 
 

For secondary schools, Wirral is a single planning area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

These planning areas form the basis of reviews of pupil places.  

 

This map shows Wirral as one school place 
planning area for secondary and the 
locations of secondary schools 

P
age 74



 

21 
 

PUPIL FORECASTING 

 

Planning future education provision and predicting future demand of school spaces is a complex process. To do so, a local authority uses a range of 
information including population forecasts, local demographic data, migration data and information regarding planned housing developments. By 
analysing all this data, we can review trends in pupil numbers, and this helps with effective future forecasting of pupil places. 

Primary Schools 

In forecasting future demand for places in primary schools, the sources of data used are:  

 the percentage of live births which appears in Reception 
 actual pupil numbers taken from the January School Census 
 live birth figures obtained from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) historical information relating to the school’s intake figure.  

The percentage of the Wirral live birth figure entering the Foundation 2 year in Wirral primary schools is checked annually and a rolling three‐year 
average is produced. The three‐year average is applied to the live birth figure to produce an authority wide total.  

This is currently operating at +3.6%. * 

A projection is then made for each individual school intake, based on the intake of the previous three years at the school, adjusted to consider the 
authority wide total and local factors. For primary age pupils net migration (into and out of Wirral) is net neutral.  

*This figure is accurate at time of writing (March 2021) 

Secondary Schools 

For secondary schools, the source of data is: 

 the January School Census  
 historical information relating to the school’s intake figure  
 actual staying on rate for the school at Year 12, 13 and 14 assessed from the January School Census. 

P
age 75



 

22 
 

For secondary age pupils, there is a net migration gain – this is called ‘the Year 6/7 uplift’.  This uplift is largely due to out of borough resident pupils 
travelling to attend Wirral’s grammar schools and movement from independent schools.  

The Year 6/7 uplift is calculated on a rolling three‐year average of the difference between Wirral school Year 6 and Wirral school Year 7 from the 
Census and is updated for each forecast period. This is currently operating at +2.9%. * 

The uplift is applied to each existing Wirral primary year groups (F2 to Year 6) and to projected F2 intakes for younger years. This provides a Wirral‐
wide target figure for each secondary entry year group for not only the next 5 years, but an additional four years (not published).  

A projection is produced for each individual secondary school Year 7 intake, based on the intake of the previous three years at the school, and 
adjusted to meet the target for Wirral.  

Years 8 to 11 are based on the May Census, rolled forward for each year group. For Year 12, the actual Year 11 figure is multiplied by a staying on 
rate for each individual school; the same principle is applied for actual Year 12 moving to Year 13, and for actual Year 13 moving to Year 14.   

* This figure is accurate at time of writing (March 2021) 

Accuracy of the projections 

The accuracy of the projection methodology for Wirral is checked year on year.   

Secondary projections over five years are on average between ‐0.1% and ‐0.6% of actual. Overall, the methodology tends to estimate slightly above 
the actual figure – on average by ~33 pupils/year group.  

Primary projections over five years are on average between ‐0.1 to +1.1% of actual. Overall the methodology tends to estimate slightly below the 
actual figure – on average by ~23 pupils/year group. 

   

P
age 76



 

23 
 

OTHER FACTORS CONSIDERED WITHIN PROJECTIONS 

Account is taken of local factors which may result in changed patterns, for example significant developments in housing provision. 

Religious preferences 

Wirral has both faith and non‐faith primary schools and 1 in 3 Wirral parents choose to send their child to a faith school (Catholic or Church of 
England).  Projections for individual schools take this into account. 

Housing developments 

There are several substantial housing developments in parts of Wirral which are yet to take effect. However, the actual pupil yield from housing 
developments is lower than is often thought. In Wirral, the figure of 4 to 6 pupils per year group per 100 homes has generally been quoted based on 
national figures, with a proviso that flats, and retirement housing generate few children. A 2019 analysis of all residential property in Wirral has 
provided a lower actual yield. Current Wirral residential property (all types) generates on average 2.4 pupils per year group per 100 homes.  

This may be dependent on the property type:  

 Flats/maisonettes and bungalows generate fewer than 1 child per 
year group per 100 homes 

 Semi‐detached and detached properties generate between 2 and 3 
children per year group per 100 homes, with a higher yield from semi‐
detached than detached houses 

 The highest yield is for existing terraced houses which generate 3‐4 
children per year group per 100 homes 

Single sex vs mixed sex ‐ There are more single sex girls’ schools in Wirral than boys. Parental preference for single sex (girls or boys) or mixed sex 
schools is factored into the projections based on historical patterns of parental preference.  

Selection ‐ Wirral has six selective schools, for which entry requires achieving a standard on a selective assessment. Parental preference for these 
schools is factored into the projections based on historical patterns of parental preference.    

  Yield range per 
year group 

Total primary children 
per 100 homes 

Old formula  4 to 6  28 to 42 

Wirral all residential  2 to 3  14 to 21 

Wirral flats  <1  2 to 7 

P
age 77



 

24 
 

PUPIL PLACE PLANNING REVIEW FRAMEWORK 

 

Review framework 

The Pupil Place Planning Strategy sets out a robust process and framework for ensuring that Wirral meets its statutory duty and ensures sufficiency 
of school places, addressing any deficit or surplus. Pupil place planning reviews will be the main vehicle for driving change across the school estate, 
surrounded by robust governance arrangements, stakeholder engagement and political support.  

Pupil place planning reviews will consider a wide range of data and insight and will consider the influencing factors which may impact on future 
demand for school places. Reviews will use a detailed appraisal framework to determine actions and recommendations for change to be put forward 
for formal agreement through council governance arrangements. Reviews will be underpinned by the principles set out within this Strategy to ensure 
integrity of the process.  

1.  Initiation 

For a pupil place planning review to take place, a working group will be convened of key officers from across the local authority including 
representatives from planning, assets, finance, HR, legal, school admissions, education and insight. A stakeholder group will be convened in parallel 
to the review group consisting of, where necessary, representatives from schools, diocesan and academy trusts. The Schools Commissioner and/or 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency may also be engaged in reviews, where this is necessary. 

The review will look at the whole planning area and consider the pupil predictions in line with forecast methodology as applied. The review will 
consider a range of information and insight and a range of outcome models, all aligned to the appraisal and outcomes framework.  

 

 

 

 

   

P
age 78



 

25 
 

 

2.   Appraisal 

Review considerations  Purpose  Methodology  Source 

Pupil predictions/forecast 
methodology 

To understand anticipated demand on school 
places in that area  DfE methodology for SCAP  Admissions Manager 

Educational standards 
To consider current standard and emerging trends 
of educational attainment over 5 past years for 
schools within the area 

Attainment standards data  Schools Insight 

Inspection outcomes  To consider current inspection outcomes and 
emerging patterns, trends 

Inspection outcomes data – trend 
data 

Head of School 
Effectiveness 

Financial considerations  To assess current financial circumstance, trends 
and current/future pressures  School financial information  Finance 

Planning/housing 
developments 

To consider current and planned housing 
developments and impact on demand for places 

Local planning developments by 
planning area 

Local Planning 
Officers 

Current asset infrastructure 
and capital plans* 

To consider current and future programme of 
asset development within area 

Capital Assets programme 
(schools) 
Building condition information 

Strategic Assets 

Other – Personnel pressures  To consider any additional pressures/influencing 
factors e.g. senior leadership vacancies  School information  Schools 

* additional considerations may also include looking at the availability (or otherwise) of available assets/buildings, such as the Kingsway Academy, within 
the relevant review phases 

There is no specific weighting to the factors identified as part of the review and not all may be considered for every review. 

P
age 79



 

26 
 

3.  Possible outcomes 

 Non‐significant changes to existing schools ‐ There are several different alterations that can be made to school provision. This could 
include proposals to increase the size of schools, construct building work or add on resources or bases to a mainstream provision.  
These require minimal or no additional formal consultation or legal process. 
 

 Significant changes to existing maintained schools – This could include prescribed alterations, such as to a school’s age range, other 
actions such as school closures or amalgamations. These require formal consultation procedure as set out within published guidance.  

 Opening and Closing Maintained Schools 
 Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools 
 Making significant alterations or closure to an Academy school 

 
 New schools – the Academy/Free School presumption ‐ Section 37 of the Education Act 2011 requires Local Authorities to seek proposals for the 

establishment of an Academy or Free School whenever they identify a need for a new school; the “Academy/Free School presumption”. There is a 
process for seeking proposals, which must be assessed. The Local Authority must provide the required site and the funding required to establish 
the new school, and state a preference for the preferred bidder, however the ultimate decision rests with the Secretary of State. 
 
If no proposals are received, the Local Authority can ask for permission from the Secretary of State to operate a competition process to establish a 
new maintained school.  There are some limited exceptions to this – for example, consent is not required to establish a new Voluntary Aided 
school, or a primary school resulting from an infant and junior amalgamation, or because of a reorganisation of existing faith schools.  
New Schools guidance 
 

 Federations – Federated schools continue to be separate schools with separate budgets and Ofsted inspections. Schools within a federation can 
agree to pool some or all of the school’s budgets as long as there is a clear audit trail.  The staffing structure of a Federation might include an 
executive head across two or more schools, with an assistant headteacher in the individual schools, or the headteacher of one of the federated 
schools may also act as the executive headteacher.  
 

P
age 80



 

27 
 

Federation does not of itself produce financial efficiencies or resolve 
the issues faced by a small primary school and may be inappropriate 
where schools are too small or have falling rolls, making one or more 
schools educationally unviable, or where arrangements may be 
predatory, leading to resource from one school being used to 
subsidise another. 
Federation guidance 

 

4.  Consultation 

Informal engagement with key stakeholders will be integral to the pupil 
place planning review approach. Their views will feed in wider 
contextual factors which need to be considered as part of the appraisal 
and will help shape actions to be taken.  

All recommendations and decisions will be made regarding the legal 
framework for consultation and engagement with adherence to any 
expected timescales for feedback and influence over decisions.  

 

5.  Decision ‐ making 

Proposals which result in insignificant change will be agreed by a 
Strategic Governance Group with responsibility for reviewing all 
proposals made because of pupil place planning reviews. 

This group will present significant proposals to the Children’s Council 
Strategic Leadership Team and the Children, Families and Education 
Committee where this is required.  

Final review 
proposals to SLT 

Consultation 

Presentation to SLT 
Informal approval 

Insignificant 
change 

Initial consultation and 
engagement – findings  

Analysis, findings and 
review documentation 

produced 

Review process 
initiated – call for 

evidence 

Final proposal 
developed 

Presentation to Children, 
Young People and 

Education Committee 

Capital Assets 
programme (where 

required) 

Working group established 
– Assets, Finance, 

Children’s, Planning etc. 

Consultation group 
established – Schools, 

Diocesan  

P
age 81



28 

LEARNING  

Following the approval of the School Organisation Plan in 2003, a series of reviews were carried out between 2006 to 2010. These reviews 
resulted in the development of two new schools and multi‐million investment in other schools to ensure they were fit for the future. They also 
resulted in a reduction of surplus places, where this was required.  The consolidation of places in fewer schools ensures best use of the 
schools delegated budget, both the pupil unit led elements and any remaining school lump sum allocations as well as better long-term use of 
other funding e.g. maintenance investment. 

Case study 

In 2006 Cabinet agreed to carry out consultation on options relating to phase 3 review which had taken place in the Pensby and Thingwall, 
South Wallasey and Leasowe planning areas. 

Based on these responses and additional suggestions put forward during the consultation process, the outcome was the closure of once 
school and the amalgamation of an infant and junior school to form an all‐through primary school. 

This proposal ensured an improved offer of provision with investment in the school estate, local community and importantly for the children 
and young people in that area. 

P
age 82



 

29 
 

PUPIL PLACE PLANNING REVIEWS  

It is proposed that pupil place planning reviews take place in the following order: 

  Local Plan Area  Small Planning Areas 

Phase 1*  Birkenhead (Suburban and Commercial) 
Beechwood; Central Birkenhead; North Birkenhead; South Birkenhead; Noctorum; 
Prenton 

Phase 2   Bromborough & Eastham  Bromborough/Eastham; Spital; Thornton Hough; Bebington 

Phase 3   Wallasey  North Wallasey; South Wallasey 

Phase 4   Mid‐Wirral  Greasby ;Leasowe; Moreton; Upton; Woodchurch 

Phase 5   West Kirby and Hoylake; Heswall  Heswall; Hoylake and Meols; Pensby and Thingwall; West Kirby 

 

*In addition to the above, a Wirral‐wide review of secondary school provision will be undertaken alongside Phase 1 to identify and establish sufficient 
school places in the sector to meet the needs of the increasing Year 7 intakes expected up to 2024.  

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE & EDUCATION
Thursday, 11 March 2021

REPORT TITLE: EARLY YEARS SUFFICIENCY AND COVID19 
RESPONSE

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR FOR CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND 
EDUCATION

REPORT SUMMARY
The report provides the Children, Young People and Education Committee with an 
overview of Wirral’s Childcare market sufficiency for the period of April 2019 – March 2020 
plus the operations in response to Covid19 in 2020, securing childcare places specifically 
for vulnerable and keyworker children.

The report and strategy are aligned to priorities of Wirral Council’s Plan 2025:

- Working for brighter futures for our children, young people and their families by 
breaking the cycle of poor outcomes and raising the aspirations of every child in 
Wirral

- Working for safe and pleasant communities where our residents feel safe, and 
where they want to live and raise their families.

This matter affects residents across the borough.

This report does not relate to a key decision.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Children, Young People and Education Committee is recommended to:

1. Endorse the Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 19/20 for publication.
2. Note the Covid19 Response of Wirral’s Childcare Providers. in continuing to offer 

Early Years Childcare and Education through such unprecedented times.
 

Page 85

Agenda Item 8



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The Childcare Act 2006 places a duty on Local Authorities in England to report 
annually a review of childcare to elected members and make the report available to 
the public. The report reviews the demographics of the area, the demand for 
childcare and supply of childcare. All this information is analysed to decide if 
there is sufficient childcare to meet the needs of families now and in the future. 

1.2 Having a Childcare Sufficiency Assessment means that families are able to find 
childcare that meets their child’s learning needs and enables parents to make a real 
choice about work and training. 

1.3 In order to maintain Wirral’s Childcare Sufficiency through such unprecedented times 
the collaborations between the Local Authority and the sector, when the country 
moved into its first Covid19 National Lockdown on March 23rd, 2020, were driven by 
maintaining sufficiency, business sustainability support, access to Public Health and 
PPE resource and dissemination of Department of Education guidance’s.  

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 There are no other options to be considered as the Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment is a statutory duty under the Childcare Act 2006.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Wirral’s Childcare Sufficiency Assessment (CSA) April 2019 – March 2020 outlines 
the following;

 18,432 children aged 0-5
 384 early years providers 
 Average 80% occupancy of places
 £40 - £43 per day average price for day nurseries/pre-schools
 £36 per day average for childminders
 £4.50 - £8.00 average for extended care provision.

Further information is outlined in the diagram infographic below.
 

3.2 The CSA identified that Wirral has a continued decreasing birth rate over recent 
years from an average of 3500 in the years 2013-15 to; 2017 – 3366, 2018 – 3242, 
2019 – 3150.   This will need to be monitored in future sufficiency assessments, in 
order to prevent an oversupply.

Page 86



Page 87



 3.3 At the start of 2020, there were 384 Ofsted registered Early Years Providers on roll. 
At the end of the year there were 368, as below, a reduction of 4.42%

384
382

381

378

375
373

371 371
370

371
370

368

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20
362
364
366
368
370
372
374
376
378
380
382
384
386

Providers on roll

Providers on roll

    

*Graph image above shows a depleting number of providers from 384 to 368 across 
2020.

3.4 The biggest decline has been in the Extended Care sector, with an overall reduction 
of 18.42%, followed by childminders at 5.11%, there was a slight increase in day 
nurseries of 1.52% and we end the year with one more Day Nursery than was 
available at the start of the year. There has been a reduction with Independent 
School of 25% but in real terms this is the closure of one out of the four Independent 
Schools that was open at the start of 2020 and had been under threat of closure for a 
considerable amount of time.

3.5    All 3 + 4 years olds are eligible for universal free childcare entitlements, with a % 
eligible for free 2-year funding, subject to criteria, which can fluctuate year on year.  
A proportion of working parents will also be eligible for an additional 15 hours (30 
extended), again subject to an earnings threshold criterion, see below. 

 All children aged 3 and 4 are entitled to 15 hours per week until they 
start reception class in school.

 Children aged 3 and 4 where both parents are working, or from lone 
parent families where that parent is working.  Earning a weekly 
minimum of the equivalent of 16 hours at national minimum wage or 
living wage and less than £100,000 a year.

 Children aged 2 whose families receive certain benefits (including low-
income families in receipt of in-work benefits), or those who meet 
additional non-economic criteria, are entitled to 15 hours per week. 
Nationally it is estimated around 32% of 2 years olds are entitled to 
this.  Wirral has had fluctuation of % eligible, highest 43% to lowest 

Page 88



36%, so is variable.  This is due to the socio-economic status of the 
cohort at point of eligibility.

3.6 The Local Authority receives a Designated School Grants (DSG) from Central  
Government, which has a dedicated Early Years Block of funding with a requirement 
from DfE to pass over 95% to those providers delivering funded early education 
places. Not all providers choose to offer free funding entitlements, through their own 
business modelling. However, parents may opt to use a different provider if they do 
not.  

Wirral has a mixed economy of offering funded places across childminders, pre-
schools, day nurseries, maintained nurseries and schools.  This gives flexibility to 
parents.  

3.7 Childcare providers delivering 2-year funded places

There are 223 providers (58%) currently delivering 2-year funded places in Wirral:

Childminder Day 
Nursery

Pre-School Maintained 
Nursery 
School

Independent 
School

School

Birkenhead 17 18 1 0 0 9
Wallasey 15 13 6 2 0 6
South & 
West

77 33 19 1 0 6

Total 109 64 26 3 0 21
*Image above shows number of providers across the various settings delivering 2-year 
funded places.

3.8 Childcare providers delivering 3 and 4-year-old funded places.

There are 254 providers (66%) in our local authority currently delivering 3- and 4-
year-old places:

Child-
minder

Day 
Nursery

Pre-
School

Maintained 
Nursery 
School

Independent 
School

Maintained 
School

Extended 
Care

Birkenhead 15 18 1 0 3 22 2

Wallasey 13 13 6 2 0 15 0
South & 
West

64 33 20 1 1 22 3

Total 92 64 27 3 4 59 5
*Image above shows number of providers across the various settings delivering 3- and 
4-year funded places.

Page 89



3.9 In summary, there are sufficient childcare places across Wirral to meet current 
demand with flexibility within occupancy levels to respond to growth once Covid19 
socio economic and environmental circumstances return to more normal times.  
Planning for future sustainability is a key agenda and one that Wirral Council’s Early 
Years team are preparing for, through a series of business recovery online 
information/training sessions across the next 12 months.

4.0 COVID19 RESPONSE 2020/21

4.1 Sufficiency During COVID19
Following the announcements made on March 23rd 2020 for a National lockdown, of 
Wirral’s then 384 settings (inclusive of F1 provision in 62 schools), 168 (64%) 
reported as remaining open/partially open, with the remainder 216 closing.  Closures 
were predominantly highest in the childminder provision, due to a lack of demand for 
places or through themselves having to follow the shielding advise from Public 
Health.

From Monday 6 April 2020 the Department for Education introduced a “New local 
authority data collection on early years and childcare provision” (DfE:2020). 
The requirement was for local authorities to provide information on the status of the 
early years and childcare settings in their area by completing a short online data 
collection form twice weekly on. 

 Numbers and types of settings which are open/closed.
 Numbers of critical workers’ children and vulnerable children 

accessing/in need of childcare.
 Any other information you wish to provide, for example availability 

issues/other problems or best practice that we can help address or 
share.

Table 1: below gives an overview of responses to register returns during each 
lockdown period;  

Average total 
open 

Early years 
group settings 

Schools Childminders 

Lockdown 1 
Apr-Jun

200 – 55% 66 -49% 65 – 89% 72 – 43%

Lockdown 2 Nov 365 – 99% 129 – 100% 74 – 100% 162 – 95%
Lock down 3 Jan 
- Feb

277 – 76% 103 – 80% 53 – 80% 121 – 73%

To note on above, on average 39% of early years providers submitted their register.  
Providers and nursery managers cited no returns being due to having to work in 
ratio with children in rooms, not having administration time to respond to emails and 
being overwhelmed by new ways of working/demands being placed upon them.  

Page 90



Table 2: below give an overview of the attendances of vulnerable/keyworker children 
during each lockdown reporting period;

Total ave. each 
week

Vulnerable children Critical/keywork 
children

Lock down 1 823 50 564
Lock down 2 3080 81 1039
Lock down 3 2544 72 No longer collected

To note on above, in lockdown one a lower number of attendances was recorded, 
and this was echoed anecdotally, lockdown 2 was somewhere near normal. 
Lockdown 3 whilst critical/keyworker data was not collected anecdotally a lot more 
people stated they were critical/keyworkers needing places, with slightly less 
families keeping their children at home. 

4.2 Whilst sufficiency has been met across this period the remobilising of the childcare 
market is a cause for concern in terms of sustainability for instance, some types of 
providers are finding it harder and harder to be competitive in the current climate. 
Many settings are advising parents that they will not accept children who attend 
another setting, due to the concerns around virus spread, and the impact on the 
setting if there is a positive case in the other setting.  In circumstances where 
providers are unable to provide a more flexible delivery model to meet parent’s 
needs, they are losing out on business as parents are choosing another setting who 
can be more flexible.  Pre-schools appear to be particularly affected by this.

4.3 Looking ahead to the next 12 months, there may be a bigger impact on the sector 
from Coronavirus, whilst it is relatively easy to sustain a business in the short term, 
particularly when there is a lot of financial support available, in the medium and 
longer term it is much harder, as reserves are depleted and there may not be the same 
level of financial support available.

Wirral’s Early Years team have opportunities to share these reflections from 
providers at Regional and Local discussion events with both Ofsted and Department 
for Education colleagues.

4.4 Take up of 2, 3 – 4 year and extended 30 hours entitlements.

On 17 March 2020, as the Nation prepared for lockdown, the government gave early 
years providers the reassurances that payments of early years entitlement places for 
2-, 3- and 4-year-olds from the Local Authority (LA) to providers would continue 
despite where settings were closed, on the advice of the government, or children 
were not able to attend due to coronavirus (COVID-19). 

The response of Wirral Council; all funded payments for 2, 3 + 4-year free 
entitlements continued.  There was a re-scheduling of summer/autumn term 
payments; estimates were paid out approximately one month earlier than 
anticipated, to at best maintain cashflows.  In addition, the requirement to submit a 
“headcount” was paused at that time whilst DfE guidance was developed, which at 
a later point was deferred.  This was very much welcomed by providers.

Page 91



In addition, where a child’s main base of 15 hours or 30 hours universal funding was 
not open and the child needed to attend another setting, the Family Information 
Service would broker payment of hours, so the parent or settings did not experience 
a financial deficit.   

The disruption to early educational entitlements during the Summer term 2020, due 
to Covid19 issues, resulted in fluctuations of take up.  However, since the 
commencement of the autumn term there have been positive signs of recovery 
across the 2, 3 + 4-year-old offer.  Although, the recovery of the take up of extended 
offer has struggled as parents either continued to work from home and are not taking 
additional childcare hours or remain on a “furloughed” arrangement.

- 2-year-old take-up - Wirral actual 73.40% - National 69%
Increase of 4.40% (69% summer term) @ autumn Term 2020 

3/4-year-old Universal take-up – Wirral actual 89.20% - National 91%
- Increase of 5.2% (84% summer term) @ autumn Term 2020

- *3/4-year-old Extended take-up (30 hour funding)  – actual 70% - National 90 % 
(Summer 19)
Reduction of 25.46% (95.46% summer term) @ autumn Term 2020

4.5 *30-hour funding – discretionary funding was applied to families who had missed 
the 31st of August deadline date to renew their 30-hour funding code.   25 
discretionary starts were authorised, these children were added to providers 
headcount submission so many were covered by the providers being paid on 
Autumn 19 headcount, to sustain take up. 

4.6 During the Autumn term the DFE informed Local Authorities that Early Years 
Providers and Schools would be paid as if COVID-19 had not happened and the 
autumn 20 headcount was compared to autumn 19 headcount for each provider. 
Early Years Providers and schools were then paid on whichever funding amount was 
higher. This saw several providers and schools paid on Autumn 19, detail below. 

Paid on Autumn 19 - 109
Paid on Autumn 20 - 103

When asked providers with lower numbers for Autumn 20 cited parents on furlough 
or made redundant or working from home and felt able to manage childcare to 
explain the dip in numbers. 

When asked providers with higher numbers for Autumn 20 stated they had not done 
anything differently, a couple of providers had increased their marketing, and some 
felt word of mouth by parents to be the reason. 

4.7 For the Spring Term 2021, the DfE agreed to fund children based on expected 
attendance during headcount week, rather than actual, even if the family choose to 
keep their child at home.  The guidance was; 

Page 92



• self-isolating due to exposure to coronavirus (usually a period of 10 
days) in census week. 
• ill in census week. 
• absent due to parent/guardian caution (fear of child catching 

           coronavirus), if the provider remains open to the child and they have not 
altered their parental declaration relating to expected hours with the   

           provider. 
• absent due to parent/guardian choosing to care for child at home, only 
if the provider remains open to the child and the parent/guardian has not 
altered their parental declaration relating to expected hours with the 
provider.  
• clinically extremely vulnerable and is therefore shielding in line with 
government advice.”

The exceptions were;
Where the child is unable to attend their usual PVI/school provider due to 
restrictions on attendance made by the provider/school.  The nursery 
provision has chosen to close.  

This change of course from Autumn 2020 guidance, which was very much welcomed 
by providers.

4.8 Financial Support – Sustainability during Covid19

Whilst Central Government set out a variety of funding streams to support 
businesses; Business Rates Relief, Small Business Rates Relief, Self Employed 
grants, Job Retention Furlough schemes, having completed a survey of financial 
sustainability with Wirral’s providers in May 2020, it was identified that despite these 
immediate cashflow mechanisms there remained key financial challenges to protect 
businesses medium term.

As an example of support accessed; - 
Business Rate relief- there are 41 Nurseries receiving the new business rates 
relief for nurseries (Nursery Discount) for 2020/21. 39 of these were sent a 
revised bill (Demand) on 8th April advising of nil rate liability. If a nursery was 
eligible for Small Business Rates Relief on 11th March 20, then they will also 
have been entitled to apply for the £10K grant. 

4.9 In May 2020 Wirral Council launched the Early Years Exceptional Circumstances 
Grant, of £350k, for Early Years Providers to apply for where they met the criteria of.

Essential Criteria;
 Provision remained open continuously during weekdays from 

23rd March 2020 for key workers and vulnerable children.    
 The provider has reviewed and utilised all available government 

funding streams.  
 The provider is experiencing significant financial impact – This had to 

be evidenced by either a bank statement for the specified periods or a 
cash flow statements.

 
Desirable Criteria;  

Page 93



 The provider undertakes to take children from other settings that had to 
close.   

 The provider has submitted registers to early years team.

The purpose of the fund was to provide temporary “exceptional circumstances” 
funding for providers of childcare who remained open and in doing so experienced 
“significant cashflow issues” either through not being eligible for any other funding 
e.g., small business grants, business rate relief, support for the self-employed, the 
small business grant scheme or awaiting such funds. As there were two waves for 
the fund this was altered slightly for the second wave to include childminder’s who 
had to close due to not having sufficient children or health reasons as they were 
unable to apply for many of the other grants available at the time.

*The table below indicates the number of settings received financial support.

 Total Awarded:
57 

£286,000.00
Small Medium Large

38
£114,000.00

6
£42,000.00

13
£130,000.00

   

Remaining Exceptional Circumstances Grant funds 

Discussions held at the Early Years School Forum working group between council 
officers and representatives from Wirral’s Childminder Association, Wirral’s National 
Day Nursery Association Group, Early Years School Forum Representatives, out of 
school Representatives PVI and Maintained Nursery Representation agreed that 
remainder £64,000.00 be distributed to all providers to source further required 
Personal Protective Equipment.  

4.10 Collaborations/Communications

Two of the key ingredients to ensuring Wirral’s Early Years Childcare and 
Educational settings continued to delivery essential services to vulnerable, 
keyworker children in the initial months to All children in later months has been 
through strengthened collaborations between Council departments, across Liverpool 
City Region colleagues, Regional and National networking, such as Local 
Government Association.  

Most importantly the strengthened partnerships and communications with Local 
Authority, providers, parents and key stakeholders has resulted in a collective 
response to such unprecedented times.  

In summary;

 Shared central government guidance with Providers as soon as it was made 
available, along with links signposting providers to important and useful information 
and support channels.

 Created an attendance register for providers to complete to enable the capture and 
track the number of children attending settings and for providers to use to claim 
double funding for any children temporarily attending their setting.

Page 94



 Working with finance department in arranging for providers to receive funding 
payments sooner than they usually would to support their cash flow.

 Shared a wealth of financial advice to providers informing them of the different types 
of financial support available to support them through the pandemic.

 Put together and distributed FAQ’s to providers so they had a quick reference guide 
to answer any queries they had, this was regularly updated as guidance changed.

 Supported providers in obtaining PPE by providing contact details of reputable 
suppliers, and later providing PPE packs to all providers.  To date an additional £25K 
has been sourced has been identified to further roll out PPE in response to lockdown 
3.0.

 Provided settings with COVID-19 packs including outdoor banners, social distancing 
stickers and more.

 Distributed risk assessment and operational plan templates to settings to enable 
them to put these in place before the reopening of settings to all children from 1st 
June 2020.

 Worked closely with Wirral’s Public Health consultant in delivering key messages 
through bespoke network sessions for providers.

 Worked with Council audit team to ensure good financial protocols were in place for 
Exceptional Circumstances fund.

 Have an officer representing the wider Early Childhood Service at the weekly 
Humanitarian Cell.

4.11 In working with colleagues across the wider Council the Early Years team was able 
to, through the Winter Covid19 Grant that came into the authority, reach out to those 
children accessing 2-year funding and Early Years Pupil Premium, both of which are 
often pre-cursors to Free School Meals eligibility. Working collaboratively with 
Council In partnership with North Birkenhead Development Trust and Wirral support 
was targeted to families previously have not received such support. Uptake was 48% 
which given this was the first attempt, this collaboration was celebrated. One parent 
commenting ‘I’ll be able to buy Christmas dinner now we have other food’. 

4.12 Key Challenges Faced by Wirral’s Childcare Sector.  

The efforts of Wirral’s Childcare Providers in their response to Central Government 
calling upon them to remain open to vulnerable/keyworker children in lockdowns 1.0 
+ 2.0 and thereafter to ALL children in lockdown 3.0 should be acknowledged.  

Many of Wirral’s Early Years providers faced difficult business decisions from the 
onset of Covid19, where settings remained open, partially open or closed, all of 
which had financial implications.  The Early Years team offered a method of 
summarising Central Government funding streams and would regularly survey for an 
understanding of who was accessing which, in order to further signpost.  

Page 95



Furthermore, through surveys, virtual networking, one on one telephone discussions 
with providers highlight key challenges are as below.

 New hourly free entitlements funding rates for 2021/22
 Ability to reclaim VAT. 
 Commitment to Business Rates in the future. 
 Impact of Extension to Furloughing of staff.
 Access to Lateral flow testing given new variants in the community.
 Maintaining staff ratios with increased positive reporting than previous 

lockdowns.

*The biggest challenge of late has been the increased prevalence of Coronavirus in 
settings since January 2021.

*Graph above indicates number of settings reporting a rise in positive coronavirus 
cases in January 2021 from 3 in December 2020 to 18, 11th January 2021.

**Graph above indicates number of settings reported cases in January 2021 from 3 in 
December 2020 to 30, 18th January 2021.

Page 96



***Graph above indicates number of staff tested positive in January 2021 from 4 in 
December 2020 to 21, 4th January 2021.

****Graph above indicates number of children tested positive in January 2021 from 0 
in December 2020 to 11, 18th January 2021.

4.13 Wirral is in line with other LAs in offering community asymptomatic testing for any EY 
providers that do not fall under the current government scheme for maintained 
nursery schools and school-based nurseries.  The license for home-testing using 
LFDs has not yet been granted for widespread use. However, at a local level a 
consideration is being made to an extension of opening hours across one or two 
working week days for ease of access to early years staff.

5.0. RECOGNITION OF GOOD PRACTICE DURING COVID19

5.1 The Chief Executive of the National Day Nurseries Association recently wrote to 
Wirral’s Chief Executive, Paul Satoor and Director for Children, Families and 
Education, Paul Boyce, in relation to the support the early years team has shown to 
the childcare sector during COVID-19.  The National Day Nurseries Association is 
'the voice of the sector' and has more than 60 networks of nursery operators that 
meet regularly across the UK.

Page 97



The letter said;
"We understand that your Early Years Team has taken a number of actions during 
the pandemic which made this challenging period more manageable for providers. 
Our coverage up and down the UK means that we are often made aware of the 
relationship between local authorities and the sector. Where a local authority has 
been identified as having worked hard to get the balance right between high quality 
childcare being available for the few during lockdown; and future-proofing the sector 
so that post-COVID, sufficient childcare places are available for all that need them, 
we believe this should be highlighted and acknowledged. 

At a time that has been difficult for us all, we really do appreciate your support to a 
sector which is quite often forgotten, over-looked or ignored but yet so vitally 
important to children, families and the economy. I would like to thank you for the 
collaborative working with providers in your area and for acknowledging the crucial 
role that childcare plays within the economy and its recovery."

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The Early Years grant income for 2020-21 will be based on 9/12ths of the January 
2020 Census plus 3/12ths of the January 2021 Census. As the January 2021 
Census information is not yet available, the latest grant income notified by ESFA for 
2020-21 is solely based on the Census numbers for January 2020. On that basis it 
is indicative only and will change as more information is made available. The final 
Early Years Grant allocation for 2020-21 will not be confirmed until Summer 2021.

7.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 Under the Childcare Act 2006, the Local Authority has a duty to have sufficient 
places to meet parental demand.  

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

81. Accuracy of CSA reporting needs caution as presently it is reliant on manual 
inputting by providers at specific times.  Whilst at same time they struggle with 
reduced number of staff in work, with managers called into children ratios.

8.2 There is a new Early Years portal being developed, within the Capita Better Start 
system, which will enable providers to self input at a time more for their convenience.    

          The Council is likely to move from Capita to the Liquid Logic Early Years Education, in 
which will again enhance to capabilities of accuracy of CSA reporting. 

8.3 PPE resource continues to be an issue for the continued period of COVID19 and 
providers inform on the increased costings applied by some suppliers.

8.4 Larger nursery chains/nursery sites may struggle with fixed costs of premises where 
reduced children numbers reduce therefore no need to have full capacity of rooms 
open.  In addition reduced children number/hours may result in reduced income to 
cover overheads.

Page 98



9.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

9.1 A consideration of risk is what the new normal will be once Coronavirus is brought 
under control, many parents may not return to needing the same level of childcare as 
they did before the pandemic, many businesses are thinking about making the move 
permanently to home working, having to work flexibly throughout the pandemic has 
shown employers that it is possible to do this whilst still meeting business need, so in 
the future many more parents may continue to work at home, working flexibly around 
school drop offs and pick-ups, meaning before and after school care may not be 
required to the same level.

9.2 Sustainability across Wirral’s childcare offer, specifically of extended holiday care 
provision, given high numbers of parents working from home and feeling they 
can manage without professional childcare. 

9.3 There is also a risk that with continued parent anxieties of children returning to early 
years provision, a continued delay or nonattendance of critical early years 
educational opportunities may impact on early identifiers of developmental 
delay or SEN.  

               
10.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

10.1 The Early Years team regularly seek provider and parental feedback through 
surveys. The feedback is analysed, and then new practice is initiated were 
appropriate. We then provide feedback to providers about the results and impending 
changes.

10.2 The team also liaise a lot more frequently with National Day Nursery Association and 
the Childminder Association. They provide useful feedback on behalf of the sector 
and are quick to respond to our requests. Over this year the representatives have 
changes and looking forward we need to include more settings to ensure providers 
not in the NDNA and childminder association are included, this could also include 
extended care and pre-school. This may give broader views and further increase 
representatives thoughts from the sector across Wirral.

10.3 The Early Years school forum sub-group representatives supported the development 
of the EYFE agreement, clarifying sections to aid understanding and ensure 
transparency. The providers gave useful feedback and further improved the 
relationship between the council and sector.

11.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

11.1 A full Equality Impact Assessment has been completed for the Childcare Sufficiency 
Assessment. 

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments

12.0 ENVIRONMENTAL AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

Page 99

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments


12.1 There are no environmental and climate implications arising from this report. It is 
anticipated that the assessment of Wirral’s childcare market and operations to 
support during continued Covid19 restrictions will have no impact on the emission of 
greenhouse gases. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Carol Fenlon
Head of Service – Early Childhood Services
carolfenlon@wirral.gov.uk
0151 666 4228

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 2019-20

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Wirral’s Childcare Sufficiency Report 2019 – 2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-maintaining-educational-
provision/guidance-for-schools-colleges-and-local-authorities-on-maintaining-educational-
provision

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 100

mailto:carolfenlon@wirral.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-maintaining-educational-provision/guidance-for-schools-colleges-and-local-authorities-on-maintaining-educational-provision
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-maintaining-educational-provision/guidance-for-schools-colleges-and-local-authorities-on-maintaining-educational-provision
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-maintaining-educational-provision/guidance-for-schools-colleges-and-local-authorities-on-maintaining-educational-provision


Wirral 
Borough 
Council

Childcare Sufficiency Assessment 
Report April 2019 – March 2020

Page 101



Overall assessment and summary

Introduction

Councils are required by law to ‘report annually to elected council members on how they are meeting their 
duty to secure sufficient childcare, and to make the report available and accessible to parents’. This report 
has been prepared in order to meet this duty.

Having sufficient childcare means that families are able to find childcare that meets their child’s learning 
needs and enables parents to make a real choice about work and training. 

In this report, the assessment of sufficiency uses data about the need for childcare and the amount of 
childcare available, along with feedback from local parents about how easy or difficult it has been for them 
to find childcare that meets their needs.

The sufficiency information is used to plan Wirral’s work in supporting the local childcare economy.

Page 102



CONTENTS

1.          Overall assessment and summary

2.          Recommendations from the 2017/18 Report

3.          Future plans for childcare

4.          Demand for childcare

5.          Supply of childcare

6.          Funded early education

7.          SEND         

8.          Prices

9.          Quality of childcare in our area

10. Parents views

11. Methodology

12. Further Information

Page 103



1. Overall assessment and summary

Children below school age
There are 18,436 children under the age of 5 living in Wirral, many of whom may require 
some form of childcare.

Wirral has 384 early years providers, delivering a variety of places, 223 of these offer 2-year 
old funded places, and 253 offer 3 and 4-year old funded places. 279 early years providers 
are Privately, Voluntary or Independently (PVI) run, of these PVI’s, 97.5% are rated 
outstanding, Good or having Met Requirements by Ofsted. Most providers offer care between 
8am and 6pm, with a good proportion of these offering childcare during atypical hours 
(outside 8am and 6pm on weekdays), some childcare providers also offer childcare of a 
weekend. 

School aged children
38,346 children of statutory school age live in the Borough, and some may require before, 
after school and/or holiday care. 

SEND
1731 children aged 18 or under have an Education Health Care Plan (EHCP), and may 
require childcare with SEND provision. 196 children are being supported by The Council’s 
SEND team, whilst 108 children are receiving Inclusive Practice Fund (IPF), 52 children are 
receiving Portage and 29 children are accessing the Disability Access Fund (DAF).

Employment
Over a third of the working population work in the health & social work profession or wholesale 
and retail trade, meaning they may require flexible childcare, outside of regular hours, and 
during weekends.

Provision
Childminders, Pre-Schools and Schools are operating at about 85% occupancy, with Day 
Nurseries and Extended Care providers operating at around 78%, meaning there is 
sufficiency for any increase in requirements this year. The average price for day nurseries 
and pre-schools is in the region of £40 to £43 per day, with childminders being around £36 
per day, holiday care averages at £32 per day and before and after school care at £4.50 and 
£8.00 respectively.

Parental Views
Three quarters of parents when surveyed were able to easily find childcare to suit their 
requirements and agreed there is suitable holiday provision available. Most parents require 
childcare all year round, with about a quarter requiring childcare term time only. Over half of 
parents use Day Nurseries for their childcare, with a third using preschools, and less than 
15% using childminders. 

Conclusion

In Wirral there has been a number of settings close, particularly in the Wallasey locality, the 
birth rate has also continued to decrease across the Borough. There are currently sufficient 
places available, and accessible across the Borough in order to accommodate the needs of 
children of all ages, however sufficiency and the demand for childcare must be closely 
monitored over the course of year.

Page 104



Page 105



2. Recommendations from the 2017/18 Report
Recommendations from the last sufficiency report and what has been achieved.  

Recommendation One

Monitor the take up of the extended Early Years Funding Entitlement (EFYE) offer to working 
parents and carers.

Response

The take up of EYFE has been carefully monitored each term. Data has been interrogated to 
ensure our most vulnerable children and taking up the offer. This has led to improvements in 
assertive outreach and changes to marketing. All of which has had a positive impact on take 
up.

Recommendation Two

Implement the online tool to monitor childcare sufficiency on a more regular basis than yearly.

Response

Work has been underway to implement a new online tool to monitor sufficiency and is now in 
a position to procure new software, work is ongoing to procure this system and the early years 
team will be working closely with providers to get ready to transition to this new way of working 
in the future.

Recommendation Three

Continue to work with providers to support them to deliver a flexible offer of the extended 
EYFE to parents and carers.

Response

Providers were supported with training to offer a sustainable model for the extended EYFE 
offer, the business support and quality improvement team have also provided 121 support to 
ensure delivery models are consistent with legislation and are sustainable for a provider. This 
has seen a take up of 95% of the extended offer with the majority of parents happy with the 
flexibility of their provision.

Recommendation Four

To consult with parents on their childcare needs to inform the childcare sufficiency 
assessment for 2019.

Response

Surveys were conducted online through facebook and survey monkey, and in children’s 
centre’s and the data was collated to inform the 2019/20 sufficiency report.

Page 106



3. Our plans for childcare
The birth rate in Wirral has been decreasing over a number of years, therefore there is a need 
to continue to monitor the demand for childcare against our supply of childcare, to prevent an 
oversupply of childcare which may result in some providers struggling to sustain their 
businesses.  This will happen on an annual basis with the primary aim to support families 
with their childcare requirements, and to work with providers to help keep their business 
sustainable. 

Over the last 12 months there has been some settings closures, with the majority being in 
the Wallasey locality, there is a need to establish why these settings have closed, and to 
monitor the closure of any settings to see if there are patterns emerging, to identify and to 
work more closely with some settings in order to help them sustain their businesses.  Also to 
closely monitor the sufficiency in areas where settings are closing to ensure there is enough 
provision for any affected children to seamlessly transition to a new setting nearby.

Recommendation One

There will be a focus on monitoring changes to the supply and demand for childcare, including 
the decrease in the birthrate along with closure of settings, working with childcare providers 
to identify any potential challenges that could impact sustainability of their business. In 
addition, continue to monitor sufficiency within the borough to ensure there is suitable 
provision for any children who may be affected by setting closures.

Recommendation Two

There will be close working with providers, ensuring that the information we hold on them is 
up to date and easily accessible, with the implementation of a new system which will enable 
effective advertisements of childcare services to parents, and to make it easier for parents to 
search for providers that meet their needs.

Recommendation Three

There will be a continued identification of eligible families not taking up funded childcare to 
see if there are any barriers that we can remove to enable them to take up a place with a 
childcare provider.

Recommendation Four

There will be more regularly survey parents and analyse the data collated from them to get a 
picture of the childcare market from their point of view, and to ascertain whether the 
information available to parents about childcare is accessible or whether any improvements 
need to be made.

Recommendation Five

There will be improved marketing to make more parents aware of funding streams such as 2 
and 3/4 year old funding, Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP), Disability Access Fund (DAF) 
& Inclusive Practice Fund (IPF).

Page 107



4. Demand for childcare

Population of early years children

In total, there are 18,436 children under the age of five living in Wirral. A large number of 
families will require early years childcare.

1087 1159 1126 1177 1178

954 940 998 1017 973

1434
1572

1489
1655 1677

0-11 months 1-2 year olds 2-3 year olds 3-4 year olds 4-5 year olds
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

Birkenhead Wallasey South & West

Population of early years children

Data from NOMIS mid-2018 population data

Population of school age children

There are 38,346 children aged five to 14 living in Wirral. These children may require 
childcare before and after school, and/or during the school holidays.

4212

3933
3848 3846

3902 3896
3821

3662 3669

3557

Age 5 Age 6 Age 7 Age 8 Age 9 Age 10 Age 11 Age 12 Age 13 Age 14
3300

3400

3500

3600

3700

3800

3900

4000

4100

4200

4300

Population of school age children

Data from the NOMIS mid-2017 population data

Page 108



Number of children with special educational needs and disabilities

Children with special education needs and disabilities (SEND) are entitled to support with 
childcare up to the age of 18 (age 14 for children who do not have a special need or disability). 
The number of children up to the age of 18 with an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) 
in our local authority is: 1731

Birth to school age

There are 55 children under the age of five with an EHCP in Wirral, attending either a 
Mainstream establishment or a Special School;

Number attending Mainstream School 8
Number attending Special School 45
Number attending Specialist Provision in Mainstream School 2

Age 5 to 18

There are 1676 children between the ages of five and eighteen with an EHCP in Wirral, 
attending either a Mainstream establishment or a Special School;

Number attending Mainstream School 231
Number attending Special School 1152
Number attending Specialist Provision in Mainstream School 285
Number attending Independent School 5
Number attending Grammar School 3

Children’s needs change over time and are identified at different ages. Among the youngest 
children, SEND may only be identified when they start in childcare or school, and it can take 
some time from problems being identified to an EHCP being issued. It is therefore possible 
that the number of children from birth to school age with an EHCP is an underestimate. Some 
children have SEN but do not have an EHCP.

Page 109



Employment

Over 75% of the working age population are in employment or self-employed and may 
require childcare.

Employed Self Employed Unemployed Economcally Inactive
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Employment

Data from the NOMIS Jul 2018 – Jun 2019 Employment and Unemployment

Profession 

Around 23% of the working population work in the Health & Social Care sector, or Wholesale 
& Retail sector, and may require childcare outside of typical hours.

M
an

uf
ac

tu
rin

g

Ed
uc

at
io

n

W
at

er
 S

up
pl

y

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

W
ho

le
sa

le
 a

nd
 R

et
ai

l T
ra

de

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
St

or
ag

e

Re
al

 E
st

at
e

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

Co
m

m
s

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

In
su

ra
nc

e

Ad
m

in
 a

nd
 S

up
po

rt

Pu
bl

ic
 A

dm
in

 a
nd

 D
ef

en
ce

El
ec

tr
ic

, G
as

, S
te

am
, A

ir 
Co

n

Ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

an
d 

Fo
od

 
Se

rv

Pr
of

es
sio

na
l, 

Sc
ie

nc
e,

 T
ec

h

Hu
m

an
 H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 S
oc

ia
l 

W
or

k
Ar

t, 
En

te
rt

ai
nm

en
t, 

Re
cr

ea
tio

n

O
th

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s

0.00%

5.00%

10.00%

15.00%

20.00%

25.00%

Profession

Data from NOMIS 2018 Employee Jobs

Page 110



5. Supply of childcare
In total there are 384 childcare providers in our local authority. We have seen a decrease in 
the number of providers since our last assessment.

29
19

2
12

26

8

36

14

5 4

17
8

108

35
25 24

17
8

Childminder Day Nursery Pre-School Extended Care School with F1 
provision

School with F1 & 
2 year old 
provision

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Birkenhead Wallasey South & West

Childcare providers

Occupancy

The average occupancy rates for the different types of providers is:

85%

78%

82%

78%

84%

Childminder Day Nursery Pre-School Extended Care School
75%

76%

77%

78%

79%

80%

81%

82%

83%

84%

85%

86%

Occupancy %

Occupancy percentages have been calculated using data returned to us from a sufficiency questionnaire published earlier 
this year, the response rate to this questionnaire was 36% so the above percentages only provide stats for some of the 
childcare market 

Page 111



Vacancies

In some cases, providers may have a vacancy which is only for a specific age group, or for a 
particular part-time arrangement. (We ask providers to report vacancies to us but not all 
choose to do this). In general, vacancy rates are higher in the autumn when children transition 
to school.

Childminder Day Nursery Pre School Extended Care School
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Under 1 Under 3 3+ Any Age No Vacancies

Age range providers have the most vacancies are for:

Vacancies have been calculated using data returned to us from a sufficiency questionnaire published earlier this year, the 
response rate to this questionnaire was 36% so the above percentages only provide stats for some of the childcare market 

Availability of childcare

Average opening hours of the following providers, Monday to Friday

Provider Type Open Close Total hours

Childminder 8am 6pm 10 hours
Day Nursery 8am 6pm 10 hours
Pre-School 9am 6pm 9 hours
Extended Care
(Before/After School)

7:45am 5:45pm AM 1 hour
PM 2 hours 45 mins

Extended Care
(Holiday Club)

7:45am 5:45pm 10 hours

School 8:45am 3:30pm 6 hours 45 mins

Average opening hours have been calculated using data returned to us from a sufficiency questionnaire published earlier 
this year, the response rate to this questionnaire was 36% so the above percentages only provide stats for some of the 
childcare market 

Page 112



Providers who are open for 3 hours or more 5 days per week, 5 hours or more 3 sessions 
per week between 9am and 3pm, or outside of the school day receive a flexibility 
supplement as part of their funding rate.

6. Funded early education
Some children are entitled to free childcare, funded by the government. These entitlements 
are for 38 weeks per year.

 All children aged 3 and 4 are entitled to 15 hours per week until they start reception 
class in school

 Children aged 3 and 4 where both parents are working, or from lone parent families 
where that parent is working, are entitled to 30 hours per week until they start reception 
class in school1

 Children aged 2 whose families receive certain benefits (including low income families 
in receipt of in-work benefits), or those who meet additional non-economic criteria, are 
entitled to 15 hours per week. Nationally it is estimated around 32% of 2 years olds 
are entitled to this offer, with about 68% taking up the offer, but the proportion varies 
by area.

1 Available to families where each parent (or one parent in a single adult household) is earning the equivalent of working 
sixteen hours per week on the minimum wage.

Parents do not have to use all the hours of their funded entitlement. They may also choose 
to split them between providers. With the agreement of their provider, parents may also 
spread them across the year – for example, rather than taking 15 hours for 38 weeks a year 
they could take just under 12 hours for 48 weeks a year.

Proportion of 2-year-olds entitled to funded early education

In Wirral, around 35% of 2-year olds are entitled to funded early education.

Wirral currently has a favourable 2-year-old funding performance against the national 
average of 68%. Since January 2018 Wirral’s funding has fluctuated peaking at 92% in 
October 2018 and dropping as low as 80% in May 2019. 

Primarily the cause of the changing funding figure is due to a changing eligible population. 
Additionally, a reduction in the number of children accessing funding has also contributed to 
the decrease in the funding figure. 

Although the difference between October 2018 and May 2019 was 12 percentage points, in 
real terms there were only 15 fewer children accessing funding in May 2019 than October 
2018. However, the eligible population grew by 157 during this time.

Page 113



Take up of funded 2-year-old education

The proportion of eligible children taking up their 2-year-old funded place (for at least some 
of the available hours) in our local authority is: 88%2

80.54% 86.84% 98.96%

Birkenhead South & West Wallasey
0.00%

50.00%

100.00%

150.00%

% take up

Take up by Locality

2 The 2-year-old funding figure is calculated as a percentage using the following sum: (Number of children Accessing Funding / 
Eligible Known Population) x100

Take up funded 3 and 4-year-old education

The proportion of eligible children taking up their universal 3 and 4-year-old funded place (for 
at least some of the available hours) in our local authority is: 97%3

3 The percentage of 3- and 4-year old’s taking up funded early education includes 4-year old’s in reception classes

Three Year Olds – Universal Entitlement 
 Population No of funded children
Wirral 3613 3533
Birkenhead 1126 1026
S&W 1489 1692
Wallasey 998 853

3 and 4-year-old funded entitlement applications

Four Year Olds - Universal Entitlement
 Population No of funded children No in a Reception class
Wirral 3849 117 3590
Birkenhead 1177 52 Not Available
S&W 1655 50 Not Available
Wallasey 1017 15 Not Available

Page 114



Parents who think they are entitled to a 30 hour extended hours place apply for this online 
through the Government’s Childcare Support website. The same website is used to apply 
for tax free childcare and parents can apply for either or both. If a parent is eligible, the 
system creates a code which they can use with their chosen childcare provider. If they are 
ineligible, they will still be entitled to the universal 15 hours of early education and childcare.

Three Year Olds - Extended Entitlement
 Population No of funded children
Wirral Data not available 1829
Birkenhead Data not available 419
S&W Data not available 1082
Wallasey Data not available 403

Four Year Olds – Extended Entitlement
 Population No of funded children
Wirral Data not available 51
Birkenhead Data not available 25
S&W Data not available 21
Wallasey Data not available 5

Providers offering funded early education places

Providers are paid directly by the Local Authority for delivering funded early education places. 
They are not required to offer them, but parents may choose to use a different provider if they 
do not. Some providers offer a restricted number of funded places.

Childcare providers delivering 2-year funded places

There are 223 providers (58%) currently delivering 2-year funded places in Wirral:

Childminder Day 
Nursery

Pre-School Maintained 
Nursery 
School

Independent 
School

School

Birkenhead 17 18 1 0 0 9
Wallasey 15 13 6 2 0 6
South & 
West

77 33 19 1 0 6

Total 109 64 26 3 0 21

Childcare providers delivering 3 and 4-year-old funded places

Page 115



There are 254 providers (66%) in our local authority currently delivering 3 and 4-year-old 
places:

Child-
minder

Day 
Nursery

Pre-
School

Maintained 
Nursery 
School

Independent 
School

Maintained 
School

Extended 
Care

Birkenhead 15 18 1 0 3 22 2
Wallasey 13 13 6 2 0 15 0
South & 
West

64 33 20 1 1 22 3

Total 92 64 27 3 4 59 5

7. SEND

Page 116



Childcare providers with SEND provision

The Children and Families Act 2014 and the SEND Code of Practice 2014, introduced under 
this Act, aim to give children and young people with special educational needs and disabilities 
(SEND) greater support, choice and opportunities.

The SEND Code of Practice details the responsibilities that councils, early years settings and 
schools in England have to support children with SEND. All early years childcare providers, 
such as nurseries and pre-schools, which offer free places to two, three or four year 
old’s must meet the requirements of the SEND Code of Practice, and must be inclusive of 
children with SEND and have provision available to support them. 

In order to prepare families and children for their EYFE Wirral offers Portage, this is a home-
visiting educational service for early years children and their families. Referrals can be made 
into the Portage service, by contacting the Early Years SEND team, there is specific eligibility 
criteria in order to qualify for this service.

As at January 2020, 52 children were receiving Portage.

Wirral Council offers graduated support to early years providers to ensure inclusion for all 
children. Providers are supported with quality first teaching to ensure inclusive teaching is at 
the heart of provision. Providers can then request targeted support to ensure they are meeting 
a particular child’s needs. The Early Years SEND team provide advice and guidance to 
settings to enable them to support children with additional needs. A request for involvement 
from the Early Years SEND Team can be made by settings after following the graduated 
approach, and if the setting SENCO requires further specialist support and advice for a child 
in their setting.

As at January 2020 our SEND team were supporting 196 children with SEND.

Disability Access Fund (DAF)

Children in receipt of DLA and 3 & 4-year-old funding, are eligible to receive a DAF payment 
for their setting, to enable the setting to make reasonable adjustments so that a child can 
access an early year’s place. There are currently 108 three-year old’s and 129 four-year old’s 
in Wirral receiving DLA.4

4 Some three-year old’s may be in their last term of receiving two-year-old funding, and some four-year old’s may have 
started in a reception class, or specialist provision so they would not qualify for DAF.

The number of providers awarded DAF for children in our local authority since April 2019 is 
29. As children in special schools can not receive DAF, the LA use excess funding to support 
children with SEND.

Type of provider Number of children receiving DAF
Day Nurseries / Pre-Schools 20
Schools 9

Total 29

Inclusive Practice Fund (IPF)

Page 117

https://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/help-my-childcare-costs
https://www.familyandchildcaretrust.org/help-my-childcare-costs


IPF is available to ensure the inclusion of children with additional needs in early 
education/childcare. The Inclusive Practice Fund is intended to support providers with 
additional staff time, so they can provide inclusive early years childcare. To be eligible for IPF 
a child must be in receipt of 3 or 4-year-old funding, children in receipt of 2 year old funding 
attached to DLA are considered. Applications for IPF are assessed at panel meetings 
scheduled at set times throughout the year.

As at Autumn 2019 the number of children receiving IPF in Wirral was 108.

Type of provider Number of children receiving IPF at each 
type of provider

Day Nurseries 63

Extended Care 1

Pre-School’s 5

School’s 39

Total 108

The settings and schools use the IPF funding to enhance the staffing ratios in the room which 
means all room staff have a responsibility to support the child with SEND.  This also allows 
the child to select different adults to meet their needs i.e. adult A will understand request for 
drink but B is good at the interactive chasing games but they use C for the cuddles and 
reassurance allowing the child choices.  The staffing ratios does allow for 1:1 time and small 
group time where they work on developing delayed skills in all areas of the EYFS with the 
aim of reducing the gap to their peers development.  The impact is the children stay with their 
peers in an inclusive setting and their skills are progressed by working towards small 
achievable steps.  There is also an impact for the other children in the setting they generally 
develop an acceptance, understanding and friendship for children with SEND.

The SEND Officers support the SENCOs in settings discussing next steps for the setting to 
carry out with the child.  This information is shared between setting and home.  They will 
support the SENCo with the necessary Local Authority SEND paperwork via training sessions 
and some individual support.  The Officers carry out an initial observation on the child, talk 
with parents and settings and multi-agency meetings to find the baseline to move on from.

Settings and F1 classes in school can apply for an annual DAF grant for children in receipt 
of DLA.  This has been used for specialist toys, developmentally appropriate toys in an older 
age group etc.

There has been a limited uptake of this fund so we will be looking at creating an ideas list to 
support this.

8. Prices
For early years childcare outside the funded entitlements, we report on average prices, 
reported to us by settings. There may be variations to prices based on the number of hours 
a family uses, with reductions for longer hours, or discounts for sibling groups. There may be 

Page 118



additional payments for additional services, e.g. lunch and other meals which are not included 
in these prices.

Average childcare fees at a Day Nursery or Preschool

Provision Per hour Per session 
(Half Day)

Per day

Under 1 £5.83 £27.66 £43.96
Under 3 £6.46 £24.60 £41.35
3+ £6.04 £24.02 £40.38

School Age (Pre and 
Post School Care)

£4 AM / £8.50 PM

Average childcare fees with a Childminder

Provision Per hour Per session 
(Half Day)

Per day

Under 1 £4.60 £21.76 £36.23
Under 3 £4.60 £21.76 £36.23
3+ £4.55 £21.60 £36.00

School Age 
(Pre and Post 
School Care)

£4.50 AM / £11.57 PM

Average childcare fees for Extended care

Holiday Club
Provision Breakfast 

Club
After School 
Club

Per session 
(Half Day)

Per day

Under 3 £4.50 £8.00 £22 £32
3+ £4.50 £8.00 £22 £32

School Age (Pre and 
Post School Care)

£4.88 £9.13 - -

Since the last sufficiency report prices across the sector look to have increased significantly, 
with breakfast and after school care increasing by more than £1 per session, day nurseries 
increasing by more than £2 per day, and childminders by more than £3 per day. For the most 
part they appear to have increased significantly more than the rate of inflation, however as 
such a small amount of data was captured and will differ to the providers who supplied data 
in the 2017/18 report ,caution must be taken when comparing the figures.5

5 average prices have been calculated using data returned to us from a sufficiency questionnaire published earlier this 
year, the response rate to this questionnaire was 36% so the above prices only provide stats for some of the childcare 
market 

9. Quality of childcare in our area
All childcare providers must register with and be inspected by Ofsted, who give them an 
overall grade for the quality of their provision. Childminders and private and voluntary 
providers are on the Early Years Register, and schools and standalone maintained nursery 

Page 119



schools are on the Schools Register. The grades for both registers are equivalent. Schools 
with nurseries have an overall inspection grade for the whole school and most also have a 
separate early year’s grade. Recently the framework for extended care providers has 
changed, and they now receive a grading of either met or not met.

97.5% of Wirral’s providers are judged to be Outstanding, Good or Met, this is an increase 
from the last sufficiency report. Some providers are awaiting their first inspection6

6  Providers awaiting their first inspection and those who are maintained have been removed from our calculation

When providers do not have any children on site at the time of their inspection, they are given 
an Ofsted grade of ‘met’ or ‘not met’. This shows whether they are meeting the requirements 
for Ofsted registration, and usually happens when new providers are being set up.

57

249

14 3
22

2

35

Outstanding Good Requires 
Improvement

Inadequate Met 
Requirements

Not Met 
Requirements

Awaiting 1st 
inspection

0

50

100

150

200

250

Quality of Childcare Providers

Data taken from Ofsted gradings in December 2019

Qualifications

As per the Department for Educations Statutory Framework for the Early Years Foundation 
Stage, in group settings, the manager must hold at least a full and relevant level 3 qualification 
and at least half of all other staff must hold at least a full and relevant level 2 qualification. 
Childminders must have completed training which helps them to understand and implement 
the EYFS before they can register with Ofsted or a childminder agency.

98% of Wirral’s Maintained Providers have a member of staff with a Level 6 Degree or above. 
39% of Private, Voluntary & Independent Providers have a member of staff with a Level 6 
Degree or above.

Settings with staff with a Level 6 Degree or above receive a quality supplement as part of 
their funding rate.

10. Parent Views

Page 120



A parents survey captured their views of the current childcare market, and the accessibility 
of finding childcare to meet their needs. We also asked parents about their knowledge of 
early years funding entitlements.

 Over 75% of parents were able to easily find childcare to suit their requirements, with 
75% of these agreeing there is suitable holiday provision available.

 65% of parents surveyed told us that they use informal childcare (i.e., friends and 
family).

 The majority of parents require childcare all year round, with 23% requiring childcare 
term time only. Over half of parents surveyed told us that they use Day Nurseries, with 
34% using preschools, and 13% using childminders.

 50% of parents use paid for hours, with 13% of those surveyed using 15 hours of 
funded hours, and 37% accessing 30 hours of funded hours. 

 Almost a quarter of parents sited proximity to work as being the most important factor 
when considering childcare providers, with the type of provider and type of funding 
offered being the next most important factors, followed by opening hours, flexibility, 
then proximity to home.

 25% of parents told us they are aware of the 2-year-old funding entitlement, whilst 
26% of parents are aware of the 3 and 4-year-old funding entitlement, 33% of parents 
surveyed are aware of the extended funding entitlement for 3- and 4-year old’s.

 Less than 10% of parents told us they are aware of the Early Years Pupil Premium 
(EYPP).

 Only 5% of parents surveyed said they are aware of the Disability access fund (DAF) 
and Inclusive practice fund (IPF).

Surveys were collected via Survey Monkey and via questionnaires at Wirral’s Children’s Centres.

11. Methodology

11

25

Page 121



 Population data: has been taken from the Nomis website, and is based on the 
most recent data available at the time of producing this report

 Children with EHCP’s: based on data held by our local authority
 Employment/Profession: data has been taken from the Nomis website, and is 

based on the most recent data available at the time of producing this report
 Supply of childcare providers: based on data held by our local authority and 

provided to us by Ofsted, who regulate early years provision in schools and 
childcare provision.

 Occupancy: based on responses to questionnaires returned from providers
 Vacancies: based on responses to questionnaires returned from providers
 Opening hours: based on responses to questionnaires returned from providers
 Early years funding entitlements: national data on eligibility and take up is based 

on data published by DFE at January 2019. Local data on eligibility and take up is 
based on the Early Years and School Censuses at October 2019.

 SEND: based on data held by our local authority
 Disability Access Fund: based on data held by our local authority
 Inclusive Practice Fund: based on data held by our local authority
 Prices of childcare: based on responses to questionnaires returned from providers
 Quality of childcare: data on childcare quality is provided by Ofsted
 Qualifications: based on data held by our local authority
 Parent views: based on responses to questionnaires sent to parents to complete, 

via Survey Monkey and via our Children’s Centres.

12. Further Information

Page 122



Contact Details

Family Information Service – FIS@wirral.gov.uk

                                               0151 666 3980

Applying for 2-year funding

To apply for 2-year funding please visit: 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/early-years-and-childcare/free-childcare-two-year-olds

Applying for 3 and 4-year-old funding

To apply for 3 and 4-year-old funding please visit:
https://www.childcarechoices.gov.uk/

SEND in Early Years (SEND Support, Portage, DAF, IPF)
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/early-years-and-childcare/special-educational-needs-and-
disabilities-send-early-years

Early Years Pupil Premium
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/early-years-and-childcare/early-years-pupil-premium

References

Childcare Act 2006: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/pdfs/ukpga_20060021_en.pdf

Nomis
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/

Children and Families Act 2014
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted

SEND Code of Practice 2014
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25

Ofsted
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/

Childcare Support Website
https://www.childcarechoices.gov.uk/

Statutory Framework for the Early Years Foundation Stage
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2

Page 123

mailto:FIS@wirral.gov.uk
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/early-years-and-childcare/free-childcare-two-year-olds
https://www.childcarechoices.gov.uk/
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/early-years-and-childcare/special-educational-needs-and-disabilities-send-early-years
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/early-years-and-childcare/special-educational-needs-and-disabilities-send-early-years
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/early-years-and-childcare/early-years-pupil-premium
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/pdfs/ukpga_20060021_en.pdf
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/
https://www.childcarechoices.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2


This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE

11th March 2021

REPORT TITLE: TRANSFORMING CARE THERAPEUTIC 
SHORT BREAKS CAPITAL PROPOSAL  

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND 
EDUCATION

REPORT SUMMARY

The report outlines a Transforming Care Therapeutic Short Breaks Capital proposal and 
provides context on a capital bid process which is underway with NHS England for a grant 
to be used for children and young people who are experiencing levels of crisis or difficulty 
and presenting with behaviours of concern. 

Following a successful expression of interest stage, a full project proposal has been 
submitted to NHS England seeking capital funds to: 

• Provide a facility for up to three young people who are at risk of attendance at 
Accident and Emergency, in need of assessment and treatment for mental health 
issues (Tier 4 admissions) or in need of a placement away from their normal 
residence. This would provide a short break service offering a range of interventions 
to support the young person and their carers at a time of crisis and difficulty.

• Develop an integrated ‘hub’ across the system (health, social care and education 
and the third sector) to provide a range of multi service interventions and support. 
This will include specialist clinical advice where appropriate. 

The provision will build on existing services, including the second phase of the Intensive 
Support Function in Wirral and will provide a therapeutic short break and ‘safe space’ for 
young people experiencing a high level of distress.
 
Authority is sought for the progression of the proposal from this Committee through to 
Policy and Resources Committee to approve the receipt of the Capital grant.

The proposal aims to support the strategic aims and objectives of the:

 Wirral Plan 2025 ‘Brighter Futures’ 
 Wirral’s Sufficiency Strategy
 NHS Long Term Plan in improving community services for young people with 

complex needs; and
 Transforming Care Agenda

 
The proposal also aims to meet the specific strategic objectives:

Page 125

Agenda Item 9



1. A range of specialist services will be made available to respond to children and 
young people as and when they need them;

2. All children will be matched with good quality provision that meets their needs;
3. All children will be supported so they are prepared for adulthood;
4. Most children and young people will live locally;
5. Avoidance of ‘revolving door’ Accident and Emergency attendances for self-harm 

and other presenting mental health difficulties;
6. Decrease in tier 4 admissions and subsequent prolonged stays; and
7. Decrease in costly, both in financial terms and in impact for the young person, of out 

of borough children’s home placements which sever their local connections with 
school, peers, family and support services.

The Council is looking to meet the needs of young people who require not only therapeutic 
interventions but also a facility to provide robust and timely support.

Although the facility will be based in one ward, children placed there will come from wards 
across the borough.

This is a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Children, Young People and Education Committee is requested to recommend to the 
Policy and Resources Committee:

1. the acceptance of capital grant monies of up to £700,000 from NHS England to 
enable the purchase by the Council of a property to be used for the purpose of 
providing a facility for children and young people with Learning Difficulties, Autism 
and presenting mental health difficulties along with the delivery of suitable services 
to such occupants;

2. that the Director of Law and Governance be authorised to finalise the associated 
grant agreement;

3. that delegated authority be given to the Director of Regeneration and Place, in 
consultation with the Director of Law and Governance, the Director of Children, 
Families and Education and NHS England to purchase a property at market value 
suitable for the purposes outlined within this report; and

4. that delegated authority be given to the Director of Children, Families and Education  
to procure a registered care provider for the first nine months of the facility’s 
operation.

Page 126



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The Committee is asked to consider this proposal in the context of the timeframe and 
window of opportunity that meets the requirements of the NHSE capital bid process, 
which lead to grant monies needing to be committed in the next financial year 
2021/2022. One of the conditions of the grant is that it needs to be signed over to the 
Council. To align with the NHS England approval timeframe, it is appropriate for this 
Committee to request that Policy and Resources Committee approve the capital 
grant and that an appropriate property be purchased under delegated powers of the 
Director of Regeneration and Place at market value alongside an appointed  
registered care provider.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

 2.1 The option of not bidding for the grant has been considered given pressures of 
officer time and the need to quickly form a cross agency project team during COVID 
pressures. This option is not favoured given the level of demand within Wirral for the 
proposed facility.

2.2 A full housing option appraisal has been undertaken by officers. No suitable 
options have been found.

2.3 Expressions of interest from local registered providers have been invited and fully 
explored as to any stock they had available and suitability for refurbishment. No 
suitable options were sourced due to the extent of the accommodation needed to 
meet the service needs.

3.0      BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 To give some national context to the compelling case for change as to why there is a 
need to do something different for this group of high risk and very vulnerable young
people, some of the key headlines in Anne Longfield’s outgoing speech as Children’s 
Commissioner for England ‘England’s left behind children’  demonstrate that this 
issue is not going away and has only been exacerbated by the Covid pandemic:
- 1.3 million children with significant mental health conditions
- 1,340 children have been locked up in youth custody, secure hospitals, or 

children’s hospitals 
- over the course of the pandemic the rate of clinically significant mental health 

conditions increased by 50% 

3.2 The Transforming Care agenda for children and young people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism has begun to embed the good practice within Children’s 
Services that has been seen in adults since its implementation.  This includes the 
Care and Education Treatment Review process and the introduction of a Dynamic 
Support Register to identify and support those children who are deemed by a range 
of professionals of being most at risk of a hospital admission or being 
accommodated by the Council. This has enabled the Council, alongside the Clinical 

Page 127



Commissioning Group to identify children at risk of admission to hospital or into care.  
It has also highlighted the limitations of services being able to respond to meet the 
diverse needs of a number of children. Services that could support children to remain 
at home including good quality care and support packages and positive behaviour 
interventions are not at a sufficient level or standard to be effective. Such services 
only manage to sustain or slow down behaviours for a time leading inevitably to in-
patient or residential care. This is not a good experience for children, parents/carers 
or professionals and severely disrupts planning effectively for adulthood. 

3.3 For children with learning disability, autism or mental health issues needing 
admission into care, specialist residential care is often not readily available.  This can 
be through lack of provision or because the child presenting in crisis poses too many 
risks for a provider.  This leaves a child in inappropriate settings either in hospital or 
in short term accommodation with agency support otherwise known as unregulated 
provision whilst a registered setting is sought. Children under the age of 18 requiring 
full-time care, not just support, must by law be placed in an Ofsted Registered 
setting.      

3.4     The data analysis undertaken for the bid showed that need and complexity is 
increasing.  Wirral is an outlier in mental health related hospital admission episodes 
for Children and Young People under 17 years, as displayed below.

Hospital admissions Area
155 per 100,000 Wirral
104 per 100,000 North West
88 per 100,000 England

3.5 Out of all Tier 4 admissions in the 12 month period analysed for the bid, all young 
people had diagnoses of autism. Young people experienced prolonged stays in 
hospital even when ready for discharge and a deterioration in presentation as 
environmentally, hospital was not the right place for them at that stage. Serious 
difficulties are experienced in identifying community step down placements and 
Wirral has no specialist local providers. Most importantly, young people experience 
multiple placement disruptions and poor outcomes.  

3.6     The need for support to parents cannot be underestimated and work with 
parents/carers to support their child is vital to the success of this project and in 
supporting children to remain in their local communities. Children who are placed at 
a distance from home are at risk of poorer outcomes. This is also costly option in 
terms of placement fees and related to professional travel time and other associated 
professional costs.

3.7     The main aim of the project is to provide a facility/service for children and young 
people at times of difficulty, particularly for those who are either diagnosed with 
autism and/or present with significant behaviours of concern. It is recognised that 
there is limited access to timely services which allow for a period of safety for the 
young person and which facilitates professionals in appropriately identifying the next 
steps required to support them. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Page 128



4.1 The acquisition costs of the property will be funded from the £0.7m grant monies. 
The revenue funding to operate the facility will come from the existing revenue 
budget and in addition, the Council will receive £173,000 infrastructure funding 
through Transforming Care from NHS England for two years.

4.2 This project looks to deliver financial savings as the provision can deliver efficiencies 
for the Council. The cost of providing the service based on cost modelling 
benchmarking a gold standard, outstanding rated service provision is £753,000. The 
current cost of 3 externally commissioned placements is £878,000. This is assuming 
100% occupancy which may not be possible to achieve particularly in the initial 
stages of the provision. The contribution from the NHS England Transforming Care 
of £173,000 mitigates the risk of the occupancy being below 100%. 

4.3 The proposal in this case is for a pilot period of up to nine months to allow for a 
service provider to operate whilst a full procurement process is undertaken.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1     An OFSTED and CQC dual registered service provider will be commissioned to 
deliver the care and support service and will be appointed in accordance with the 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

5.2     If the Council cannot manage and maintain the property, a registered housing 
provider will be procured in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure rules. 

5.3 There is provision for a redemption of capital grant should the property cease to be 
used for the purpose for which it has been acquired.

5.4 This matter is a Key Decision not on the Forward Plan. It is considered impracticable 
to defer consideration of this matter until 28 days’ notice has been provided on the 
Forward Plan. The Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the circumstances satisfy the 
criteria for urgency so that the decision may be taken with less than 28 days’ notice. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1     The Council would gain the asset and as part of the grant conditions will be 
able to use the property going forward flexibly to meet the needs of people with 
learning disability and autism needs.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 One risk is that the Council is unable to purchase the property and commit grant 
monies in next financial year. This will be mitigated by daily updates of the housing 
options appraisal as a live document ensuring that rapid decision making on 
properties coming onto the market can take place.

7.2 A further risk is that no specialist supplier comes forward to deliver the service and 
the asset becomes unused for its purpose, thus breaching the grant agreement. This 
risk will be mitigated by early provider engagement with specialist providers and an 
invitation to pilot a 9 month new service model prior to full tender.

Page 129



7.3     A further risk is that the location of the property causes reputational risk for the 
Council. This will be mitigated by early and ongoing engagement with relevant ward 
members and the Chair and Spokespersons for Children, Young People and 
Education Committee.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 There has been analysis of key messages from children and young people from two 
deep dive consultation reports undertaken over the past 12 months with children, 
young people, and families on Wirral: 

• ‘Why Community Matters’ Insight Report, and
• ‘The Art of the Possible’ CYP consultation feedback report 

           Key challenges emerging in these reports were support for mental health and 
support for children with additional needs. Children, young people, and families told 
us that:

‘We need services to prevent and respond to mental health crises/difficulty’
‘We need easier access to specialist/clinical services when we really need them’

 
          There were stories of wide-ranging unmet complex needs from support with anxiety 

and low mood to severe mental illness. There was a themed strong sense that 
current services do not have the capacity to support.

8.2 There has been ongoing involvement of Wirral’s Children in Care Council and Care 
Leavers Council.

8.3 The Chair and Spokespersons of the Children, Young People and Education 
Committee have been briefed on the proposal and regular progress updates have 
been presented to Corporate Parenting Board. Further regular detailed briefings will 
be provided to the Chair and Spokespersons. 

8.4      The choice of the property is sensitive for the children concerned; hence selection of 
the appropriate location will be undertaken with specialist advice from health 
colleagues based on their expertise. As the area for potential property is currently 
being scoped and no specific property has yet been identified, no neighbourhood 
engagement has been undertaken at this stage. However, consultation and detailed 
briefings will take place with ward members once a potential property has been 
identified.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The proposed purchase will be a single storey bungalow ensuring full accessibility 
with a housing specification ensuring it is environmentally appropriate for children 
and young people with learning difficulties and autism. Environmental considerations 
take into account the sensory needs of this cohort of children which can include 
noise, physical structure, colours and patterns, labelling, lighting, window coverings, 
smells, temperature and protecting against damage.  The outside area needs similar 
considerations with adequate fencing, privacy and leisure areas.  All fixtures and 
fittings will have the safeguarding of children at the heart of the design to reduce 

Page 130



risks such as ligaturing and or other forms of self-harm. An Equality Impact 
Assessment will be carried out upon purchase of a suitable property with a view to 
assessing and mitigating any equality impacts.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There is the opportunity during any refurbishment of property to ensure that a low 
carbon footprint design is undertaken.

10.2 During the procurement process, providers will be made aware of the Council’s 
ambition to be carbon neutral.

10.3 The recommendations contained in this report are expected to have a neutral effect 
on emissions and greenhouse gases.

REPORT AUTHOR: Anne-Marie Carney, Childrens Commissioning Manager 

APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS
‘Why Communities Matters’ report Capacity Lab  
‘Englands left behind Children’ Childrens Commissioner for England Anne Longfield 
February 2021 
‘The Art of the Possible’ Consultation review 2020

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
N/A

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE & EDUCATION COMMITTEE
Thursday, 11 March 2021

REPORT TITLE: CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 
QUARTER 3 (APRIL- DECEMBER 2020)

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF CHILDRENS SERVICES

REPORT SUMMARY
This report sets out the financial monitoring information for the Children, Young People & 
Education Committee. The report provides Members with an overview of budget 
performance for the area of activity which falls under the remit of the Committee. The 
financial information details the projected year-end revenue position, as reported at quarter 
3 (Apr-Dec) 2020/21. 

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Children, Young People & Education Committee are requested to note the projected 
year-end revenue forecast position of £0.433m favourable and the capital position of 
£1.89m favourable, as reported at quarter 3 (Apr-Dec) of 2020-21.

Page 133

Agenda Item 10



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of the Revenue and Capital Budgets, savings 
achievements, and Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) position enables 
decisions to be taken faster, which may produce revenue benefits and will improve 
financial control of Wirral Council.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 No other options have been considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The overall financial forecast of Children, Families and Education shows a full year 
favourable position of £0.433m. This is a significant change to the forecast position 
at quarter 2 (Adverse £2.058m). As at quarter 2, national assumptions for the 
additional demand for Children’s Social Care were noted, and Wirral’s forecast 
reflected that, however, the demand has not materialised at this high rate, and 
therefore the forecast has been reduced by £0.771m. In addition to this, the 
increased costs associated with children requiring transport, to ensure social 
distancing is maintained, has been fully funded by COVID-19 grants, which has 
reduced the core pressure previously presented by £0.976m. The remainder of the 
improved position has been through expense slippage because of delayed 
implementation of various contracts for Modernisation and Early Help and Prevention 
services, as services have been diverted to the Covid-19 response.

3.2 The service continues to manage the high placement costs but have an adverse 
forecast variance at quarter 3 of £0.6m for Looked After Children’s Placements and 
allowances. This is offset by favourable variances in Early Help and Prevention and 
Modernisation and Support of £0.384m and £0.425m due to staff being budgeted for 
higher costs and some projects and contracts being delayed due to the current 
government restrictions.  The use of £0.275m reserves to fund project and salary 
costs also contribute to the position.

3.3 It should be noted that the Children’s, Families and Education directorate also 
monitor the Schools budgets on behalf of the Council, however, these budgets are 
delegated to schools, who retain control of the expenditure. This has previously been 
reported as part of the Directorate, but as the scale of the grant (£173.96m) is 
significant on both the Non-pay and reserves position, it has been segregated from 
this reporting to improve transparency. 

TABLE 1 2020/21 Children, Families and Education – Service Budget & Forecast 

     

 Budget Forecast Variance                             
(+ Fav, - Adv) Adv/Fav

 £000 £000 £000 %  

Page 134



  
Children and Families 48,496 49,172  (676) -1% Adverse
Early Help and Prevention 11,772 11,388 384 3% Favourable
Modernisation and Support 5,032 4,606 425 8% Favourable
Schools - Core 11,545 11,520 24 0%  
  
Directorate Surplus / (Deficit) 76,844 76,686 157 0% Favourable
  
Support / Admin Building Overhead 7,238 7,238 0 0%  
Movement on Reserves 0  (275) 275 0%  
  
Total Surplus / (Deficit) 84,082 83,649 433 1% Favourable
      

3.4 Children and Families:  Adverse variance of £0.676m consisting of £0.905m 
pressure on placements particularly on residential and semi-residential placements. 
This is mainly due to new, high-cost placements and extensions of other placements 
with time limited funding and rate increases. Placement costs are closely monitored 
monthly with work ongoing to address the highest cost placements, by driving the 
costs down to a more sustainable level. This is offset by a £0.373m forecast 
favourable variance on staffing due to vacancies and to allow for staff who are not at 
the top of their pay scales.

Placements and allowances also have a contingency for a 5% increase in demand 
due to Covid-19 amounting to £0.3m (for the remaining 3 months January to March).  
Also £0.17m adverse variance on Allowances and Inter Agency Adoption fees.  The 
allowances are addressed monthly to make sure the payments are not excessive 
and are sustainable on a longer-term basis.  

3.5 Early help & Prevention: Favourable variance forecast of £0.384m. This surplus is 
mostly due to staff not at the top of their pay scales, on maternity leave and not 
paying into the pension scheme. There was also a delay in the implementation of the 
PAUSE program until November 2020. This surplus forecast would have been more 
favourable, but for demand pressures in Emergency Duty Team meaning additional 
staffing costs and Agency staff covering vacancies and other duties. A new 
Emergency Duty Team staffing model, which has the aim of reducing costs, was to 
be implemented in April 2020 but has been delayed until January 2021. 

3.6 Modernisation and Support:  The full-year favourable forecast variance of £0.425m 
is due to staff not at the top of their pay scales, maternity leave and staff not paying 
into pension scheme across the department. A saving proposal of £0.102m has been 
included within the 2021/22 budget which will reduce the staff budget accordingly.  
There are also several contracts to modernise services that will not be fully utilised 
this year due to timing delays in setting up contracts due to Covid-19 impact on the 
service.

3.7 Schools – core:  The full-year position for 2020-21 is forecast to be balanced as it is 
expected that services will be delivered within a small favourable variance on 

Page 135



Education Psychologist and Special Educational Needs (SEN) Assessment due to 
staffing vacancies. In Quarter two, it was expected that there would be increased 
costs associated with children requiring transport, to ensure social distancing is 
maintained, which has been fully funded by COVID-19 grants, which has therefore 
reduced the core pressure previously presented by £0.976m. Since quarter 2, two 
services have moved from the Resources Directorate to Schools Core, these are 
Kingsway PFI scheme and “Step Up to Social Work”. 

Page 136



TABLE 2 2020/21 Children, Families and Education – Subjective Budget & Forecast

     

 Budget Forecast Variance                             
(+ Fav, - Adv) Adv/Fav

 £000 £000 £000 %  
   
Income  (17,910)  (19,956) 2,046 11% Favourable
   
Expenditure   
Employee 39,323 38,522 801 2% Favourable
Non Pay 30,542 32,569  (2,027) -7% Adverse
Cost of Care 24,888 25,551  (663) -3% Adverse
Total Expenditure 94,754 96,642  (1,889) -2% Adverse
   
Directorate Surplus / (Deficit) 76,844 76,686 157 0% Favourable
   
Support / Admin Building Overhead 7,238 7,238 0 0%  
Movement on Reserves 0  (275) 275 0%  
   
Total Surplus / (Deficit) 84,082 83,649 433 1% Favourable
      

3.8 Income:  Favourable forecast variance of £2.046m. Children’s services have 
received grant during the year that were not included in the base budget as they 
were contingent on expenditure activity in the financial year, this favourable income 
variance is off set by the expenditure incurred and has no impact on the bottom-line 
position.  Income on Children and Families (£1.396m) is forecast to overachieve 
mainly due to holding no budget for Adoption Support Fund against in-year activity 
(£0.482m), Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children grant income (£0.194m), 
additional grant income (£0.324m), which mostly relates to Early Help and 
Prevention grants from the National Lottery, funding voluntary organisations, 
Community Coaches, additional Troubled Families projects and Holiday Activities 
and Food Programme grant. Schools core is forecast to overachieve on income 
(£0.189m) due to the receipt of additional grants in the year which were not originally 
expected.

3.9 Employees:  Favourable forecast variance of £0.801m. There are surpluses in all 
areas due to vacancies, staff not at the top of their pay scales although the budget is 
set assuming that this is the case, maternity leave and staff not paying into the 
pension scheme reducing the Council’s contribution to the pension scheme.

3.10 Non pay:  Adverse forecast variance of £2.027m. Children and Families have 
incurred expenditure for grant funded activities that is offset by grant income of 
£1.8m.  This adverse position is due in the main to the expense incurred from the 
£0.483m from Adoption Support Fund (netted off with Income) and Step up to Social 
Work £0.720m (grant funded). There is £0.324m of Non pay expenditure being 

Page 137



funded through grants reported in income and a £0.125m pressure on Inter Agency 
Adoption fees.

3.11 Cost of Care: Cost of care illustrates a forecast adverse variance of £0.663m. This 
is due to new high cost and extended existing placements, as well as allowances 
and on Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (offset by grant in income line).

3.12 Reserves: Reserves show a forecast variance of £0.275m.  A £0.203m call on 
reserves is predicted to fund a Capacity Project, encompassing a complete overhaul 
of the early help branding, language, partner engagement, communications, digital 
platforms (website and apps development), online self-assessment for early help and 
reflection tool for own early help plan. There is also an expectation that £0.071m 
from schools’ core will be required as a reserve release to meet unbudgeted pay 
costs of £0.094m, which is offset by a movement to reserves for as yet unutilised 
grant income of £0.023m.

TABLE 3 2020/21 Children, Families and Education – Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

      

 Budget Forecast Variance                             
(+ Fav, - Adv) Adv/Fav

 £000 £000 £000 %  
  
Schools Block 108,739 108,739 0 0%
Schools de-delegated 1,744 1,734 10 1% Favourable
Central School Costs 2,139 2,129 10 0% Favourable
High Needs 40,116 42,062 (1,946) -5% Adverse
Early Years 21,208 21,179 29 0%

Directorate Surplus / (Deficit) 173,946 175,843 (1,896) -1% Adverse

DSG Grant Income (174,590) (174,423) (167) 0%
Movement on DSG Reserves 644 (1,419) 2,063 320%

Total Surplus / (Deficit) 0 0 0 0%

3.13 Schools Block - expenditure is forecast to be in line with budget. Any variances 
against schools' DSG allocations are off set with the school’s own balances and not 
the general DSG reserve. Thus, financial pressures facing schools e.g., excess 
COVID costs are not reflected in the DSG financial statement but rather in the 
movement of the overall school balances. The cumulative schools reserve brought 
forward were £7.9m and it is expected that these will reduce by £0.8m to £7.1m by 
the end of the financial year.

3.14 De-delegated funds are a deduction from a school’s budget share and are held 
centrally to fund relevant services. No significant variances are expected for 2020-21

Page 138



3.15 Central Schools Costs relate to central functions carried out on behalf of 
maintained schools and academies e.g., School Admissions. No significant 
variances are expected for 2020-21.  

3.16 High Needs Block – there are significant pressures on High Needs services mainly 
due to increases in demand and complexity. The demand for Independent School 
Places is forecast to overspend by £0.9m, Top-Ups to school place funding is 
forecast to overspend by £0.6m and additional support for resourced provision is 
expected to overspend by £0.4m. 

3.17 The Early Years budget is used to provide Early Education to those 2 yrs. old and 
3/4-year-old children who are entitled to receive it free of charge. Local authorities 
have been required to maintain funding to providers at pre-COVID levels and it is 
expected that this will be reflected in the funding from Education and Skills Funding 
Agency (ESFA), although the final grant allocation will not be confirmed until summer 
2021. 

3.18 DSG income: The 2020/21 budget includes an estimate for unpaid Early Years grant 
from the previous financial year. The actual grant received was £167k less than 
expected and this has generated a shortfall of income against budget for 2020-21.

3.19 DSG reserves: When the 2020/21 budget was set it was expected that there would 
be excess funding in the High Needs Block of £0.644m and this was to be 
transferred into the cumulative DSG reserve at the end of the financial year. Net 
costs for the financial year are currently forecast to be £1.4m greater than budget 
thus the year-end reserves position will reflect a usage of the DSG reserve rather 
than a contribution to reserve. The additional costs are mainly due to pressures in 
the High Needs Block. 

3.20 The DSG reserve at the beginning of the financial year held a deficit balance of 
£1.3m and this is forecast to rise to a £2.7m cumulative deficit by the end of the 
financial year due to the £1.4m in-year forecast draw-down. In line with DfE 
requirements, Council officers are currently developing a DSG management plan 
that aims to bring expenditure back in line with funding by year 3 and to recover the 
deficit by year 5.

3.21 Capital Budget

Table 4: Capital Budget and Forecast Position

Programme Approved 
Budget

£m

Forecast

£m

Variance

£m

Variance

%
Children, 
Families & 
Education

5.5 3.61  -1.89  -34%

3.22 Table 4 provides an update on the 2020/21 capital Programme. Several variations 
have arisen since the programme was agreed in March 2020. The School Condition 
Allocation [SCA] programme has slipped due to the COVID-19 pandemic which 
resulted in the Construction Industry and Supply Chain shutting down. Construction 

Page 139



material production also ceased, and several Asset Management staff resource were 
seconded to tackle the COVID-19 issues which took priority across the Authority. 
When the Government announced a relaxing of the restrictions the Construction 
Industry and Supply Chain commenced the lack of materials produced had a knock-
on effect on the Construction industry and the programmed planned works and 
therefore, the SCA capital programme is 9 months behind programme. An 
accelerated programme is being drawn up for 2021-22 to catch up with this works 
not completed in 2020/21 and this will be added to the planned programme for 2021-
22.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This is the revenue budget monitoring report that provides information on the 
forecast outturn for the Children, Young People & Education Directorate 2020/21. 
The Council has robust methods for reporting and forecasting budgets in place and 
alongside formal Quarterly reporting to the Policy & Resources Committee, the 
financial position is routinely reported at Directorate Management Team meetings 
and corporately at the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT). In the event of any early 
warning highlighting pressures and potential overspends, the SLT take collective 
responsibility to identify solutions to resolve these to ensure a balanced budget can 
be reported at the end of the year.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the 
Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to 
the report of the chief finance (s.151) officer as to the robustness of the estimates 
made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves. This is in addition to the personal duty on the Chief Finance 
(Section 151) Officer to make a report, if it appears to them that the expenditure of 
the authority incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is 
likely to exceed the resources (including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that 
expenditure.

.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The possible failure to deliver the Revenue and Capital Budget is being mitigated 
by: 

1. Senior Leadership / Directorate Teams regularly reviewing the financial position. 
2. Availability of General Fund Balances. 
3. Review of existing services and service provision. 
4. Capitalisation directive.
5. Capital review and monitoring of the programme by the Capital and Asset Group

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

Page 140



8.1 The priorities in the Council Plan 2025 were informed by stakeholder engagement 
carried out in 2019.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision, or activity.

9.2 There are no equality implications arising specifically from this report.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Wirral Plan 2025 includes a set of goals and objectives to create a sustainable 
environment which urgently tackles the environment emergency. These are based 
on developing and delivering plans that improve the environment for Wirral residents. 
The performance report will include information on key areas where environment and 
climate related outcomes are delivered. 

10.2 No direct implications. The content and/or recommendations contained within this 
report are expected to have no impact on emissions of Greenhouse Gases.

REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Prytherch
(Senior Finance Business Partner)
telephone:  
email:  stevenprytherch@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

none

BACKGROUND PAPERS

 2020/21 Revenue Budget Monitor for Quarter Three (Apr - Dec)
 Revenue Budget 2020/21 and Medium-Term Financial Plan (2021/22 to 2024/25)

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE
THURSDAY 11 MARCH 2021

REPORT TITLE: WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE

REPORT SUMMARY

The Children, Young People and Education Committee, in co-operation with the other 
Policy and Service Committees, is responsible for proposing and delivering an annual 
committee work programme. This work programme should align with the corporate priorities 
of the Council, in particular the delivery of the key decisions which are within the remit of 
the Committee.   

It is envisaged that the work programme will be formed from a combination of key 
decisions, standing items and requested officer reports. This report provides the Committee 
with an opportunity to plan and regularly review its work across the municipal year. The 
work programme for the Children, Young People and Education Committee is attached as 
Appendix 1 to this report.

RECOMMENDATION/S

Members are invited to note and comment on the proposed Children, Young People and 
Education Committee work programme for the remainder of the 2020/21 municipal year.

Page 143

Agenda Item 11



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To ensure Members of the Children, Young People and Education Committee have 
the opportunity to contribute to the delivery of the annual work programme.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 A number of workplan formats were explored, with the current framework open to 
amendment to match the requirements of the Committee.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The work programme should align with the priorities of the Council and its partners. 
The programme will be informed by: 

            The Council Plan 
 The Council’s transformation programme 
 The Council’s Forward Plan 
            Service performance information 
 Risk management information 
 Public or service user feedback 
 Referrals from Council

Terms of Reference 
 
           The Children, Young People and Education Committee is responsible for services 

which help keep children and young people safe and fulfil their potential.  It 
incorporates schools and attainment, and social care for children and families.  It has 
a particular focus on those children who are in care, and for whom the Council has 
corporate parenting responsibility. 

           The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for:

(a) exercising management, oversight and delivery of services to children and young 
people in relation to their care, wellbeing, education or health, with the exception of 
any powers reserved to full Council; 

(b) the functions and powers conferred on or exercisable by the Council as Local 
Authority in relation to the provision of education; 

(c) working with all schools (including academies) in relation to raising standards of 
attainment and developing opportunities; 

(d) leading for the Council and its partners in the discharge the Council’s functions as 
Corporate Parent for its children in care and care leavers; 

Page 144



(e) any other functions comprised in partnership arrangements with other bodies 
connected with the delivery of services for children, young people and families; 

(f) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk management in 
relation to the Committee’s functions; 

(g) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in relation to the 
Committee’s functions, incorporating the assessment of outcomes, review of 
effectiveness and formulation of recommendations to the Council, partners and other 
bodies, which shall include any decision relating to: 

 child protection; 
 children’s centres;
 education, schools and settings;
 looked after children;
 mental health services;
 safeguarding; 
 special educational needs and disability (SEND);
 youth offending services; 
 youth services; and 
 social and education transport

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This report is for information and planning purposes only, therefore there are no 
direct financial implication arising. However, there may be financial implications 
arising as a result of work programme items.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, there may be 
legal implications arising as a result of work programme items.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no direct implications to Staffing, ICT or Assets.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Committee’s ability to undertake it’s responsibility to provide strategic direction 
to the operation of the Council, make decisions on policies, co-ordinate spend, and 
maintain a strategic overview of outcomes, performance, risk management and 
budgets may be compromised if it does not have the opportunity to plan and 
regularly review its work across the municipal year.

Page 145



8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Not applicable.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality
implications.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct environment and 
climate implications.

REPORT AUTHOR: Victoria Simpson 
                                      Senior Democratic Services Officer

victoriasimpson@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Children, Young People and Education Committee Work Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Wirral Council Constitution
Forward Plan
The Council’s Transformation Programme

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 146



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE
WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21

PROPOSED AGENDA FOR CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND EDUCATION 
COMMITTEE 
11 March 2021

Item Key 
Decision 
Yes/No

Lead 
Departmental 
Officer

Protecting Vulnerable 
Adolescents

Yes Anthony Kirk

Pupil Place Planning 
Strategy 2021 – 2026

Yes Carly Brown/ 
Hannah Myers

Sufficiency report covid 
and early years

Elizabeth

Financial Monitoring 
Report – Quarter 3

No Steve Prytherch

Work Programme No Victoria 
Simpson

 

Item Key 
Decision

Approximate 
timescale 

Lead 
Departmental 
Officer  

Wirral Plan Priority

Protecting 
Vulnerable 
Adolescents

Yes March 2021 Tony Kirk ‘Brighter Futures’

School Places 
Review

Yes March 2021 Carly Brown ‘Brighter Futures’

‘Cradle to 
Career’ Project 
Update

No Written 
update to 
committee

Elizabeth 
Hartley

‘Brighter Futures’

Summary of 
Standards

No Next 
municipal 
year

TBC

Page 147



Edsential 
progress 
report

No Next 
municipal 
year

Simon White

Woodchurch 
Road Report – 
referral from 
Audit and Risk 
Management 
(EXEMPT)

No (workshop)

ADDITIONAL AGENDA ITEMS – WAITING TO BE SCHEDULED 

Item Approximate timescale Lead Departmental 
Officer  

Care Plan Scrutiny Review 
Update

TBC Simone White

Missing from Care TBC Simone White

Care Leavers Update TBC Simone White

Advocacy Service TBC Paul Boyce

Healthy Weight TBC Paul Boyce

Child Poverty Strategy TBC Paul Boyce
As of September 2020
Update on LAC 
placements

TBC Simone White

Learning from Covid and 
targeting resources with 
regards to social 
inequalities

TBC Paul Boyce

Integrated Front Door 
workshop

TBC Paul Boyce

SEND – update on 
progress ( action from 
meeting 28/1/21)

June/ July 2021 Hannah Myers

STANDING ITEMS AND MONITORING REPORTS  
Item Reporting Frequency  Lead Departmental 

Officer  
Performance and Financial 
Monitoring Report

TBC Shaer Halewood/Carly 
Brown

Page 148



Childrens Committee Work 
Programme Update

TBC Committee Team

Summary of Standards Twice Annually Sue Talbot
Safeguarding Partnership 
Annual Report

Annually David Robbins

Public Questions Each Meeting

Safeguarding Fostering 
and Adoption

Annually ( first meeting of 
the municipal year)

WORK PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE COMMITTEE 
Item Format Timescale Lead Officer  Progress 
Working Groups/ Sub Committees

Corporate Parenting Panel TBC TBC TBC TBC
Working Group: Food and 
Activities during school 
holidays
Workshop – Statutory 
Duties 
Task and Finish Reviews
- - -- -
Spotlight Sessions and Workshops
County Lines Action 
Update

Workshop 2020/21 Paul 
Boyce/Tony 
Kirk

Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND EDUCATION COMMITTEE
11 MARCH 2021

REPORT TITLE: APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE 
INDEPENDENT SCHOOL APPEAL PANEL 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE

REPORT SUMMARY

The report outlines the statutory requirement to appoint members to sit on both the 
Independent Appeal Panel and Independent Review Panel. In anticipation of upcoming 
Admission Appeals for entry to Wirral schools in September 2021, a recruitment process 
has taken place to increase the pool of available Panel Members. Therefore the report 
seeks the Children, Young People and Education Committee’s approval of the appointment 
of additional members to the Independent Appeal Panel and Independent Review Panel 
(where eligible). 

The names of the proposed Panel Members to be appointed to the Independent Appeal 
Panel and Independent Review Panel are as follows: 

Mr Peter Mawdsley
Mr Colin Harwood
Mrs Ruth Winterton
Mr Matthew Lloyd Evans
Mr David Buckley
Mrs Paula Dixon
Mr Phil Sheridan
Mrs Lynn Ireland

RECOMMENDATION
he Children, Young People and Education Committee is recommended to agree the 
appointment of the following members to the Independent Appeal Panel and Independent 
Review Panel:

 Mr Peter Mawdsley
 Mr Colin Harwood; 
 Mrs Ruth Winterton; 
 Mr Matthew Lloyd Evans; 
 Mr David Buckley; 
 Mrs Paula Dixon; 
 Mr Phil Sheridan ; and
 Mrs Lynn Ireland.

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 As the relevant admission authority, the Council has a requirement to appoint an 
Independent Appeal Panel and Independent Review Panels as specified under the 
School Admission Appeals Code 

1.2 In order to consider the significant number of anticipated admission appeals within 
the statutory timeframe as set out in the School Admission Appeals Code 2012, a 
wide pool of Independent Appeals Panel Members is required.

2.0     OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 An option considered was to not recruit additional panel Members at this time, 
however, there is a need for the pool of Members to be expanded to meet demands 
of the service and to limit deficiencies. 

3.0     BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Making arrangements for appeals against the refusal of a school place rests with the 
admission authority of the school. For Community schools in Wirral, the Local 
Education Authority is the admission authority and for the majority of Academy 
Schools. 

3.2 The admission authority and appeal panel must act in accordance with the School 
Admission Appeals Code, the School Admissions (Appeal Arrangements) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the School Admissions Code, other law relating to admissions, 
and relevant human rights and equalities legislation, for example, the Equality Act 
2010. Appeal panels perform a judicial function and must be transparent, 
accessible, independent and impartial, and operate according to principles of natural 
justice.

3.3 Paragraph 1.5 of the School Admissions (Appeal Arrangements) (England) 
Regulations 2012, states that the admission authority, or the clerk acting on 
behalf of the admission authority, must appoint an independent appeal panel that 
is comprised of a chair and at least two other panel members. A panel must 
consist of the following persons with at least one from each category: a) lay 
people (someone without personal experience in the management of any school 
or provision of education in any school (except as a school governor or in another 
voluntary capacity); b) people who have experience in education, who are 
acquainted with educational conditions in the local authority area, or who are 
parents of registered pupils at school. 

3.4 A recruitment exercise was undertaken whereby an advertisement was placed on 
the Council’s website and Wirral View publication seeking applicants. Those 
applicants who met the criteria were then interviewed. Successful applicants have 

Page 152



undertaken training that is essential to their role and will be continually supported 
by officers within Democratic Services. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1     Panel Members are not remunerated but are entitled to claim reasonable expenses. 
As meetings are held virtually, currently a reasonable expense is provided to 
Members of to cover refreshments, stationary and printing costs. When appeals 
cease to be heard virtually, reasonable expenses can be covered for travel and 
refreshments are provided. Democratic Services charge Academy Schools to deliver 
the service and revenue income covers the expense related to this.. Revenue has 
increased in recent years as some Academy schools in Liverpool have opted to use 
Wirral’s service. 

5.0     LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1     It is a legal requirement for the admission authority to appoint a Panel of Independent 
Members to consider school appeals. 

5.2 Decisions made by an Independent School Appeal Panel are subject to review by 
the Education Funding Agency (for Academies) or the Local Government 
Ombudsman (for Community Schools).

6.0     RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1     There is sufficient staffing resources at present within Democratic Services to 
cover the demand, however, this is often reviewed in line with any increased 
demand.  Panel Members are required to use their own ICT equipment to 
participate in appeals via Microsoft Teams. 

7.0      RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 To not appoint regularly to the Independent School Appeal Panel could create 
deficiencies within the pool of Members and prevent the admission authority from 
being able to consider all appeals within the mandatory timeframe.

8.0    ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 No direct engagement/ consultation has been undertaken. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 We will consider our obligations to provide reasonable adjustments to any Panel 
member upon request and we recognise that this is an ongoing duty under the 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty 

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 At present School Appeal Panel Members are required to work from home and 
therefore no travel is required. Furthermore, Members are encouraged to use ICT 

Page 153



equipment to read documentation, thus saving on printing.

10.2 Where possible members are recruited on a local basis to reduce unnecessary travel 
in the future when appeals resume in person.

REPORT AUTHOR:
Victoria Simpson
Senior Democratic Services Officer
victoriasimpson@wirral.gov.uk

Appendices
ENC 1 – Summary of applicants experience ( EXEMPT) 

BACKGROUND PAPERS – 

 Application forms (exempt) 
 Advertisement
 School Admission Appeals Code 2012
 Exclusion from maintained schools, academies and pupil referral units in England 

Statutory guidance for those with legal responsibilities in relation to exclusion, 
September 2017.

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 154



Document is Restricted

Page 155

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 WSCP SAFER ADOLESCENCE STRATEGY
	WSCP Safer Adolescence Strategy 2021 2023

	7 Wirral Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021-2026
	Enc. 1 for Wirral Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021-2026
	77_WirralPupilPlacePlanningStrategy2021-26_Cover
	Enc. 1 for Wirral Pupil Place Planning Strategy 2021-2026


	8 EARLY YEARS SUFFICIENCY AND COVID19 RESPONSE
	Enc 1 - Assessment

	9 Transforming Care Therapeutic Short Breaks
	10 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING QUARTER 3
	11 Work Programme
	Work Programme for 11 March

	12 APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE INDEPENDENT SCHOOL APPEAL PANEL
	Enc. 1 for APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE INDEPENDENT SCHOOL APPEAL PANEL




